
From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Johnson, Christine (CPC); Richards, Dennis (CPC); Koppel, Joel (CPC); Moore, Kathrin (CPC); Melgar, Myrna

(CPC); Rich Hillis; Rodney Fong
Cc: Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: For inclusion in Commission Packet, and in record re: 744 Harrison
Date: Friday, January 12, 2018 9:11:02 AM
Attachments: 744 Harrison Local 2 Letter of Support.docx

 
 
Jonas P. Ionin,
Director of Commission Affairs
 
Planning Department¦City & County of San Francisco
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400, San Francisco, CA 94103
Direct: 415-558-6309¦Fax: 415-558-6409
 
jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
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From: Cynthia Gomez [mailto:cgomez@unitehere2.org] 
Sent: Thursday, January 11, 2018 11:54 AM
To: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
Cc: Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC)
Subject: For inclusion in Commission Packet, and in record re: 744 Harrison
 

 
--
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Research Analyst
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415.864.8770, ext. 763

mailto:jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
mailto:christine.d.johnson@sfgov.org
mailto:dennis.richards@sfgov.org
mailto:Joel.Koppel@sfgov.org
mailto:kathrin.moore@sfgov.org
mailto:Myrna.Melgar@sfgov.org
mailto:Myrna.Melgar@sfgov.org
mailto:richhillissf@gmail.com
mailto:planning@rodneyfong.com
mailto:Chanbory.Son@sfgov.org
mailto:jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
http://www.sfplanning.org/
mailto:cgomez@unitehere2.org
tel:415.864.8770

[bookmark: _GoBack]Jonas Ionin

Commission Secretary

San Francisco Planning Department

1650 Mission Street

San Francisco, California

VIA EMAIL

Dear Members of the Planning Commission,

This letter is in support of the proposed project at 744 Harrison. As a union representing hospitality employees, it is our utmost concern that new jobs created in this industry will serve to lift up the community by providing leading wages and working conditions for the hardworking men and women who work in our city’s hotels. 

Hotel developers have historically supported the creation of good quality jobs by agreeing to remain neutral and present no encumbrances to efforts by their employees to form a union. These agreements represent a double win for our community – they ensure that jobs created are good quality jobs, and they also guarantee that hotel developments are free from costly labor disputes. 

The Central SOMA area is poised for a boom in development, including but not limited to hotel developments. The developer of this project, Leon Lee, has worked with our union to sign such an agreement, and as such is setting an example for the developers of future hotels in the Central SOMA area and the city as a whole. For this reason, we are pleased to support this project. 

Please feel free to contact me if you have further questions.

Best,



Cynthia Gómez

Research Analyst

UNITE HERE, Local 2







cc: Esmeralda Jardines, Planning Department Staff



From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Johnson, Christine (CPC); Richards, Dennis (CPC); Koppel, Joel (CPC); Moore, Kathrin (CPC); Melgar, Myrna

(CPC); Rich Hillis; Rodney Fong; Aaron Jon Hyland - HPC; Andrew Wolfram (andrew@tefarch.com); Diane
Matsuda; Ellen Johnck - HPC; Jonathan Pearlman; Richard S. E. Johns

Cc: Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: *** PRESS RELEASE *** ACTING MAYOR BREED AND THE DEPARTMENT OF HOMELESSNESS AND

SUPPORTIVE HOUSING ANNOUNCE $41.4 MILLION IN FEDERAL GRANTS TO ADDRESS HOMELESSNESS
Date: Friday, January 12, 2018 9:08:19 AM
Attachments: 1.11.18 Homelessness Federal Grants.pdf

 
 
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
www.sfplanning.org
 
From: MayorsPressOffice, MYR (MYR) 
Sent: Thursday, January 11, 2018 1:19 PM
To: MayorsPressOffice, MYR (MYR)
Subject: *** PRESS RELEASE *** ACTING MAYOR BREED AND THE DEPARTMENT OF HOMELESSNESS
AND SUPPORTIVE HOUSING ANNOUNCE $41.4 MILLION IN FEDERAL GRANTS TO ADDRESS
HOMELESSNESS
 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE:
Thursday, January 11, 2018
Contact: Mayor’s Office of Communications, 415-554-6131
 

*** PRESS RELEASE ***
ACTING MAYOR BREED AND THE DEPARTMENT OF

HOMELESSNESS AND SUPPORTIVE HOUSING ANNOUNCE
$41.4 MILLION IN FEDERAL GRANTS TO ADDRESS

HOMELESSNESS
Funding allocation represents 29 percent increase from last year’s total

 
San Francisco, CA— Acting Mayor London Breed and the Department of Homelessness and
Supportive Housing today announced the City will receive $41.4 million in federal grants to
support homelessness initiatives in San Francisco.
“Across our nation, cities are struggling with the crisis of homelessness,” said Acting Mayor
Breed. “If we are to solve this complex issue, we can’t do it alone. We need a sustained
commitment from all levels of government. This federal funding will help us expand on
solutions proven to be effective, such as creating more permanent supportive housing units
and strengthening our rapid rehousing programs.”
The funding is being awarded as part of the Continuum of Care (CoC) program supported by
the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). The $41.4 million
allocated to San Francisco represents a 29 percent increase from last year’s $32.2 million total.
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


solutions proven to be effective, such as creating more permanent supportive housing units and 


strengthening our rapid rehousing programs.” 


The funding is being awarded as part of the Continuum of Care (CoC) program supported by the 


United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). The $41.4 million 


allocated to San Francisco represents a 29 percent increase from last year’s $32.2 million total.  


 


“HUD’s Continuum of Care funding provides vital resources to a wide range of programs and 


projects that are effective in the fight to end homelessness in our community,” said Jeff Kositsky, 


Director of the Department of Homelessness and Supportive Housing.  “This year’s record 


funding level recognizes the great work that our City and nonprofit partners are engaged in and a 


welcome investment in our work to make significant and sustained reductions in homelessness 


over the next five years.”  


 


The HUD Continuum of Care grant will support 57 initiatives in San Francisco, with the funds 


primarily going toward permanent supportive housing and rapid rehousing efforts. The grant will 


support three expansion projects in San Francisco, funding a total of 31 new permanent 


supportive housing units to sites in the Tenderloin, SoMa District and Mission Bay 


neighborhoods.  
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Additionally, one transitional housing project will be funded, along with the City’s Coordinated 


Entry efforts and three Homeless Management Information System projects. The award also 


includes a non-renewable $944,592 planning grant.      


 


This year’s CoC funding is the highest amount San Francisco has ever received. The City has 


seen a 105 percent increase in HUD CoC funding since 2011, when San Francisco received 


$20.1 million in grant funds.   


 


“I would like to recognize the hard work of the City for its creative projects to address the plight 


of those San Francisco residents who endure the worst of times on our streets and in our 


shelters,” said Del Seymour, co-chair Local Homeless Coordinating Board. “The recent awards 


in our CoC funding is a testament to the caliber of work that our local service providers play in 


this effort to provide superior management of the needy.” 


 


The CoC program is designed to promote communitywide commitment to ending homelessness 


by providing funding for efforts by nonprofit providers and state and local governments to 


quickly rehouse individuals and families experiencing homelessness. 


 


“HUD is committed to ending homelessness in California,” said Regional Administrator Jimmy 


Stracner. “On this issue, partnership trumps partisanship. Homelessness is a national problem 


with local solutions and HUD is partnering to fund 57 housing and services programs in San 


Francisco. These interventions are critical to getting to results on an issue that affects any and 


every community.” 


 


### 


 







“HUD’s Continuum of Care funding provides vital resources to a wide range of programs and
projects that are effective in the fight to end homelessness in our community,” said Jeff
Kositsky, Director of the Department of Homelessness and Supportive Housing.  “This year’s
record funding level recognizes the great work that our City and nonprofit partners are
engaged in and a welcome investment in our work to make significant and sustained
reductions in homelessness over the next five years.”
 
The HUD Continuum of Care grant will support 57 initiatives in San Francisco, with the funds
primarily going toward permanent supportive housing and rapid rehousing efforts. The grant
will support three expansion projects in San Francisco, funding a total of 31 new permanent
supportive housing units to sites in the Tenderloin, SoMa District and Mission Bay
neighborhoods.
 
Additionally, one transitional housing project will be funded, along with the City’s
Coordinated Entry efforts and three Homeless Management Information System projects. The
award also includes a non-renewable $944,592 planning grant.    
 
This year’s CoC funding is the highest amount San Francisco has ever received. The City has
seen a 105 percent increase in HUD CoC funding since 2011, when San Francisco received
$20.1 million in grant funds. 
 
“I would like to recognize the hard work of the City for its creative projects to address the
plight of those San Francisco residents who endure the worst of times on our streets and in our
shelters,” said Del Seymour, co-chair Local Homeless Coordinating Board. “The recent
awards in our CoC funding is a testament to the caliber of work that our local service
providers play in this effort to provide superior management of the needy.”
 
The CoC program is designed to promote communitywide commitment to ending
homelessness by providing funding for efforts by nonprofit providers and state and local
governments to quickly rehouse individuals and families experiencing homelessness.
 
“HUD is committed to ending homelessness in California,” said Regional Administrator
Jimmy Stracner. “On this issue, partnership trumps partisanship. Homelessness is a national
problem with local solutions and HUD is partnering to fund 57 housing and services programs
in San Francisco. These interventions are critical to getting to results on an issue that affects
any and every community.”
 

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
Subject: FW: Commission Update for Week of January 15, 2018
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 9:29:14 AM
Attachments: Commission Weekly Update 1.15.18.doc

 
 
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
 
From: Tsang, Francis 
Sent: Monday, January 15, 2018 8:59 AM
To: Tsang, Francis
Subject: Commission Update for Week of January 15, 2018
 
Good morning, colleagues.
 
Please find a memo attached that outlines items before commissions and boards for this week.
Let me know if you have any questions or concerns. 
 
Francis

Francis Tsang
Deputy Chief of Staff
Office of the Mayor
City and County of San Francisco
415.554.6467 | francis.tsang@sfgov.org
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To: 

Mayor’s Senior Staff

From: 

Francis Tsang

Date: 

January 15, 2018

Re: 

Commission Update for the Week of January 15, 2018

This memorandum summarizes and highlights agenda items before commissions and boards for the week of January 15, 2018. 

Airport (Tuesday, January 16, 9AM)

Action Items

· Modification No. 4 to Contract No. 9254 Airport Shuttle Bus Services - SFO Hotel Shuttle, Inc. - $28,300,000

· Approval of Lease Amendments to Extend the Term for Facilities in Terminal 1 Interim Boarding Area B - Two (2) Resolutions approving (1) Amendment No. 2 to the Domestic Food & Beverage Program Lease No. 03-0184 with Bay Area Restaurant Group, J.V. (Max’s Eatz and Fresh Bakery); and (2) Amendment No. 1 to the Domestic Terminal Food and Beverage Program Lease No. 03-0196 with Lady Luck, LLC (Go Bistro) to extend the term for facilities in Terminal 1 Interim Boarding Area B, and directing the Commission Secretary to forward amendments to the Board of Supervisors for approval.


· Approval of Phase C6 of Contract No. 10504.66 Design-Build Services for the AirTrain Extension and Improvements Program - Skanska Constructors - $6,077,609

· Approval of Phase C3 to Contract No. 10511.76 Design-Build Services for the Airport Security Infrastructure Program - Hunt Construction Group, Inc. - $5,997,874

· Award of Contract No. 11001.66 Design-Build Services for the Wayfinding Enhancement Program - Fisher Development, Inc. - $7,300,000

· Determination to Proceed with the Materials Testing Facility Project and Authorization to Call for Bids for Contract No. 11117.61 Construction Services for the Materials Testing Lab Project

· Commencement of the Request for Proposals Process and Authorization to Accept Proposals for the Airport Concierge Service Lease

· Modification No. 3 to Contract No. 9344 Hotel Development Consulting Services - Jones Lang LaSalle Americas, Inc. - $50,000

· Reject all Bids for Contract No. 11144.61 Construction Services for the Central Garage Tunnel Doors Project, and Authorize the Director to Call for Bids for Contract No. 11144.76, Construction Services for the Central Garage Tunnel Doors Project

· Approval of the Revised Minimum Qualification Requirements and Authorization to Accept Proposals for the Terminal 3 Pop-Up Retail Concession Program

· Commence the Request for Proposals Process for the Airport Automated Retail Lease Determination to Proceed with the Modified Project and Approval of Phase C1 to Contract No. 9322.66 Design-Build Services for the Renovation of Cargo Buildings 900 and 944 Project - XL Construction - Time extension

· Approval of a 2011 Lease and Use Agreement with Hong Kong Airlines Limited - Resolution approving a 2011 Lease and Use Agreement with Hong Kong Airlines Limited at San Francisco International Airport, and directing the Commission Secretary to forward the Lease to the Board of Supervisors for approval.

· Approval of Amendment No. 1 to Lease TC-I-02-2801 with U.S. Customs and Border Protection at Building 648 - Resolution approving Lease Amendment No. 1 to Facility Lease No. TC-I-02-2801 with U.S. Customs and Border Protection to extend the term of the lease for an additional ten years, adjust the annual rent, and direct the Commission Secretary to request approval of Amendment No. 1 by the Board of Supervisors


Community Investment & Infrastructure (Tuesday, January 16, 230PM)

Discussion Only


· Workshop on the Recognized Obligation Payment Schedule for July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 (ROPS 18-19)

· 50 Jerrold and 555 Innes Avenue (Hunters Point Shipyard Blocks 53 and 54) Marketing Outcomes Project Report; sixteen inclusionary below market rate units affordable at 80% Area Median Income; Hunters Point Shipyard Project Area

· 848 Fairfax Avenue (Hunters View Phase IIA) Marketing Outcomes Project Report, 107-unit multifamily HOPE SF development, of which 26 are new affordable rental housing units and the remaining 80 are public housing replacement units, and all units affordable at 45% Area Median Income; Bayview Hunters Point

Action Items

· Election of Chair and Vice Chair

Entertainment (Tuesday, January 16, 530PM)

Action Items

· Hearing and Possible Action regarding applications for permits under the jurisdiction of the Entertainment Commission.

Consent Agenda:


· EC-1427 – Gonzalez Sanchez, Jose Antonio, Venice Pizza and Restaurant, 5228 Mission St., Limited Live Performance Permit.


· EC-1429 – Massey, Erin, Hockey Haven, 3625 Balboa St., Billiard Parlor Permit.


Regular Agenda:


· EC-1428 – Choy, Timmy and Jeff Ng, Pandora Karaoke, 50 Mason St., Place of Entertainment Permit.


· EC-1426 – Mak, Danny, and Yan Wai Chan, Underground Grill Kings, 2543 Noriega St., Place of Entertainment.


· Discussion and Possible Action to adopt written comments and/or recommendations to be submitted by the Acting Director to the Planning Department and/or Department of Building Inspection regarding noise issues for proposed residential projects per Chapter 116 of the of the Administrative Code.

Regular Agenda:


· 1525 Pine Street, Bl/Lot: 0667/020, Discussion and possible action to adopt written comments and/or recommendations regarding noise issues for the proposed hotel/motel project at 1525 Pine Street, which is located within 300 feet of Playland and Holiday Inn, permitted Places of Entertainment.


· Review and possible action to change the conditions on the Place of Entertainment permit #EC-953 Place of Entertainment permit, dba Hue located at 447 Broadway, San Francisco, CA.  94133 at the request of permittee.

Health (Tuesday, January 16, 4PM)


Discussion Only


· SAN FRANCSICO HEALTH NETWORK UPDATE

· SFDPH SECURITY UPDATE - UPDATE ON THE SFDPH SECURITY PROGRAM AND AN ASSESSMENT OF THE 2016-17 SECURITY MANAGEMENT PLAN.


Board of Appeals (Wednesday, January 17, 5PM)

Action Items

· APPEAL - ABDULBASIT AL-HUBUISHY DBA “UPTOWN MARKET” vs. DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH, Re: 684 Larkin Street. Appealing the REVOCATION on September 28, 2017, of a Permit to Operate a Food Facility.

· APPEAL - STEPHEN WILLIAMS vs. SAN FRANCISCO PUBLIC WORKS BUREAU OF URBAN FORESTRY, Re: 2557 Sutter Street, 2400 Post Street & 1400 Baker Street. Appealing the ISSUANCE on October 25, 2017, to Westside Courts Housing Partners, L.P., of a Public Works Order (approval of request to remove and replace five Significant trees; one tree is at 2557 Sutter Street, two trees are at 2400 Post Street, and two trees are at 1400 Baker).

· APPEAL - TODD ESKER vs. DEPT. OF BUILDING INSPECTION, PLANNING DEPT. APPROVAL, Re: 21 Rosemont Place. Protesting the ISSUANCE on September 08, 2017, to Rosemont Place LLC, of an Alteration Permit (revision to BPA No. 2017/02/13/9269; alter exterior windows and siding; remove second staircase).


Note: on December 6, 2017, the Board voted 4-0-1 (Commissioner Wilson absent) to reschedule this matter to December 13, 2017 at the request of the parties. On December 13, 2017, the Board voted 5-0 to reschedule this matter to January 10, 2018 at the request of the parties. On January 10, 2018, the Board voted 5-0 to reschedule this matter to January 17, 2017 at the request of the parties.

· APPEAL - JENNIFER MCALISTER & JERRY BONAFAIR vs. DEPT. OF BUILDING INSPECTION, Re: 2119 22nd Street. Protesting the ISSUANCE on November 15, 2017, to Brynn DeLorimier, of an Alteration Permit (comply with NOV No. 201773982; replace west property line retaining wall via temporary cribbing shoring system; new basement foundation).

· APPEAL - STANLEY DEBELLA vs. DEPT. OF BUILDING INSPECTION, PLANNING DEPT. APPROVAL, Re: 2616 24th Avenue. Protesting the ISSUANCE on October 26, 2017, to Zhou Xin Wei, of a Site Permit (new two-story horizontal rear addition; two new bedrooms, family room and two bathrooms at the first floor; two new master bedrooms and bathrooms at the second floor).

· APPEAL - SCOTT MACFIGGEN, REGINA BUSTAMANTE, STEFAN OFFERMANN & CRESTON MARVIN vs. DEPT. OF BUILDING INSPECTION, PLANNING DEPT. APPROVAL, Re: 844 Duncan Street. Protesting the ISSUANCE on October 30, 2017, to Chethan Prabhu & Prasuna Paluru, of an Alteration Permit (modify approved Building Permit No. 2015/10/02/8711 with changes to A2.1: add wine cellar, widen existing entry door and sidelites at first floor; A2.2: move existing fireplace, increase window size in bedrooms 2 and 3, add 10" deep picture balcony; A2.3: relocate master bath, add new bathroom, take out existing roof in front, extend deck to part of demolished roof).

· APPEAL - ANNE MCATEER & MARGARET RUXTON vs. DEPT. OF BUILDING INSPECTION, PLANNING DEPT. APPROVAL, Re: 2941-2943 Broderick Street. Protesting the ISSUANCE on October 25, 2017, to Leyli & Reza Ansari, of a Site Permit (horizontal addition at floors one, two and three; new deck at fourth floor; remove exterior back stair; install new exterior stair; new ground floor bathroom; mechanical, electrical and sprinkler under separate permit).


Building Inspection (Wednesday, January 17, 9AM)

Discussion Only


· Update on tall building process review.

· DBI Inspection Staff update and discussion of 49 Hopkins, 841 Chestnut/950 Lombard, and 25-17th Avenue – subjects of January 7, 2018 SF Chronicle newspaper story.

· Discussion on Accela permit and project tracking system.


Action Items

· Discussion and possible action regarding a proposed ordinance (Board of Supervisors File No. 171285) amending the Housing Code to require that single-stall bathroom facilities in hotels be made available for the use of all residents, regardless of gender or identity, and to require that signage be posted to indicate the same, in addition to other requirements.

Elections (Wednesday, January 17, 6PM)

Action Items

· Open Source Voting - Discussion and possible action regarding the City and County of San Francisco's open source voting system project.


· 2015-16 Civil Grand Jury Report - Discussion and possible action regarding the Elections Commission's response to recommendation R:V.3 of the 2015-16 Civil Grand Jury Report, "Maintenance Budgeting and Accounting Challenges for General Fund Departments."


· 2016 Commission Annual Report - Discussion and possible action regarding the Commission's 2016 Annual Report.


· Election of Commission Executive Officers - Discussion and possible action to elect a Commission President and Vice President, per Article V of the Commission Bylaws. Per the Bylaws, the terms shall begin immediately at the conclusion of the meeting.

Historic Preservation (Wednesday, January 17, 1230PM)

Discussion Only


· FY 2018-2020 PROPOSED DEPARTMENT BUDGET and WORK PROGRAM – An Informational Presentation of the Department's proposed revenue and expenditure budget in FY 2018-2019 and FY2019-2020, including grants, capital budget requests, and staffing changes; high-level work program activities for the department in FY 2017-2018 and FY2018-2019; and proposed dates where budget items will be discussed during the budget process.

· PIER 70 MIXED-USE PROJECT – east side of Illinois Streets between 20th and 22nd Streets – Assessor’s Block 4052 Lot 001 (partial), Block 4111 Lot 004 (partial), Block 4110 Lots 001 and 008A, and Block 4120 Lot 002 (District 10) – Informational Presentation on Phase 1 Submittal of the Pier 70 Mixed-Use Project. On December 15, 2017, the Board of Supervisors approved the Disposition and Development Agreement (DDA) associated with the Pier 70 Mixed-Use Project. The Pier 70 Mixed-Use Project includes new construction of market-rate and affordable residential uses, commercial use, retail, arts, and light industrial uses, parking, shoreline improvements, infrastructure development and street improvements, and public open space. The Pier 70 Mixed-Use Project is located within the Union Iron Works Historic District, which is listed in the National Register of Historic Places.


· ALCATRAZ EMBARKATION SITE AT PIERS 31-33 – Informational Presentation from the Port of San Francisco and the National Park Service on a proposal for site improvements to establish ferry excursion facilities to service Alcatraz Island within portions of Piers 31 – 33 and the bulkhead wharf, contributing resources within the Embarcadero Historic District. Site improvements include but are not limited to expansion of berthing facilities, a visitor contact station, café and site furnishings. 


· LANDMARK DESIGNATION WORK PROGRAM AND DRAFT CULTURAL HERITAGE WORK PROGRAM QUARTERLY REPORTS – Discussion of the HPC's Landmark Designation Work Program and the draft Cultural Heritage Work Program. 


Action Items

· Election of Officers: In accordance with the Rules and Regulations of the San Francisco Historic Preservation Commission, the President and Vice President of the Commission shall be elected at the first Regular Meeting of the Historic Preservation Commission held after the first day of January each year; or at a subsequent Meeting, the date of which is fixed by the Historic Preservation Commission at the first Regular Meeting after the First day of January each year or at a subsequent meeting

· 546-554 FILLMORE, 735 FELL STREET, 660 OAK STREET – east side of Fillmore Street, north side of Oak Street, south side of Fell Street, Assessor’s Blocks/Lots 0828/021, 0828/022, 0828/022A and 0828/012 (District 5). Consideration of Landmark Designation for the former Sacred Heart Church Complex which includes the former rectory, church, school and convent buildings pursuant to Article 10, Section 1004(c) of the Planning Code. Sacred Heart Parish Complex is significant for its association with the growth and development of the Western Addition and Catholic religious institutions in San Francisco in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries; with prominent and influential civil rights activist Father Eugene Boyle, pastor of the church from 1968 to 1972; as a distinctive and well‐executed example of a Romanesque Revival‐style Catholic parish grouping and for its association with master architect Thomas J. Welsh. 546-548 Fillmore Street is located in a RM-3 Residential-Mixed, Medium Density Zoning District and 40-X Height and Bulk District; 554 Fillmore Street is located in a RM-1 Residential-Mixed, Low Density Zoning District and 40-X Height and Bulk District; 735 Fell Street is located in a RM-3 Residential-Mixed, Medium Density Zoning District and 40-X Height and Bulk District; and 660 Oak Street is located in a RM-1 Residential-Mixed, Low Density Zoning District and 40-X Height and Bulk District. Preliminary Recommendation: Approve

· 3639 20TH STREET – located on the south side of 20th Street, Assessor’s Block 3608, Lot 068 (District 8). Request for a Certificate of Appropriateness for the removal of a portion of the roof at the rear of the building, to accommodate the construction of a roof deck. The proposed project also includes the in-kind replacement of the historic window sashes and the non-historic garage door and secondary entrance door at the 20th Street façade; modifications to existing window and door openings at the side and rear elevations; removal of select existing skylights and the installation of new skylights; the removal of a non-historic rear deck; modifications to the rear yard; and related interior alterations. The subject property is located within the Article 10 Liberty-Hill Landmark District, and is located within a RH-3 (Residential-House, Three Family) Zoning District and 40-X Height and Bulk Limit. Preliminary Recommendation: Approve with Conditions

· 1 TELEGRAPH HILL BOULEVARD – south side of Telegraph Hill Blvd. within Pioneer Park, Assessor’s Block/Lot 0086/012, (District 3). – Request for Review and Comment on amendment of the nomination of Coit Memorial Tower to the National Register of Historic Places. This nomination amends the 2008 National Register nomination in order to document Coit Memorial Tower at the national level of significance under National Register Criterion C in the area of art, and under Criteria Consideration F, Commemorative Properties. Coit Memorial Tower is associated with the extraordinary permanent exhibition of federally funded art created through the Public Works of Art Project (PWAP). The fresco, entitled Aspects of Life in California, 1934 is the single largest PWAP project in the country and possesses exceptional value in interpreting the themes of the Great Depression and New Deal idealism. Financed by and named in honor of Lillie Hitchcock Coit, Coit Memorial Tower is exceptionally significant apart from the value of the person memorialized by the monument. 1 Telegraph Hill Blvd. is located in a P-Public Zoning district and OS (Open Space) Height and Bulk district. Preliminary Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution in support of amending the National Register of Historic Places nomination.

· 3543 18TH STREET – south side of 18th Street at Lapidge Street, Assessor’s Block 3588, Lot 082 (District 8). Request for Review and Comment on the nomination of the property to the National Register of Historic Places for its association with second wave feminism, one of the late twentieth century’s most consequential social movements and as a location where the struggle for women’s rights was linked to additional community struggles, including those of marginalized racial/ethnic communities, LGBTQ people, immigrants, and others. The period of significance is 1978 to 1994, which captures the beginnings, formation, and consolidation of The Women’s Building, culminating with the creation of the major mural project, Maestrapeace, which visually communicates the organization’s mission of supporting and celebrating women across time and around the world. 3543 18th Street is located within a RTO-M - Residential Transit Oriented- Mission zoning district and 55-X Height and Bulk district. Preliminary Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution in support of the nomination to the National Register of Historic Places.

· 220 GOLDEN GATE AVENUE – north side of Golden Gate Avenue between Leavenworth and Hyde streets, in Assessor's Block 0345, Lot 031 (District 6) – Request for Review and Comment on the nomination of the San Francisco Central YMCA to the National Register of Historic Places at the local level of significance under National Register Criterion A in the areas of social history and education, and under Criterion C in the area of architecture. The San Francisco Central YMCA is significant for its role as the lead branch of the San Francisco YMCA and as a major provider of social services, educational and recreational opportunities to City residents. The property is also significant for its association with Golden Gate University, which evolved out of educational programs offered by the YMCA and operated at the site until 1967. Designed by the McDougal Brothers and completed in 1910, the building is a distinctive example of Renaissance Revival style architecture. 220 Golden Gate Avenue is located within a C-3-G (Downtown-General) Zoning District and 80-X Height and Bulk District. Preliminary Recommendation: Adopt a Resolution in support of the nomination, subject to revisions, to the National Register of Historic Places.

· Consideration of adoption of a resolution recommending Small Business Commission approval of a Legacy Business application: 


· 1663 MISSION STREET – east side of Mission Street between Plum and 12th streets. The AIDS Legal Referral Panel (ALRP) is a 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization that has been serving the AIDS/HIV community in San Francisco for Castro neighborhood for 35 years. 

· 4073 24th STREET – on the south side of 24th Street between Castro and Noe streets. Noe Valley Bakery has been serving the Noe Valley community for 29 years, continuing a 94 year tradition of bakeries at the site. 


· 2095 JERROLD AVENUE – on the south side of Jerrold Avenue between Toland and Selby streets. The San Francisco Market Corporation was founded 55 years ago to govern the Wholesale Produce Market, which has operated in the City for nearly 150 years. 


· 2120 CHESTNUET STREET – on the north side of Chestnut Street between Pierce Street and Mallorca Way. 


· Lucca Delicatessen has been operated continuously by the Bosco family for the past 89 years serving the Marina District and City by providing Northern Italian foods.

Police (Wednesday, January 17, 530PM)

Discussion Only


· Presentation of the annual report regarding the Department’s work with the Joint Terrorism Task Force “JTTF”


· Discussion regarding draft Department General Order 3.01, “Written Communications System” 


· Discussion regarding Department General Order 2.04, “Citizen Complaints Against Officers” 

Action Items

· CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL- Existing Litigation: Paulo Morgado vs. City and County of San Francisco et al., San Francisco Superior Court (Closed Session)


· CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL- Existing Litigation: Young Chi vs. City and County of San Francisco et. al., San Francisco Superior Court (Closed Session)

· CONFERENCE WITH NEGOTIATOR-LABOR NEGOTIATION - Anticipated Issues Under Negotiation:  Procedures for Implementing Administrative Appeals in Police Discipline Proceedings (Closed Session)


· PERSONNEL EXCEPTION - Assignment of disciplinary charges filed in Case No. ALW IAD 2017-0229 to an individual Commissioner for the taking of evidence on a date to be determined by the Commissioner (Closed Session)


· PERSONNEL EXCEPTION:   Status and calendaring of pending disciplinary cases (Closed Session)

Library (Thursday, January 18, 430PM)

Discussion Only


· Branch Capital Projects Feasibility Study - This item is a discussion on the proposed branch renovations for the Mission, Chinatown and Ocean View branch libraries and will provide an update on the feasibility assessment and project scope

· FYs 2019 and 2020 Budget Discussion - This is a discussion on the proposed budget for FYs 2019 and 2020 including major one time investments and background on proposed legislation that may impact budget set asides.


· City Librarian’s Report - The City Librarian will give updates on: Announcement regarding the impending retirement of City Librarian Luis Herrera and the process of recruitment for a successor; More than a Month Black History Culture and Heritage; 750 Brannan Street Leased Facility; and the 2016/2017 Annual Report.


Planning (Thursday, January 18, 1PM)

Consideration of Items Proposed for Continuance 


· 1439-1441 SOUTH VAN NESS AVENUE – east side of South Van Ness Avenue, between 25th and 26th Streets; lot 021 of Assessor’s Block 6526 (District 9) - Request for Discretionary Review of building permit application No. 2016.0809.4577 that proposes to legalize and alter the existing ground floor dwelling unit, construct vertical and rear additions to expand all units within the structure, and alter the façade of the structure within a RM-1 (Residential-Mixed, Low Density) District and 50-X Height and Bulk District. This action constitutes the Approval Action for the project for the purposes of CEQA, pursuant to San Francisco Administrative Code Section 31.04(h). (Proposed Continuance to February 1, 2018)

· 3314 CESAR CHAVEZ STREET – north side between Mission Street and South Van Ness Avenue - Lot 012 in Assessor’s Block 6571 (District 9) - Request for Conditional Use Authorization, pursuant to Planning Code Sections 121.1 and 303 for the demolition of an existing 13,000 sq. ft. light industrial building and construction of a 65-ft. tall, six-story and 49,475 sq. ft. mixed-use building that includes approximately 11,430 sq. ft. of ground floor commercial retail and 48,365 sq. ft. of residential use for 58 dwelling units. The proposed project would also include a total 9,020 sq. ft. of private and common residential open space, 62 Class 1 bicycle parking spaces, and an approximately 6,300 sq. ft. basement-level garage for 27 accessory automobile and 1 car-share parking spaces. The subject properties are located within the Mission Street Neighborhood Commercial Transit (NCT) Zoning District and 65-X Height and Bulk District. This action constitutes the Approval Action for the project for the purposes of CEQA, pursuant to San Francisco Administrative Code Section 31.04(h). (Proposed Continuance to February 8, 2018)

· 1713 YOSEMITE AVENUE – south side of Yosemite Avenue, at Lane Street; Lot 010 of Assessor’s Block 5418 (District 10): Request for Conditional Use Authorization, pursuant to Planning Code Sections 210.4 and 303, to construct a 58-foot tall, five-story residential structure containing six dwelling units and four automobile parking spaces within the M-1 Zoning District at a 65-J Height and Bulk District. This action constitutes the Approval Action for the project for the purposes of CEQA, pursuant to San Francisco Administrative Code Section 31.04(h). (Proposed Continuance to March 1, 2018)

· 479 28TH STREET – south side of 28th Street Avenue, between Castro and Noe Streets, Lot 032 in Assessor’s Block 6612 (District 8) – Request for Conditional Use Authorization pursuant to Planning Code Sections 303 and 317, for a project proposing to demolish an existing one-story over basement single-family residence and construct a new three-story structure with two basement levels and two dwelling units. The project includes excavation, a new curb cut and associated landscaping. The subject property is located within a RH-2 (Residential-House, Two-Family) Zoning District with 40-X Height and Bulk designation. This action constitutes the Approval Action for the project for the purposes of CEQA, pursuant to San Francisco Administrative Code Section 31.04(h). (Proposed Continuance to March 1, 2018)

· 1863 MISSION STREET – east side of Mission Street, between 14th and 15th Streets; Lot 033 in Assessor’s Block 3548 (District 9) – Request for Large Project Authorization, pursuant to Planning Code Section 329 and the Mission 2016 Interim Controls (Planning Commission Resolution No. 19865), to construct a four-to-seven story (measuring approximately 39-foot, 7-inches to 66-foot tall), 37,441 sq. ft. mixed-use building with 37 dwelling units, approximately 1,425 sq. ft. of ground floor retail use, and 16 off-street parking spaces. The project is seeking exceptions to the Planning Code requirements for the rear yard (Planning Code Section 134) and street frontage (Planning Code Section 145.1). The project site is located within a Mission Street NCT (Mission Street Neighborhood Commercial Transit) Zoning District, and 40-X/65-X Height and Bulk Districts. This action constitutes the Approval Action for the project for the purposes of CEQA, pursuant to San Francisco Administrative Code Section 31.04(h). - WITHDRAWN

Discussion Only


· 188 HOOPER STREET; 1140 7TH STREET; AND 1111 8TH STREET AS WELL AS MULTIPLE PROPERTIES OWNED OR LEASED BY THE CALIFORNIA COLLEGE OF THE ARTS (CCA) LOCATED IN THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO – Notification by the Zoning Administrator of the filing of an Institutional Master Plan (IMP) for California College of the Arts (CCA). Pursuant to Planning Code Section 304.5, the Planning Commission must hold a public hearing upon receiving a current IMP. This public hearing is for receipt of public testimony only. Receipt of this IMP does not constitute approval or disapproval of any proposed projects contained in the IMP by the Planning Commission. The IMP contains information on the nature and history of the institution, the location and use of affiliated buildings, and institutions’ development plans.

Action Items

· Election of Officers

· BURNETT AVENUE AND BURNETT AVENUE NORTH – Zoning Map Amendment revising Sheet ZN06 to rezone Assessor’s Parcel Block No. (AB) 2719C, Lot No. 023, located at Burnett Avenue and Burnett Avenue North, from Public (P) to Residential, Mixed Districts, Low Density (RM-1); rezoning a portion of Burnett Avenue North generally bounded by AB 2745, Lot No. 036, and AB 2719C, Lot No. 023, to RM-1; affirming the Planning Department’s determination under the California Environmental Quality Act; making findings of consistency with the General Plan, and the eight priority policies of Planning Code, Section 101.1; and adopting findings of public necessity, convenience, and welfare under Planning Code, Section 302. Preliminary Recommendation: Approve

· 150 EUREKA STREET – on the block bounded by 18th Street to the north, Eureka Street to the east, 19th Street to the south, and Douglass Street to the west (Assessor’s Block 2692, Lot 007) – Public Hearing on the Draft Environmental Impact Report. The project site is currently developed with a two-story approximately 29-foot-tall wood-frame building, which most recently housed the Metropolitan Community Church of San Francisco. The proposed project would demolish the existing church building and construct two fourstory buildings each with a total of two residential units, for a total of four residential units on the site. The two buildings would total approximately 14,441 gross square feet in size and would not exceed 40 feet in height. Each building would include a four-car garage and two class 1 bicycle parking spaces, for a total of eight vehicle parking spaces and four class I bicycle parking spaces. The project site is located in a Residential House-Two-Family (RH2) District and 40-X Height and Bulk District. Note: Written comments will be accepted at the Planning Department until 5:00 p.m. on January 23, 2018. Preliminary Recommendation: Review and Comment

· 744 HARRISON STREET – northwest corner of Harrison and Lapu Lapu Streets, on Lots: 028 and 054 in Assessor’s Block 3751 (District 6) – Request for a Large Project Authorization, pursuant to Planning Code Section 329, to construct a new 85-foot tall eight-story mixeduse building with a ground floor 1,234-square foot restaurant and an outdoor activity area, a 22,148- square foot tourist hotel (50 rooms), and 5,246 square feet of group housing (9 rooms with a common kitchen, dining, and living area) on the upper floors. Under the LPA, the Project is seeking exceptions to the Planning Code requirements for rear yard (Planning Code Section 134), usable open space (Planning Code Section 135) and street frontage active use (Planning Code 145.1). The proposed project is located within a Mixed Use Office (MUO) Zoning District, a SOMA Youth and Family Special Use District and 85-X Height and Bulk District. This action constitutes the Approval Action for the project for the purposes of CEQA, pursuant to San Francisco Administrative Code Section 31.04(h). Preliminary Recommendation: Approve with Conditions

Request for a Conditional Use Authorization, pursuant to Planning Code Sections 202.2, 249.40A, 303 and 842, to establish a hotel in the MUO Zoning District and a restaurant within the SOMA Youth and Family Special Use District. The proposed project includes demolition of the existing two-story office building and new construction of a new 85-foot tall eight-story mixed-use building with a ground floor 1,234-square foot restaurant and an outdoor activity area, a 22,148 square foot tourist hotel (50 rooms), and 5,246 square feet of group housing (9 rooms with a common kitchen, dining, and living area) on the second and third floors within a Mixed Use Office (MUO) Zoning District, a SOMA Youth and Family Special Use District and 85-X Height and Bulk District. Preliminary Recommendation: Approve with Conditions

· 1965 MARKET STREET – southern side of Duboce Avenue at the corner of Duboce Avenue and Market Street, between Guerrero Street and Clinton Park; Lots 58, 59, 61, and 62 in Assessor's Block 3534 (District 8) – Request for a Conditional Use Authorization, pursuant to Planning Code Sections 121.1, 121.7 and 303, for the Development of a Large Lot in a Neighborhood Commercial Zoning District, and for the Merger of Lots creating a lot greater than 5,000 square feet, in the Residential Transit Oriented Zoning District, for the proposed project consisting of demolition of a portion of the existing 13,500 square foot building at 1965 Market Street (Lot 058), removal of the approximately 9,000 square foot surface parking lot (Lots 059, 061, and 062) along Duboce Avenue, and construction of a 102,744 square foot 75- to 85-foot high mixed-use building containing 96 dwelling units and including retention of approximately 3,760 square foot of the existing ground-floor retail within a Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit (NCT-3), Residential Transit Oriented District (RTO) Zoning Districts, and 40-X, 50-X and 85-X Height and Bulk Districts, and the Market and Octavia Area Plan. The proposed project would utilize the State Density Bonus Law (California Government Code Sections 65915-65918), and proposes a waiver from the 50-foot height limit applicable to that portion of the lot within the 50-X Height and Bulk District. This action constitutes the Approval Action for the project for the purposes of CEQA, pursuant to San Francisco Administrative Code Section 31.04(h). Preliminary Recommendation: Approve with Conditions

· 590 LELAND AVENUE – located on the north side of Leland Avenue and west of Hahn Street; Lots: 061, 062, 063, 064, 065 in Assessor’s Block 6243 (District 10) - Request for Discretionary Review of Building Permit Application No. 2014.06.06.7762, proposing the demolition of an existing church and construction of five new three-story, single-family homes (addressed as 579, 583, and 589 Raymond Avenue, and 586 and 596 Leland Avenue). The Project is located within a RH-1 (Residential, House, One-Family) Zoning District and 40-X Height and Bulk District. This action constitutes the Approval Action for the project for the purposes of CEQA, pursuant to San Francisco Administrative Code Section 31.04(h). Preliminary Recommendation: Do Not Take Discretionary Review and Approve

Rec and Park (Thursday, January 18, 10AM)

Discussion Only


· SAN FRANCISCO ZOO - Presentation and discussion only to update the Commission on operational and management issues at the San Francisco Zoo. 

· RECREATION AND PARK DEPARTMENT BUDGET FY 2018-19 AND 2019-2020 - Presentation and discussion only of the Recreation and Park Department's budget for fiscal years 2018-19 and 2019-2020.

· CALIFORNIA MARITIME INFRASTRUCTURE AUTHORITY – MEMBERSHIP - Discussion and possible action to adopt a resolution for the Recreation and Park Commission to become a member of the California Maritime Infrastructure Authority. 


· NEW BUSINESS/AGENDA SETTING:

· Lincoln Park Golf Course


· Golden Gate Park Stables


· Community Gardens Policy


· South End Rowing Club


· Dolphin Club


· Golden Gate Yacht Club


· Panhandle Playground


· Alice Chalmers Playground


· India Basin


Action Items

· ELECTION OF OFFICERS - Election of President and Vice President for calendar year 2018, in accordance with the Recreation and Park Commission Bylaws.

· JOSEPH L. ALIOTO PERFORMING ARTS PIAZZA – APPROVAL OF TEMPORARY ART INSTALLATION - Discussion and possible action to approve a request from the San Francisco Arts Commission to place a temporary art installation of 40 sculptures by Zak Ove entitled “Invisible Men” at Joseph L. Alioto Performing Arts Piazza from July 2018 to October 2018. 


· ACQUISITION POLICY REVIEW - Discussion and possible action to review and provide comment on the Recreation and Park Department 2011 Acquisition Policy, per Recommendation 6 of the June 2017 Civil Grand Jury report, “Planning To Make Our Parks Even Better.”


· CAPITAL EXPENDITURE PLAN - Discussion and possible action to approve, and to recommend that the Board of Supervisors approve, the annual Capital Expenditure Plan as required by Charter Section 16.107(h)(3).

· CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – PENDING LITIGATION - Elizabeth A. Loomis v. City and County of San Francisco, et al., San Francisco Superior Court, Case No. CGC-16-550880 (filed March 9, 2016) - Plaintiff to dismiss claims with prejudice in exchange for City payment of $275,000 (Closed Session)

· CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – PENDING LITIGATION - Anticipated litigation as plaintiff concerning environmental cleanup at marina east harbor. (Closed Session)

Ethics (Friday, January 19, 2PM)

Miscellaneous

· Zoning Variance Hearing (Wednesday, January 17, 1PM) - Special

· Public Utilities Commission (Thursday, January 18, 9AM, 525 Golden Gate Avenue, Second Floor) - Special Meeting (Budget Hearing #1) 

· Mayor’s Disability Council (Friday, January 19, 1PM)



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
Subject: FW: *** STATEMENT *** ACTING MAYOR BREED ON MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR. HOLIDAY
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 9:37:08 AM
Attachments: 1.15.18 MLK Day.pdf

 
 
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
Sent: Monday, January 15, 2018 8:24 AM
To: MayorsPressOffice, MYR (MYR)
Subject: *** STATEMENT *** ACTING MAYOR BREED ON MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR. HOLIDAY
 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE:
Monday, January 15, 2017
Contact: Mayor’s Office of Communications, 415-554-6131
 

*** STATEMENT ***
 

ACTING MAYOR BREED ON
MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR. HOLIDAY

 
“Martin Luther King, Jr. Day is a time for solemn reflection and commemoration of the life
and legacy of one of our country’s most distinguished leaders. It is a time for us to remember
and think critically about the values he stood for: social and racial justice, service and equality
 
Although a half-century has passed since he left us, his pursuit of a more equitable, inclusive
and compassionate America is as urgent as ever.
 
These are difficult times for our immigrants, our communities of color and our disenfranchised
residents. The President spent his first year in office attacking the civil rights of our residents,
pursuing discriminatory policies and refusing to condemn the racist rhetoric and actions of
extremist hate groups.
 
Dr. King spent his life devoted to opposing such intolerance and hatred, we honor him not
only today, but continue to honor his memory by speaking out against bigotry and hatred. He
once said that ‘our lives begin to end the day we become silent about the things that matter.’
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
 


“Martin Luther King, Jr. Day is a time for solemn reflection and commemoration of the life and 


legacy of one of our country’s most distinguished leaders. It is a time for us to remember and 


think critically about the values he stood for: social and racial justice, service and equality 


 


Although a half-century has passed since he left us, his pursuit of a more equitable, inclusive and 


compassionate America is as urgent as ever. 


 


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


 


Dr. King spent his life devoted to opposing such intolerance and hatred, we honor him not only 


today, but continue to honor his memory by speaking out against bigotry and hatred. He once 


said that ‘our lives begin to end the day we become silent about the things that matter.’ 


 


San Francisco will not be silent. We will not be deterred by the hate coming from Washington, 


D.C. We will not back down against threats to our values. We will not forget the message of 


hope celebrated each year on Martin Luther King, Jr. Day. We will continue to be a city that 


celebrates love, compassion and empathy for everyone—the same ideals championed by Dr. 


King.” 


 


 


 


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
Subject: FW: SF Office Development Annual Limitation Program - Update
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 9:42:06 AM
Attachments: Office Allocation Stats (2018_1_12).pdf

 
 
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
 
From: Teague, Corey (CPC) 
Sent: Friday, January 12, 2018 4:17 PM
To: Teague, Corey (CPC)
Subject: SF Office Development Annual Limitation Program - Update
 
All Interested Parties,
The SF Office Development Annual Limitation Program tracking sheet, as of January 12, 2018, is
attached. It will be available on our website shortly (http://www.sf-planning.org/index.aspx?
page=3254). Please let me know if you have any questions.
 
Corey A. Teague, AICP, LEED AP
Principal Planner, Assistant Zoning Administrator
 
San Francisco Planning Department
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400, San Francisco, CA 94103
Direct: 415.575.9081 | www.sfplanning.org 
San Francisco Property Information Map
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Current Availability 1,015,880 gsf Pending Availability 695,150 gsf Pipeline Availability 578,151 gsf


Current Availability 2,032,886 gsf Pending Availability -3,884,135 gsf Pipeline Availability -7,674,110 gsf


* A 'pending project' is one for which an office allocation application has been submitted but not yet acted upon.


Office Development Annual Limitation ("Annual Limit") Program
The Office Development Annual Limit (Annual Limit) Program became effective in 1985 with the adoption of the Downtown Plan Amendments to the Planning Code (Sections 320–325) and was 
subsequently amended by Propositions M (1986) and C (1987). The Program defines and regulates the allocation of any office development project that exceeds 25,000 gross square feet (gsf) 
in area. However, pursuant to Proposition O (2016), office development within the Hunters Point Shipyard Phase 2 and Candlestick Point areas is not subject to this Program. 


A total of 950,000 gsf of office development potential becomes available for allocation in each approval period, which begins on October 17th every year.  Of the total new available space, 
75,000 gsf is reserved for Small Allocation projects (projects with between 25,000 and 49,999 gsf of office space), and the remaining 875,000 gsf is available for Large Allocation projects 
(projects with at least 50,000 gsf of office space).  Any available office space not allocated in a given year is carried over to subsequent years.


This document reflects the status of the Annual Limit Program, including current availability and summaries of previously approved and pending projects.


Information in this document was last updated on January 12, 2018. Inquiries should be directed to Corey Teague at (415) 575-9081 or corey.teague@sfgov.org. 


Summary of Key Figures


Small Allocation Projects
(<50,000 gsf of office space)


Large Allocation Projects
(>50,000 gsf of office space)


Current total square footage available for 
allocation.


Current total square footage available for 
allocation.


Currently available square footage less 320,730 
gsf of pending* projects.


Currently available square footage less 
5,917,021 gsf of pending* projects.


Currently available square footage less 320,730 
gsf of pending* projects and 116,999 gsf of pre-
application** projects.


Currently available square footage less 
5,917,021 gsf of pending* projects and 
3,789,975 gsf of pre-application** projects.


** A 'pre-application' project is one for which an environmental review application, preliminary project assessment application, or other similar application has been submitted but for which no
office allocation application has yet been submitted.
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PENDING OFFICE PROJECTS*


Case No. Address Sq. Ft. Status Staff Comments
2009.0065 3433 Third Street 49,229 B filed 1/27/09 Kimberly 


Durandet
New 5-story office building for Carpenter's Union on vacant lot. 


2015-010219 462 Bryant Street 49,990 OFA filed on 12/20/16 Esmeralda 
Jardines


5-story addition to existing 1-story building. 


2016-004392 531-535 Bryant Street 47,810 OFA filed on 3/2/17 Doug Vu Demo existing commercial building and construct new 65-ft, six-
story office and  retail sales/food service building. 


2017-001690 345 4th Street 49,580 OFA filed on 8/8/17
Kimberly 
Durandet


Demo two-story retail building and adjacent parking lot and 
construct new seven-story commercial bldg. with grade-level 
retail space and six levels of office space. 


2016-016161 120 Stockton Street / 
50 O'Farrell Street


49,999 OFA filed on 10/5/17 Eiliesh Tuffy Conversion of a single-tenant retail building into a multi-tenant 
building, with conversion of up to 49,999 sf of existing upper floor 
area inot office use. Further review and confirmation needed for 
pre-existing, legal or nonconforming office use. 


2016-010589 2300 Harrison Street 26,600 OFA filed on 12/4/17 Rich Sucre Veritical addition to existing 3-story office building via new 
construciton of a 5-story; new addition will be constructed over 
existing surface parking lot. 


2017-011465 945 Market Street 47,522 OFA filed on 12/6/17 Claudine 
Asbagh


Conversion of third and fourth floors from retail to office use (the 
retail space was never occupied).


Subtotal 320,730


Large Office 
Case No. Address Sq. Ft. Status Staff Comments
2012.0640 598 Brannan Street 916,995 B filed on 10/24/12 Rich Sucre Demo of 2 industrial buildings; 2 new office buildings (Central 


SoMa Project).
2013.1593 2 Henry Adams 245,697 B filed on 2/6/14 Rich Sucre Owner-initiated Article 10 Landmark designation and an Office 


Allocation. Eligible area limited by recent legislation.


2014.0154 1800 Mission Street 119,599 OFA filed on 1/27/15
Natalia 
Kwiatkowska Conversion in the Armory.


2012.1384 400 2nd Street 421,000 OFA filed on 4/29/16 Doug Vu
Proposed 350' office building within a three-building project 
including a 325' residential building and 200' tall hotel.  


Small Office Cap


*Projects that have submitted an application (B or OFA) pursuant to Planning Code Section 321 (Office Development Annual Limit) but on which no Commission action has yet ocurred.
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2017-000663
610-698 Brannan 
Street 2,030,560 OFA filed on 1/17/17


Ella 
Samonsky


Demo existing Flower Mart warehouse buildings and replace 
with new development, including a new Flower Mart (Central 
SoMa Project). 


2016-013312


542-550 Howard 
Street - Transbay 
Parcel F 288,677 OFA filed on 3/14/17 Tina Chang


New 61-story, approximately 800-ft mixed-use tower with 10 
hotel floors containing approximately 220 guest rooms, 16 floors 
of office, 26 residential floors with 175 units, seven floors of 
shared amenity space. 


2015-015010
552 Berry Street & 1 
De Haro Street 84,493 OFA filed on 5/25/17 Doug Vu


Demo of existing sheds and supply storage structures and 
construction of a four-story PDR/Office mixed-use building.


2014-001272 Pier 70 (Forest City 
Only)


1,810,000 Planning Commission 
approvals on 8/24/17


Rich Sucre SF Port project. Office allocation will be provided on a per-permit 
basis, at the time of issuance of each building permit.


Subtotal 5,917,021
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PRE-APPLICATION OFFICE PROJECTS*
*Projects that have submitted a pre-application (PPA or ENV) but on which no Office Allocation (OFA) entitlement application has been yet submitted
Small Office Cap
Case No. Address Sq. Ft. Status Staff Comments
2014.1616 1200 Van Ness Ave 27,000 EE filed on 9/21/15. Mary Woods Exact office square footage TBD.
2016-000346 Pier 70 (Orton) 40,000 CEQA clearance issued 7/6/17. Don Lewis Conversion of existing buildings to office.
2017-008051 30 Van Ness Avenue 49,999 EE submitted 6/23/17. Alana Callagy Project would expand office use of existing 


five-story office/retail building and add a 
residential tower; project would amend 
Zoning Map and Code to increase permitted 
height to 520' and permit general office use 
above the 4th floor. 


Subtotal 116,999


Large Office Cap
Case No. Address Sq. Ft. Status Staff Comments
2005.0759 725-735 Harrison 907,300 PPA letter issued 5/16/2013. Revised 


EE pending. New PPA submitted on 
10/8/15 and new PPA letter issued 
1/6/16. 


Melinda Hue "Harrison Gardens" (Central SoMa Project). 
Original proposal changed to office per 
2/21/13 application amendment.


2013.0208 SWL 337 ("Mission Rock") 1,300,000 EE filed on 6/4/13 Tania Sheyner Large mixed-use project on Port property.
2015-009704 505 Brannan Street 168,820 EE filed on 11/23/15. Alana Callagy "Phase II" addition (165', 11 stories) of office 


space onto an approved 85' "Phase I" office 
building approved by the Planning 
Commission on 12/11/14. With this newly 
planned addition, total building height would 
now be 250' and contain a total of 306,266 
sf. (Central SoMa Project)


2015-012490 88 Bluxome Street 823,500 EE filed on 5/6/16. Jenny Delumo Demolition of existing SF Tennis Club 
building. Construction of new office space, 
with publically-accessible fitness club, retail 
space and underground parking / loading. 
(Central SoMa Project)


2017-011878 1201A Illinois Street 590,355 EE filed on 9/15/17. Melinda Hue Proposed project would involve construction 
of up to approximately 5.3 million gross 
square feet in a mixed commercial office, 
laboratory, PDR, and hotel use. Most new 
buildings would range in height of 65-180 ft, 
with one building at 300-ft. 


Subtotal 3,789,975
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ANNUAL LIMIT FOR "SMALL" SAN FRANCISCO OFFICE DEVELOPMENT


Amount Currently Available: 1,015,880


Approval 
Period1 Unallocated Sq. Ft.2


"Small" Office 
Annual Limit


Adjusted 
Annual Limit Project Address Case No. Project 


Allocation
Total 


Allocated Comments


1985-1986 0 75,000 75,000 No Projects N/A 0 0
1986-1987 75,000 75,000 150,000 1199 Bush 1985.244 46,645 46,645
1987-1988 103,355 75,000 178,355 3235-18th Street 1988.349 45,350 45,350 aka 2180 Harrison Street
1988-1989 133,005 75,000 208,005 2601 Mariposa 1988.568 49,850 49,850
1989-1990 158,155 75,000 233,155 No Projects N/A 0 0
1990-1991 233,155 75,000 308,155 No Projects N/A 0 0
1991-1992 308,155 75,000 383,155 1075 Front 1990.568 32,000 32,000
1992-1993 351,155 75,000 426,155 No Projects N/A 0 0
1993-1994 426,155 75,000 501,155 No Projects N/A 0 0
1994-1995 501,155 75,000 576,155 No Projects N/A 0 0
1995-1996 576,155 75,000 651,155 No Projects N/A 0 0
1996-1997 651,155 75,000 726,155 No Projects N/A 0 0
1997-1998 726,155 75,000 801,155 No Projects N/A 0 0
1998-1999 801,155 75,000 876,155 1301 Sansome 1998.362 31,606 31,606
1999-2000 844,549 75,000 919,549 435 Pacific 1998.369 32,500


2801 Leavenworth 200.459 40,000
215 Fremont 1998.497 47,950
845 Market 1998.090 49,100 169,550


2000-2001 749,999 75,000 824,999 530 Folsom 2000.987 45,944
35 Stanford 2000.1162 48,000


2800 Leavenworth 2000.774 34,945
500 Pine 2000.539 44,450 173,339 See also 350 Bush Street - Large


2001-2002 651,660 75,000 726,660 No Projects N/A 0 0
2002-2003 726,660 75,000 801,660 501 Folsom 2002.0223 32,000 32,000
2003-2004 769,660 75,000 844,660 No Projects N/A 0 0
2004-2005 844,660 75,000 919,660 185 Berry Street 2005.0106 49,000 49,000
2005-2006 870,660 75,000 945,660 No Projects N/A 0 0
2006-2007 945,660 75,000 1,020,660 No Projects N/A 0 0
2007-2008 1,020,660 75,000 1,095,660 654 Minnesota no case number 43,939 0 UCSF
2008-2009 1,095,660 75,000 1,170,660 No Projects N/A 0 0
2009-2010 1,170,660 75,000 1,245,660 660 Alabama Street 2009.0847 39,691 39,691
2010-2011 1,205,969 75,000 1,280,969 No Projects N/A 0 0
2011-2012 1,280,969 75,000 1,355,969 208 Utah / 201 Potrero 2011.0468 48,732 EN Legitimization


808 Brannan Street 2012.0014 43,881 EN Legitimization
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


275 Brannan Street 2011.1410 48,500
385 7th/1098 Harrison 2011.1049 42,039 EN Legitimization
375 Alabama Street 2012.0128 48,189 231,341 EN Legitimization


2012-2013 1,124,628 75,000 1,199,628 No Projects N/A 0 0
2013-2014 1,199,628 75,000 1,274,628 3130 20th Street 2013.0992 32,081


660 3rd Street 2013.0627 40,000 72,081
2014-2015 1,202,547 75,000 1,277,547 340 Bryant Street 2013.1600 47,536


101 Townsend Street 2014-002385 41,206
2101 Mission Street 2014.0567 46,660 135,402


2015-2016 1,142,145 75,000 1,217,145 135 Townsend Street 2014.1315 49,995
360 Spear Street 2013.1511 49,992 aka 100 Harrison St


1125 Mission Street 2015-000509 35,842 135,829 Approved 12/17/15, Motion No. 19538
2016-2017 1,081,316 75,000 1,156,316 300 Grant Avenue 2015-000878 29,703 Motion No. 19813


2525 16th Street 2015-011529 43,569 Motion No. 19799
144 Townsend Street 2015-017998 42,510 Motion No. 19846


1088-1090 Sansome Street 2016-010294 49,814 Motion No. 19889
77-85 Federal Street 2012.1410B 49,840 215,436 Motion No. 19996


2017-2018 940,880 75,000 1,015,880
Total 1,503,059


1  Each approval period begins on October 17
2  Carried over from previous year
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ANNUAL LIMIT FOR "LARGE" SAN FRANCISCO OFFICE DEVELOPMENT


Amount Currently Available: 2,032,886


Approval 
Period1 Unallocated Sq. Ft.2


"Large" Office 
Annual Limit3


Reduction per 
Section 321.1


Adjusted Annual 
Limit Project Address Case No. Project 


Allocation
Total 


Allocated Comments


1985-1986 0 875,000 (475,000) 400,000 No Projects N/A 0 0 
1986-1987 400,000 875,000 (475,000) 800,000 600 California 1986.085 318,030 


235 Pine 1984.432 147,500 
343 Sansome 1985.079 160,449 625,979 


1987-1988 174,021 875,000 (475,000) 574,021 No Projects N/A 0 0 
1988-1989 574,021 875,000 (475,000) 974,021 No Projects N/A 0 0 
1989-1990 974,021 875,000 (475,000) 1,374,021 150 California 1987.613 195,503 195,503 
1990-1991 1,178,518 875,000 (475,000) 1,578,518 No Projects N/A 0 0 
1991-1992 1,578,518 875,000 (475,000) 1,978,518 300 Howard 1989.589 382,582 382,582 aka 199 Fremont Street
1992-1993 1,595,936 875,000 (475,000) 1,995,936 No Projects N/A 0 0 
1993-1994 1,995,936 875,000 (475,000) 2,395,936 No Projects N/A 0 0 
1994-1995 2,395,936 875,000 (475,000) 2,795,936 No Projects N/A 0 0 
1995-1996 2,795,936 875,000 (475,000) 3,195,936 No Projects N/A 0 0 
1996-1997 3,195,936 875,000 (475,000) 3,595,936 101 Second 1997.484 368,800 368,800 
1997-1998 3,227,136 875,000 (37,582) 4,064,554 55 Second Street 1997.215 283,301 aka One Second Street


244-256 Front 1996.643 58,650 aka 275 Saramento Street
650 Townsend 1997.787 269,680 aka 699-08th Street


455 Golden Gate 1997.478 420,000 State office building - see also Case No. 
1993.707


945 Battery 1997.674 52,715 
475 Brannan 1997.470 61,000 
250 Steuart 1998.144 540,000 1,685,346 aka 2 Folsom/250 Embarcadero


1998-1999 2,379,208 875,000 0 3,254,208 One Market 1998.135 51,822 
Pier One 1998.646 88,350 Port office building


554 Mission 1998.321 645,000 aka 560/584 Mission Street
700 Seventh 1999.167 273,650 aka 625 Townsend Street


475 Brannan 1999.566 2,500 1,061,322 addition to previous approval - 1997.470


1999-2000 2,192,886 875,000 0 3,067,886 670 Second 1999.106 60,000 
160 King 1999.027 176,000 


350 Rhode Island 1998.714 250,000 


First & Howard 1998.902 854,000 First & Howard bldg #2 (405 Howard), 
#3 (505-525 Howard) & #4 (500 Howard)


235 Second 1999.176 180,000 
500 Terry Francois 2000.127 280,000 Mission Bay 26a
550 Terry Francois 2000.329 225,004 Mission Bay 28


899 Howard 1999.583 153,500 2,178,504 
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


2000-2001 889,382 875,000 0 1,764,382 First & Howard 1998.902 295,000 First & Howard bldg #1 (400 Howard)
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


550 Terry Francois 2000.1293 60,150 355,150 Additional allocation (see also 2000.329)


2001-2002 1,409,232 875,000 0 2,284,232 350 Bush 2000.541 344,500 See also 500 Pine Street - Small
38-44 Tehama 2001.0444 75,000 


235 Second 2000.319 64,000 modify 1999.176
250 Brannan 2001.0689 113,540 
555 Mission 2001.0798 549,000 


1700 Owens 2002.0300 0 1,146,040 Alexandria District - West Campus 
(160,100)


2002-2003 1,138,192 875,000 0 2,013,192 7th & Mission GSA No Case 514,727 514,727 Federal Building
2003-2004 1,498,465 875,000 0 2,373,465 Presidio Dig Arts No Case 839,301 839,301 Presidio Trust
2004-2005 1,534,164 875,000 0 2,409,164 No Projects N/A 0 0 
2005-2006 2,409,164 875,000 0 3,284,164 201 16th Street 2006.0384 430,000 430,000 aka 409/499 Illinois


2006-2007 2,854,164 875,000 0 3,729,164 1500 Owens 2006.1212 0 Alexandria District - West Campus 
(158,500)


1600 Owens 2006.1216 0 Alexandria District - West Campus 
(228,000)


1455 Third Street/455 
Mission Bay South 


Blvd/450 South Street
2006.1509 0 Alexandria District - North Campus 


(373,487)


1515 Third Street 2006.1536 0 Alexandria District - North Campus 
(202,893)


650 Townsend 2005.1062 375,151
120 Howard 2006.0616 67,931
535 Mission 2006.1273 293,750 736,832 


2007-2008 2,992,332 875,000 0 3,867,332 100 California 2006.0660 76,500 


505-525 Howard 2008.0001 74,500 Additional allocation for First & Howard 
Building #3


680 Folsom Street No Case 117,000 Redevelopment - Yerba Buena


Alexandria District 2008.0850 1,122,980 


Establishes Alexandria Mission Bay Life 
Sciences and Technology Development 
District ("Alexandria District") for which 


previously allocated office space and 
future allocations would be limited to 
1,350,000 gsf to be distributed among 
designated buildings within district.


600 Terry Francois 2008.0484 0 Alexandria District - East Campus 
(312,932)
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


650 Terry Francois 2008.0483 0 Alexandria District - East Campus 
(291,367)


1450 Owens 2008.0690 0 1,390,980 Alexandria District - West Campus 
(61,581)


2008-2009 2,476,352 875,000 0 3,351,352 No Projects N/A 0 0 
2009-2010 3,351,352 875,000 0 4,226,352 850-870 Brannan Street 2009.1026 138,580 aka 888 Brannan Street


222 Second Street 2006.1106 430,650 569,230 LEED
2010-2011 3,657,122 875,000 0 4,532,122 350 Mission Street 2006.1524 340,320 


Alexandria District n/a 200,000 under terms of Motion 17709
Treasure Island 2007.0903 0 540,320 Priority Resolution Only


2011-2012 3,991,802 875,000 0 4,866,802 Alexandria District n/a 27,020 under terms of Motion 17709
850-870 Brannan St 2011.0583 113,753  aka 888 Brannan Street


444 DeHaro St 2012.0041 90,500 
460-462 Bryant St 2011.0895 59,475 


185 Berry St 2012.0409 101,982 aka China Basin Landing
100 Potrero Ave. 2012.0371 70,070 EN Legitimization


601 Townsend Street 2011.1147 72,600 535,400 EN Legitimization
2012-2013 4,331,402 875,000 0 5,206,402 101 1st Street 2012.0257 1,370,577 Transbay Tower; aka 425 Mission


181 Fremont Street 2007.0456 404,000 new office/residential building
1550 Bryant Street 2012.1046 108,399 EN Legitimization
1100 Van Ness Ave 2009.0885 242,987 CPMC Cathedral Hill MOB
3615 Cesar Chavez 2009.0886 94,799 CPMC St. Luke's MOB
345 Brannan Street 2007.0385 102,285 
270 Brannan Street 2012.0799 189,000 
333 Brannan Street 2012.0906 175,450 
350 Mission Street 2013.0276 79,680 Salesforce (No. 2)
999 Brannan Street 2013.0585 143,292 EN Legitimization - Dolby
1800 Owens Street 2012.1482 700,000 3,610,469 Mission Bay Block 40


2013-2014 1,595,933 875,000 0 2,470,933 300 California Street 2012.0605 56,459
665 3rd Street 2013.0226 123,700 


410 Townsend Street 2013.0544 76,000 
888 Brannan Street 2013.0493 10,000 AirBnB - See Also 2011.0583B


81-85 Bluxome Street 2013.0007 55,000 321,159 
2014-2015 2,149,774 875,000 0 3,024,774 501-505 Brannan Street 2012.1187 137,446


100 Hooper Street 2012.0203 284,471
390 Main Street 2012.0722 137,286 MTC Project - Verified on 4/14/15


250 Howard Street 2014-002085 766,745 aka Transbay Block 5 (195 Beale St)


510 Townsend Street 2014.0679 269,063
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


901-925 Mission Street 2011.0409 633,500 2,228,511 5M (Motions 19467 & 19468)
2015-2016 796,263 875,000 0 1,671,263 MBS Blocks 29 & 31 2014-002701 0 GSW Event Center (Design Only)


645 Harrison Street 2013.1545 98,964 
1455 & 1515 3rd St 2008.0850 0 Uber/Alexandria (Design Only)


50 1st St 2006.1523 1,057,549 Motion No. 19636
875 Howard St 2015-009141 70,881 1,227,394 Motion No. 19700


2016-2017 443,869 875,000 0 1,318,869 630 Folsom St 2014.1063 90,102


1500 Mission Street 2014-000362
0 160,983 


Motion No. 19887 - DNX Approval (City 
Gov't. Office Bldg. - Approx. 464,000 


GSF)
2017-2018 1,157,886 875,000 0 2,032,886 


Total 21,033,651
1  Each approval period begins on October 17
2  Carried over from previous year
3  Excludes 75,000 gsf dedicated to "small" projects per Section 321(b)(4)
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SMALL OFFICE APPROVALS - STATUS OF ALL PROJECTS COMPLETE


REVOKED
18 MOS. EXPIRED
NO INFORMATION / NOT APPLICABLE
UNDER CONSTRUCTION
AWAITING ADDITIONAL INFORMATION


Date Case No. Address APN Size Motion Status Completion Comments
1986-1987 1985.244 1199 Bush 0280-031 46,645 11026 complete 1991 St. Francis Hospital
1987-1988 1988.349 3235-18th Street 001/030 45,350 11451 complete PG&E, aka 2180 Harrison Street
1988-1989 1988.568 2601 Mariposa 4016-001 49,850 11598 complete 1991 KQED


1988.287 1501 Sloat 7255-002 39,000 11567 doesn't count n/a revoked 12/00
1989-1990
1990-1991 1990.238 350 Pacific 0165-006 45,718 13114 doesn't count n/a revoked 12/00
1991-1992 1990.568 1075 Front 0111-001 32,000 13381 complete 1993


1987.847 601 Duboce 3539-001 36,000 13254 doesn't count n/a revoked 12/00
1992-1993 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
1993-1994 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
1994-1995 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
1995-1996 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
1996-1997 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
1997-1998 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
1998-1999 1998.362 1301 Sansome 0085-005 31,606 14784 complete 1999
1999-2000 1998.369 435 Pacific 0175-028 32,500 14971 complete 2003


2000.459 2801 Leavenworth 0010-001 40,000 15922 complete 2001 The Cannery


1998.497 215 Fremont 3738-012 47,950 15939 complete 2002
1999.668 38-44 Tehama 3736-111 49,950 15967 doesn't count n/a reapproved as large project


1998.090 845 Market
3705-09:18 


into 3705-049 49,100 15949 complete 2006 Bloomingdale's


2000-2001 1999.821 178 Townsend 3788-012 49,002 16025 doesn't count n/a


18mos exp 5/2/02; 2005.0470 new E & K appl for residential, 
building permit application no.200608290851 for residential 
submitted on 8/29/07; 9/4/08 CPC approves conversion to 
Residential (M17688) - Revoked on 1/23/09


2000.987 530 Folsom 3736-017 45,944 16023 complete 2006


1999.300 272 Main 3739-006 46,500 16049 doesn't count n/a


18mos exp 6/7/02; permit 200502185810 filed 2/05. 12/15/08 - 
Building Permit Application No. 200811136470 issued for 
demolition of two buildings on property.  To be used for temp 
Transbay facility. REVOCATION LETTER ISSUED 3/16/09


2000.1162 35 Stanford 3788-038 48,000 16070 complete 2007
2000.774 2800 Leavenworth 007/008 34,945 16071 complete 2001 The Anchorage
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
2000.552 199 New Montgomery 3722-021 49,345 16104 doesn't count n/a revoked 1/6/05


13







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


2000.1269 3433 Third 5203-23 42,000 16107 doesn't count n/a
building permit application no. 200011014657 withdrawn on 
11/9/06.  REVOCATION LETTER ISSUED 9/25/07
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


1999.795 177 Townsend 3794-4,7 46,775 16122 doesn't count n/a revoked 1/6/05


2000.539 500 Pine
258-4 to 


9/033 44450 16113 complete n/a BPA No. 200011024683 complete as of 3/22/17. 


2000.986 150 Powell 327-22 39,174
16118/164


23 doesn't count n/a
time limit for construction extended (see Case No. 2002.0363B). 
Project converted to residential use (see Case No. 2006.1299)


1998.281 185 Berry 3803-005 49,500 16143 doesn't count n/a new approval 2005


2000.190 201 Second 3736-097 44,500 16148 doesn't count n/a converted to residential use


2000.660 35 Hawthorne 3735-047 40,350 16174 doesn't count n/a
converted to residential use - see 2004.0852 and building permit 
application no. 200509082369


2000.122 48 Tehama
3736-


084/085 49,300 16235 doesn't count n/a revoked at Planning Commission hearing on 6/9/11


2000.723 639 Second
3789-


005/857:971 49,500 16241 doesn't count n/a revoked 1/6/05


1999.423 699 Second
3789-


004/857:971 49,500 16240 doesn't count n/a revoked 1/10/05


2001-2002 2001.0050 3251 18th Street 3591-018 49,500 16451 doesn't count n/a


6/28/07 - building permit application no. 200706285450 submitted 
to revise project and reduce office space to approx. 10,000 gsf. - 
REVOCATION LETTER ISSUED 8/16/07


2002-2003 2002.0223 501 Folsom Street 3749-001 32,000 16516 complete 2006
2003-2004 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
2004-2005 2005.0106 185 Berry Street 3803-005 49,000 17070 complete 2008
2005-2006 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period


2006-2007 No Case 654 Minnesota 4042-003 & 004 43,939 none complete 2009
Confirmed by UCSF via 7/13/2007 letter from UCSF and 
associated LoD


2007-2008 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period


2008-2009 2006.1294 110 The Embarcadero 3715-002 41,940 17804 doesn't count n/a
18mos exp 7/14/10 - E appealed to BoS and overturned on 
3/17/09.  Application withdrawn and case closed on 12/30/09.


2009-2010 2009.0847 660 Alabama Street 4020-002 39,691 17973 complete 2011
CFC for building permit application no. 201001144798 issued on 
3/23/11


2010-2011 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
2011-2012 2011.0468 208 Utah / 201 Potrero 3932-017 48,732 18608 complete 2012 BPA No. 201205090093


2012.0014 808 Brannan Street 3780-004D 43,881 18559 complete 2013 BPA No. 201201031584
2012.0128 375 Alabama Street 3966-002 48,189 18574 complete 2013 BPA No. 201209210308
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
2011.1049 385 7th / 1098 Harrison 3754-017 42,039 18700 complete 2013 BPA No. 201212115895
2011.1410 275 Brannan Street 3789-009 48,500 18672 complete 2013 BPA No. 201207164925


2012-2013 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
2013-1014 2013.0992 3130 20th Street 4083-002 32,081 19188 complete n/a BPA No. 201409297604 issued 10/28/16. 


2013.0627 660 3rd Street 3788-008 40000 19234 complete 2015 BPA No. 201411252480 issued on 2/24/15.
2014-2015 2013.1600 340 Bryant Street 3764-061 47536 19311 complete n/a BPA 201305177189 issued 7/15/15.


2014-002385 101 Townsend Street 3794-015 41,206 19338 complete 2015 BPA No. 201505055374  for change of use completed 9/10/15. 


2014.0567 2101 Mission Street 3575-091 46,660 19445
under 


construction n/a BPA No. 201312033192  issued 11/3/15. 
2015-2016 2014.1315 135 Townsend Street 3794-022 49,995 19517 complete 2017 BPA No. 201601086717  complete 3/10/17. 


2013.1511 360 Spear Street 3745-009 49,992 19515 approved n/a No building permit filed for change of use. 
2015-000509 1125 Mission Street 3727-091 35,842 19538 complete 2017 BPA No. 201511021472 complete 3/14/17.


2016-2017 2015-000878 300 Grant Avenue 0287-014 29,703 19813 approved n/a BPA No. 201612275920 issued on 12/22/17.
2015-011529 2525 16th Street 3966-001 43,569 19799 approved n/a BPA No. 201604185006 approved 6/6/17. 
2016-010294 1088-1090 Sansome Street 0135-009 49,814 19889 approved n/a
2015-017998 144 Townsend Street 3788-009A 42,510 19846 approved n/a


2012.1410 77-85 Federal Street 3774-444 49,840 19996 under review n/a BPA No. 201306200082 approved by Planning on 11/2/17. 
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LARGE OFFICE APPROVALS - STATUS OF ALL PROJECTS COMPLETE


REVOKED
18 MOS. EXPIRED
NO INFORMATION / NOT APPLICABLE
UNDER CONSTRUCTION


AWAITING ADDITIONAL INFORMATION


Date Case No. Address APN Size Motion Status Completion Comments
1986-1987 1986.085 600 California


  
027 318,030 11077 complete 1992


1984.432 235 Pine 0267-015 147,500 11075 complete 1991
1984.274 33 Columbus 0195-004 81,300 11070 doesn't count n/a revoked 12/00
1985.079 343 Sansome 0239-002 160,449 11076 complete 1991


1987-1988 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
1988-1989 1984.199 524 Howard 3721-013 199,965 11683 doesn't count n/a reapproved in 1998 under Case No. 1998.843.


1989-1990 1987.613 150 California
0236-003 into 0236-


019 195,503 11828 complete 2001


1990-1991 1989.589 300 Howard
3719-005 into 3719-


018 382,582 13218 complete 2001 aka 199 Fremont Street
1991-1992 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
1992-1993 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
1993-1994 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period
1994-1995 1994.105 101 Second Street 3721-072 386,655 13886 doesn't count n/a Reapproved in 1997 under Case No. 1997.484.
1995-1996 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period


1996-1997 1997.484 101 Second Street
3721-72:75 into 3721-


089 368,800 14454 complete 2000


1997-1998 1997.215 55 Second Street
3708-019A/033/034 


into 3708-096 283,301 14542 complete 2002 aka One Second Street


1996.643 244-256 Front 0236-018 58,650 14601 complete 2001 aka 275 Sacramento Street
1997.787 650 Townsend 3783-009 269,680 14520 complete 2001 aka 699-08th Street
No Case 455 Golden Gate 0765-002/003 420,000 none complete 1998 State office building.  See also case no. 1993.707.
1997.674 945 Battery 0135-001 52,715 14672 complete 1998
1997.470 475 Brannan 3787-031 61,000 14685 complete 2001
1998.144 250 Steuart


  
035 540,000 14604 complete 2002 aka 2 Folsom/250 Embarcadero


1998-1999 1998.135 One Market 3713-006 51,822 14756 complete 2000
1998.843 524 Howard 3721-013 201,989 14801 doesn't count n/a revoked 6/11 under Case No. 2011.0503
1998.646 Pier One 9900-001 88,350 none complete 2003 Port office building
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


1998.321 554 Mission
3708-015/017/018 into  


3708-095 645,000 14893 complete 2003 aka 560/584 Mission
1999.167 700 Seventh


  
008 273,650 14895 complete 2006 aka 625 Townsend


1999.566 475 Brannan 3787-031 2,500 14884 complete 2001 addition to previous approval - 1997.470


1998.268 631 Folsom 3750-090 170,000 14750 doesn't count n/a
project converted to residential - allocation revoked 
12/00.


1999-2000 1999.106 670 Second 3788-043/044 60,000 14907 complete 2001
1999.027 160 King 3794-025 176,000 14956 complete 2002
1998.714 350 Rhode Island 3957-001 250,000 14988 complete 2004


1998.902 First & Howard 3721; 3736; 3737 854,000 15006 complete/approved


405 Howard - 
2005; 505-


525 Howard - 
under review; 
500 Howard - 


2003


18 mos exp 9/2/01. Includes 3 of 4 buildings at First & 
Howard (see bldg #1  - 400 Howard - below): bldg #2 - 
405 Howard (3737-030) - 460,000 gsf office - 
200002172133 - complete); bldg #3 - 505-525 Howard  
(3736-121/114) - 178,000 gsf office - 200610316514 
currently (8/4/08) under review by Planning (see also 
2008.0001 for additional allocation); bldg #4 -500 
Howard  (3721-119) - 216,000 gsf office - 
200006172952 - complete).
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


1999.176 235 Second
3736-061 into 3736-


123 180,000 15004 complete 2002


2000.127 500 Terry Francois
3838; 3839 into 8721-


001/010 280,000 15010 complete 2008 MB 26a


1998.766 535 Mission 3721-068 252,000 15027 doesn't count n/a revoked and reapproved as residential


1998.635 2101 Bryant 4080-007 148,000 15044 doesn't count n/a
project converted to residential - allocation revoked 
1/10/05


2000.329 550 Terry Francois
3839; 3840 into 8721-


001/011 225,004 15055 complete 2002 MB 28
1999.583 899 Howard 3733-079 153,500 15062 complete 2005


2000-2001 1998.902 First & Howard 3720-008 295,000 16069 complete 2008 First & Howard - Building #1 (400 Howard)


2000.1293 550 Terry Francois
3839: 3840 into 8721-


001/011 60,150 16110 complete 2002 addition to 2000.329.


2000.1295 Mission Bay 26/2
3840; 3841 into 8721-


001-012 145,750 16111 doesn't count n/a
AKA MB 26 East. returned to cap for approval of 
2002.0301


1999.603 555 Mission 3721-69,70,78… 499,000 16130 doesn't count n/a
project revised - allocation revoked and reapproved 
under Case No. 2007.0798.


2000.277 801 Market 3705-48 112,750 16140 doesn't count n/a project abandoned per letter from sponsor


2001-2002 2000.541 350 Bush 269-2,2a,3,22… 344,500 16273 under construction n/a
Building permit application no. 200708078938 issued 
12/19/14. 


2001.0444 38-44 Tehama 3736-111 75,000 16280 complete 2003


2000.319 235 Second 3736-61,62,64-67 64,000 16279 complete 2002
modify 1999.176 - convert warehouse from PDR to 
office.


2001.0689 250 Brannan 3774-25 113,540 16285 complete 2002
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
2001.0798 555 Mission


 
120 549,000 16302 complete 2008
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
2002.0301 Mission Bay 42/4 8709-10 80,922 16397 doesn't count n/a revoked and reapproved as 2002.1216 (1600 Owens)
2002.0300 1700 Owens 8709-007 0* 16398 complete 2007 Alexandria District (160,100). West Campus. 164,828


2002-2003 No Case 7th/Mission GSA 3702-15 … 514,727 none complete 2007 Federal Building


2002.0691
499 Illinois/201-16th 
Street 3940-001 429,542 16483 doesn't count n/a


revoked and reapproved as 2006.0384 (201 16th 
Street)  MB Block X4


2003-2004 2001.1039 55 9th Street 3701-063 268,000 16760 doesn't count n/a


200408111247 issued 5/19/05 - Authorization 
REVOKED by Planning Commission Motion Nos. 
17521 and 17522 for proposal to convert project to 
residential use. 


2000.1229 Pier 30-32 3770-001 370,000 none doesn't count n/a


E, K & ! Cases created, no B case created.  BCDC 
permit approved in 2003 and allocation made for 
accounting purposes, but permit never acted upon. 
2/09 - 370,000 added back to cap because project 
does not appear to be moving forward. 


No Case
Presidio - Letterman 
Digital Arts 839,301 none complete 2006


2004-2005 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period


2005-2006 2006.0384 201-16th Street 3940-001 430,000 17223 complete 2008
aka 1409-1499 Illinois/MB Block X-4. 18 mos exp 
10/6/07.  Project (200607186938) complete 11/19/08


2006-2007 2006.1212 1500 Owens 8709-006 0* 17333 complete 2009


Alexandria District - West Campus (158,500); 
200611298694 issued 5/24/07 (aka MBS Blk 41-43, 
Parcel 5). Under construction. Estimated completion in 
March 2009. 


2006.1216 1600 Owens 8709-004/010 0* 17332 complete n/a BPA 200711097802 completed 2/4/16. 
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


2006.1509


Alexandria District - 
North Campus (MB 26/1-
3; 1455 Third Street/455 
Mission Bay South 
Blvd/450 South Street)


8721-012/8720-
011/016/017 0* 17401


complete/under 
construction n/a


Alexandria District - North Campus (373,487); aka 
MBS Blk 26, Parcels 1-3, project proposes 3 buildings - 
building permit application no. 200704279921 (455 
Mission Bay South Blvd.) COMPLETE on 11/17/09 for 
5 story office/lab; 200705090778 (450 South Street) 
COMPLETE on 10/23/09 for "parking garage with 7 
stories new building."  BPA 201508245071 for 12-story 
office issued 11/2/16 and 201508245062 issued 
11/3/16 for 7 story office/retail building. 


2006.1536 1515 Third Street 8721-012 0* 17400 under construction n/a


Alexandria District - North Campus (202,893); aka 
MBS Blk 27, Parcel 1  see also 2006.1509. BPA 
200806265407 withdrawn 11/3/16; new BPA 
201508245062 issued 11/3/16 for 7 story office/retail 
building. 


2005.1062 650 Townsend 3783-009 375,151 17440 complete 2009


18 mos exp 12/7/08.  200705151356 issued 2/20/08 - 
Conversion of existing structure into office - no major 
construction required. Final Inspection (3/16/09)


2006.0616 120 Howard 3717-019 67931 17466 complete n/a Construction completed in 2012


2006.1273 535 Mission 3721-068, 083 293750 17470 complete n/a


18 mos exp 2/2/09; 2/12/08 - 200508049463 issued by 
CPB on 8/21/08.  Appealed to Board of Permit Appeals 
on 8/29/08 (Appeal No. 08-137) - appeal withdrawn 
and permit reinstated on 8/29/08.  Separate permits 
issued for pile indicators, site cleanup and fencing. 
10/24/08 - Construction started in early 2013.


2007-2008 2006.0660 100 California 0236-017 76,500 17544 approved n/a


18 mos exp 7/31/09. No building permit on file as of 
5/18/11. Beacon Capital started the process and then 
allegedly sold to Broadway Partners, who are reputed 
to be current owners- no current status


6/16/14 update - Broadway Partners website lists the 
property as theirs. No building permits relating to 
project on file. Site visit on 6/17/14 shows no signs of 
upcoming construction activity.  
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


2008.0001 505-525 Howard 3736-001:004/114/121 74,500 17641 complete n/a


18 mos exp 12/26/09.  200610316514 for new 
construction COMPLETED on 3/11/14. "First & 
Howard"  bldg 3 - see 1998.902. 2005.0733 on file to 
legalize existing surface parking lot.


No Case 680 Folsom Street 3735-013 117,000 none complete n/a Redevelopment (Yerba Buena)


2008.0850 Alexandria District various 1122980 17709 approved n/a


Establishes Alexandria Mission Bay Life Sciences and 
Technology Development District ("Alexandria District") 
to consolidate previous and future allocations.


2008.0484 600 Terry Francois 8722-001 0* 17710 approved n/a
Alexandria District - East Campus (312,932) - 
schematic design.


2008.0483 650 Terry Francois 8722-001 0* 17711 approved n/a
Alexandria District - East Campus (291,367) - 
schematic design.


2008.0690 1450 Owens 8709-006 0* 17712 approved n/a
Alexandria District - West Campus (61,581) - 
schematic design as of 4/2011


2008-2009 No Projects Approved During Allocation Period


2009-2010 2009.1026 850-870 Brannan Street 3780-
006/007/007A/072 138,580 18095 complete 2013 aka 888 Brannan Street


2007.0946
Candlestick Point - 
Hunter's Point


Candlestick Point and 
Hunter's Point 


Shipyard 800000 18102 approved n/a


NO ALLOCATION GRANTED YET. First  800,000 gsf 
of office development within the Candlestick Point - 
Hunter's Point Project Area to receive priority office 
allocation over all projects except the Transbay Transit 
Tower or those within Mission Bay South.


2006.1106 222 Second Street 3735-063 430650 18170 complete n/a BPA No. 200711309386


2010-2011 No Case Alexandria District various 200000 17709 approved n/a
additional allocation per terms of Motion 17709 by 
Letter of  Determination


2006.1524 350 Mission Street 3710-017 335000 18268 complete n/a
2007.0903 Treasure Island 1939-001/002 0 18332 approved n/a Priority Resolution Only for 100,000gsf.


2011-2012 No Case Alexandria District various 27020 17709 approved n/a
additional allocation per terms of Motion 17709 by 
Letter of  Determination


2011.0583 850-870 Brannan Street 3780-006, 007, 007A, 
and 072 113,753 18527 approved 2013 aka 888 Brannan Street


2011.1147 601 Townsend Street 3799-001 72,600 18619 approved n/a
BPA No. 201408063120 approved by Planning on 
8/8/14, but not yet issued by DBI. Project sponsor 
proposed to withdraw on 8/3/16.
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


2009.0885 1100 Van Ness Ave 0694-010 242,987 18599 doesn't count n/a
CPMC - Cat Hill MOB; rescinded & reallocated in 2013 
cycle


24







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
2011.0895 460-462 Bryant St 3763-015A 59475 18685 complete n/a BPA No. 201312194664 issued on 5/22/14.
2012.0041 444 DeHaro St 3979-001 90500 18653 complete 2013 BPA No. 201312194626 issued on 12/31/13.
2012.0409 185 Berry St 3803-005 101982 18690 complete n/a aka China Basin Landing. 


2012.0371 100 Potrero Ave. 3920-001 70070 18704 complete 2013
EN Legitimization. BPA No. 201212286973 issued 
5/6/13.


2009.0886 3615 Cesar Chavez 6576-021 99,848 18595 doesn't count n/a
CPMC - St. Luke's MOB; rescinded & reallocated in 
2013 cycle


2012-2013 2012.0257 101 1st Street 3720-001 1,370,577 18725 under construction n/a
Transbay Tower; aka 425 Mission St. BPA No. 
201303132080.


2007.0456 181 Fremont Street 0308-001 361038 18764 under construction n/a BPA No. 201305015894 issued 12/26/13. 
2012.1046 1550 Bryant Street 3923-006 108,399 18732 complete 2013 EN Legitimization. BPA No. 201302069627


2012.1482 1800 Owens 8727-005 700,000 18807 complete 2017
Mission Bay Block 40. BPA No. 201409045458 issued 
11/12/15.


2009.0885 1100 Van Ness Ave 0694-010 242987 18890 under construction n/a CPMC - Cat Hill MOB;  BPA 201112090400
2009.0886 3615 Cesar Chavez 6576-021 94799 18886 under construction n/a CPMC - St. Luke's MOB


2007.0385 345 Brannan Street 3788-039 102285 19000 complete 2015
BPA 200810275193 completed and CFC issued 
10/14/15


2012.0799 270 Brannan Street 3774-026 189000 18988 complete 2016


BPA No. 201312174402 issued on 4/25/14. Foundation 
and Superstructure Addendum approved. Architectural 
Addendum under review by DBI/DPW/PUC. 
"Groundbreaking" in August 2014.


2012.0906 333 Brannan Street 3788-042 175,450 18952 complete 2015
BPA No. 201306280744 completed and CFC issued 
10/14/15. 


2013.0276 350 Mission Street 3710-017 79,680 18956 complete 2017
Salesforce (No. 2). BPA No. 201108011461 complete 
3/23/17. 


2013.0585 999 Brannan Street 3782-003 143292 18950 complete 2014
EN Legitimization. BPA No. 201306280728 issued 
4/28/14.


2013-2014 2012.0605 300 California Street 0238-002 56459 19034 approved n/a Approved 12/5/13. No BPA filed.


2013.0226 665 3rd Street 3788-041 123,700 19012 complete 2013
BPA No. 201311222636 issued on 12/31/13 to legalize 
office space.


2013.0544 410 Townsend Street 3785-002A 76,000 19062 complete 2015 BPA No. 201306260587 issued on10/29/15. 


2013.0493 888 Brannan Street
3780-006, 007, 007A, 


and 072 10000 19049 complete 2014 AirBnB (No. 2) to convert GF parking to office.
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


2013.0007 81-85 Bluxome Street 3786-018 55,000 19088 complete 2016
BPA No. 201404072588 completed and CFC issued on 
12/1/16.


2014-2015 2012.1187 501-505 Brannan Street 3786-038 137446 19295 under construction n/a BPA No. 201508285498 issued on 2/8/16.


2012.0203 100 Hooper Street 3808-003 284471 19315 under construction n/a
BPA Nos. 201410239755 and 201410209377 issued 
12/17/15.


2012.0722 390 Main Street 3746-002 n/a complete 2017 Conversion of former gov. agencies to office space. 
2014-002085 250 Howard Street 3718-012, 025, 027 766,745 19413 under construction n/a BPA No. 201504274732 issued on 10/28/15. 


2014.0679 510 Townsend Street 3784-007, 080 269,063 19440  under construction n/a BPA No. 201503050110 issued on 2/11/16.


2011.0409 901-925 Mission Street
3725-005, 006, 008, 
009, 012, 098, 093 633,500


19467, 
19468 approved n/a 5M Project; No building permit filed.


2015-2016 2013.1545 645 Harrison Street 3763-105 98,964 19524  under construction n/a BPA No. 201703101213 issued on 4/3/2017.


2014-002701 MBS Blocks 29 & 31 8722-001 0 19502
 under construction n/a


GSW Event Center (Design Only); BPA No. 
201606149952 (11-story office bldg.) issued on 
4/11/17. 


2008.0850 1455 & 1515 3rd St 8721-029, 033 0 19619  under construction n/a


Uber/Alexandria (Design Only); BPA No. 
201508245071 (12-story office bldg.) issued 11/2/16; 
BPA No. 201508245062 (7-story office/retail bldg.) 
issued 11/3/16. 


2006.1523 50 1st St 3708/055 1,057,549 19636  under construction n/a BPA No. 201510301303 issued 7/5/17. 


2015-009141 875 Howard St 3733/079 70,881 19700 approved n/a
BPA No. 201707182101 issued on 9/27/17. Second 
BPA to be filed later.


2016-2017 2014.1063 630 Folsom St 3750/079 90,102 19815 approved n/a
BPA No. 201706018184 approved by Planning on 
10/2/17. 
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From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: 1965 Market St CU
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 9:46:12 AM
Attachments: 1965marketSt._CBDSupport12012018.pdf

 
 
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
 
From: Andrea Aiello [mailto:andrea@castrocbd.org] 
Sent: Friday, January 12, 2018 2:55 PM
To: David Prowler; Gordon-Jonckheer, Elizabeth (CPC); Jeff Sheehy; Ionin, Jonas (CPC); Secretary,
Commissions (CPC); Rich.Hillis@sfgov.org
Subject: 1965 Market St CU
 
Dear President Hillis,
 
Attached please find the Castro/Upper Market Community Benefit District's support for the
project at 1965 Market St.
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at 415-500-1181 or andrea@castrocbd.org
 
Thank you!
Andrea

 Andrea Aiello   Executive Director
 Castro/Upper Market CBD
 ph: 415-500-1181
 www.castrocbd.org
 facebook.com/castrocbd
 twitter.com/visitthecastro

mailto:jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
mailto:Chanbory.Son@sfgov.org
mailto:jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
http://www.sfplanning.org/
mailto:andrea@castrocbd.org
http://www.castrocbd.org/
http://www.castrocbd.org/
http://facebook.com/castrocbd
http://twitter.com/visitthecastro







From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: 701 Hampshire Street—Notice of Building Permit Application No. 2017.0124.7741
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 10:27:16 AM

 
 
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
 
From: Eddie Stiel [mailto:eddiestiel@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 8:16 AM
To: Samonsky, Ella (CPC)
Cc: Rahaim, John (CPC); Secretary, Commissions (CPC); Rodney Fong; Rich Hillis; Johnson, Christine
(CPC); Moore, Kathrin (CPC); Richards, Dennis (CPC); Melgar, Myrna (CPC); Koppel, Joel (CPC); Cohen,
Malia (BOS); Inc Mission Local; Laura Waxmann; Tim Redmond; Randy Shaw; Charlotte Silver; Jk
Dineen; Hui, Tom (DBI); Sanbonmatsu, Jamie (DBI)
Subject: Re: 701 Hampshire Street—Notice of Building Permit Application No. 2017.0124.7741
 
Dear Ms. Samonsky,
 
I am following up to my earlier letter by bringing your attention to a January 14, 2018 SF Examiner article
about 701 Hampshire Street in particular and the Planning Department enabling of evictions by approving
building permits for elective renovations in general:  www.sfexaminer.com/sf-tenant-advocates-aim-
eliminate-landlord-incentives-trigger-evictions/
 
Please note that in the article, property owner Mark Colwell states his intention to evict all the residents of
701 Hampshire Street, not just those living in Units 201 (#4) and Units 202 (#5), slated for expansion into
the proposed new fourth level:
 
'“'The City allows us to add more rent-control units, and we are taking advantage of this,' said Colwell,
who works as a real estate agent with Redfin. He purchased the Hampshire Street building two years ago
and said it’s in need of seismic retrofitting.
 
'[The tenants] can’t stay there while we replace the foundation,” he said. “They have the right to return.
We are just doing what The City requires.'”
 
You and I discussed seismic retrofitting in our December 27, 2017 telephone conversation in which you
explained that such retrofits generally do not require residents to vacate their homes.  I agree with your
assessment based on my experience walking by buildings undergoing such work.
 
Colwell's attempt to empty the apartments at 701 Hampshire Street for a seismic retrofit raises some
important questions:  Who decides if residents must vacate their apartments?  Is it the architect or
engineer hired by the property owner (who, in this case, wants most of all to evict the residents)?  Is it the
Department or Building Inspection?  Another neutral entity?

While I understand that you do not have the authority to deny a building permit application for an addition
or renovation on the basis of tenancy, I am repeating my request that the Planning Department deny
Building Permit Application No. 2017.0124.7741.

mailto:commissions.secretary@sfgov.org
mailto:Chanbory.Son@sfgov.org
mailto:jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
http://www.sfplanning.org/
http://www.sfexaminer.com/sf-tenant-advocates-aim-eliminate-landlord-incentives-trigger-evictions/
http://www.sfexaminer.com/sf-tenant-advocates-aim-eliminate-landlord-incentives-trigger-evictions/


 
Thank you for letting me share my thoughts with you.
 
Sincerely,
Edward Stiel
On Thursday, December 28, 2017, 1:36:41 PM PST, Eddie Stiel <eddiestiel@yahoo.com> wrote:
 
 

2887 Folsom
Street                                 

San Francisco, CA  94110

                                                                                                                                                December 28,
2017

 

Ella Samonsky

San Francisco Planning Department

1650 Mission Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA  94103
(By email)
 
RE:  701 Hampshire Street—Notice of Building Permit Application No. 2017.0124.7741                    
 
Dear Ms. Samonsky:
 
I have lived in the Mission District since January, 1992; always a renter, twice no fault evicted (OMI-2004,
Ellis Act-2005).  Thank you for returning my telephone call and discussing 701 Hampshire Street
yesterday.
 
I request that you disapprove the Building Permit Application for 701 Hampshire Street for the simple
reason that the proposed construction of a new fourth story and the expansion of existing apartments 201
(#4) and 202 (#5) into that addition would require the eviction of any residents from existing units 201 (#4)
and 202 (#5) and perhaps unit 203 (#6).
 
Our telephone conversation informed me that you do not know nor are required to know if anyone lives in
the affected apartments.  I understand that one of the roles of Planners at the Planning Department is to
shepherd proposals through the development process on behalf of property owners seeking entitlements
like building permits.  However, in situations like this one involving the unnecessary renovation or
expansion of existing rental units by property owners seeking increased profits, these entitlements require
evicting current residents.
 
 Incredibly, the Building Permit application process completely ignores the existence of any current
residents at risk of eviction.  Compounding this flawed process is the fact that for current tenants to get a
public hearing prior to the Planning Department’s approval of the project requires a Request for
Discretionary Review with an expensive filing fee of $598.
 
I addressed a very similar Building Permit Application leading to the potential eviction of current tenants
for a proposed project at 2782-2786 Folsom Street in a letter to Planner Doug Vu in February, 2016.  I am
attaching that letter to this one for your reference and because the important issues and flaws in the
Building Permit Application process remain uncorrected.



 
Likewise, I am sending copies of this letter to Planning Director John Rahaim, the Planning
Commissioners and to Malia Cohen, the Supervisor whose district includes 701 Hampshire Street, so that
the Planning Department leadership and San Francisco elected officials can institute simple reforms to
prevent the eviction of people from their homes during this period of multiple crises of housing
affordability, eviction, tenant harassment and homelessness.
 
Thank you for letting me share my thoughts with you.  I look forward to your disapproval of Building
Permit Application No. 2017.0124.7741 for 701 Hampshire Street.
 
Sincerely,

Edward Stiel

Cc:          John Rahaim, Director, SF Planning Department

Supervisor Malia Cohen

 



From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Johnson, Christine (CPC); Richards, Dennis (CPC); Koppel, Joel (CPC); Moore, Kathrin (CPC); Melgar, Myrna

(CPC); Rich Hillis; Rodney Fong
Cc: Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: Serious Health Concerns re: Case No. 2014-002033ENV
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 10:27:50 AM

 
 
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
 
From: Judy Chang [mailto:judy.p.chang@gmail.com] 
Sent: Monday, January 15, 2018 9:11 PM
To: Kim, Jane (BOS); Lopez, Barbara (BOS); Li, Michael (CPC); Pollak, Josh (CPC); Vu, Doug (CPC)
Subject: Serious Health Concerns re: Case No. 2014-002033ENV
 
Supervisor Kim, 
 
The sponsor at 429 Beale/430 Main has repeatedly put designs up for review that have clearly posed a
threat to the community's health.  This person continues to submit designs that don't address the air
quality issues that the neighborhood has proven through multiple air quality reports. 
 
I hope that the Planning Department is still discouraging any design that is not a two tower design
that compliments the open space and design of neighboring BayCrest Towers at 201 Harrison
Street.
 
There are two issues here (1) that the sponsor has a complete disregard for the neighborhood's health in
the resubmission a similar design and (2) the waste of City resources for the Planning Department to
have to continue to respond to this sponsor in the same way each time.
 
Can the planning department update it's code or policies to automatically disqualify
designs that pose a similar threat, rather than wasting City resources on a status quo
process that clearly has the same environmental impacts on our district's
neighborhoods?
 
I would like to have all notices and web links to existing proposals relating to 429 Beale and 430
Main, case no. 2014-002033ENV sent to me.
 
 
There have been multiple environmental reviews completed by the City as well as our HOA
that proves that there will be increased health hazards to our communities air quality.
 
Currently the sponsor at 430 Main has obtained an air quality report for their project that shows that the
proposed design suffers from the same flaws as the proposed 2009 project. Those flaws are that the
proposed building will block sunlight and air flow to our courtyards and our living units. 
 
The current air quality report shows that there will be an increase in particulate matter 2.5 of
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between 7% and 15%.  
 
This building houses many forms of diversity including a natural diversity of birds, dragonflies,
and butterflies as well as a diverse population of people--diverse in ethnicity, age, and social
economic levels.  
 
There is no safe level of exposure to particulate matter 2.5 so any increase is extremely troubling
for health outcomes for people; especially for children, elderly and the sick.
 
Please send all documents related to the project to:
 
Judy Chang
201 Harrison Street, Unit 924
San Francisco, CA  94105
415-297-9873
judy.p.chang@gmail.com
 
Many thanks to all the City elected officials, commissioners, and employees for
their continued service and dedication to doing the right thing.
 
Judy Chang

mailto:judy.p.chang@gmail.com


From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Johnson, Christine (CPC); Richards, Dennis (CPC); Koppel, Joel (CPC); Moore, Kathrin (CPC); Melgar, Myrna

(CPC); Rich Hillis; Rodney Fong
Cc: Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: Whole Foods 365 project - 1600 Jackson Street
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 10:27:59 AM
Attachments: Whole Foods.docx

 
 
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
 
From: Helene [mailto:helene@frakesfamily.com] 
Sent: Monday, January 15, 2018 3:14 PM
To: Secretary, Commissions (CPC)
Cc: Rahaim, John (CPC); Peskin, Aaron (BOS); Foster, Nicholas (CPC)
Subject: Whole Foods 365 project - 1600 Jackson Street
 
Hello,
 
Please forward the attached letter to members of the Planning Commission.
 
Thank you.
 
Helene T. Frakes
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HELENE T. FRAKES

999 Green Street  #1704

San Francisco, CA  94133

January 12, 2018









San Francisco Planning Commission

1650 Mission Street, Suite 400

San Francisco, CA  94103

 

Re: Support for Whole Foods 365 Project



Dear Members of the Planning Commission:



My husband and I support the proposal to turn the old Lombardi Sports building into a full-service neighborhood grocery store to serve the residents of Russian Hill and adjoining neighborhoods. Approval of the project will supply one of the most basic needs of the area’s residents.



· A Whole Foods market will provide a comprehensive grocery store to supply residents’ needs. Small corner groceries and specialty food shops fill a niche, but when it comes to a major shop for groceries, they do not fill the bill. A Whole Foods will.



· [bookmark: _GoBack]Unused buildings create blight. The empty store is a visual eyesore and a sad reminder of a business failure.



· The project’s proponents are obviously well-funded, and have done their homework on the retail needs and prospects for the site and the surrounding neighborhoods. It is highly likely that the project will actually be built.



· A well-stocked grocery store with excellent public transportation will be an asset to the neighborhood.  We can easily take the 10 Townsend, 12 Pacific, or the Hyde Street cable car Muni lines to the store, and if you impose a condition of approval that the store must provide a van to take customers and their purchases home, it will be a great improvement over the way things are now—especially for seniors.



Thank you for considering our support for the Whole Foods 365 project.





Helene T. and Randal D. Frakes

415-337-1940

helene@frakesfamily.com



cc: John Rahaim, Planning Director

      Supervisor Aaron Peskin

      Nicholas Foster, Planner

     





From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Perry, Andrew (CPC)
Cc: Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: 644 Broadway/Kenneth Rexroth
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 10:38:06 AM
Attachments: IMG_2930.PNG

IMG_3001.PNG
IMG_2993.PNG

 
 
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
 
From: Johnny Kelly [mailto:johnnykelly183@gmail.com] 
Sent: Sunday, January 14, 2018 9:46 PM
To: richhillissf@yahoo.com; Richards, Dennis (CPC); Moore, Kathrin (CPC); planning@rodneyfong.com;
Melgar, Myrna (CPC); Johnson, Christine (CPC); Secretary, Commissions (CPC); Peskin, Aaron (BOS)
Subject: 644 Broadway/Kenneth Rexroth
 
To whom may concert:
 
16ys ago, if we didn't call DPW for cleaning the stinking alley,
if DPW did the cleaning for the alley, we won't be known "this
alley is an un-accept street, not a public street", we won’t be
known "SF have over 2.000 of this kind of street, owner need
to do cleaning by themselves, also owner have rights use half
of way from their front door too", since then we keep to clean
the alley by ourselves, we appreciate our supervisor  Aaron
Peskin worked with health department and DPW at the same
time...kicked out all the business trust cans, including 644
Broadway, they have to be store their cans inside of the
building and pick up in their front, their food daily deliver
need to be do in the front door also, back door is for
emergence use only,  because of supervisor helped us, our
alley can got approve from fire department to installed the new
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lock gate, we can enjoy to living in our cleaning, peace and
quiet alley...
Two and half years ago, there's two guys in the alley requested
our neighbors for the alley gate key, our neighbor said no, I
looked through my window at the time, one guy was yelling to
them:" ...we have money, we have power…", at the time I was
think "he must be a madman, the city is not yours, there's
rule"!  We never know who's this guy, until
recently watched this link:
https://chinalivesf.com/fine-dining-in-
san-francisco/
yes, he's the owner of Chinalive George Chen! He just like a bully, they want to seize our
alley, looks like everything under their control: have DPW set up meeting with us at first for
the key, said is for the construction deliver, if we don't give it to them will remove the gate; 
tell lies that’s public street in 1st hearing; our updated complaints didn’t go through to the
commissioners; they build a new wall#8 at the back, created new address 8 kenneth Rexroth as
their main entrance in our alley, 8 kenneth Rexroth that's their illegal business address,
complaint to planning department the file has been closed, they still have back door 8 kenneth
rexroth do their business 24/7...they have big events in the alley on Dec,1,2017, my neighbor
complaint to fire dept. the file closed by failed; neighbor requested for CCDC for help, the
final answer was " no record show that’s public street, if you have any problems please let the
owner Jeff Lee know", at the same time we have another neighbor got an email from one of
644 Broadway's "your neighbor xx complaint to CCDC"...the alley gate is not theirs, but they
can changed the lock without any notice in last June, Jan 2, 2018 they changed the gate color
to black color without any notice again, black color can let their 8 Kenneth Rexroth sign on
the gate easy look! Punch bar can let their guests easy to get in the alley… the alley is not
theirs, their back door is for emergence use only, but now they control the alley, the alley is
theirs, they control the alley, they do what ever they like to do, we live here feel don't feel safe
and health any more,  their business has been cause our neighbors safety and health problems,
we hope our commissioners and supervisor can help us again.  We want our alley back,their
door just for emergence use only not for business, we want our original gate back.  
 
Thank you
Johnny​

 IMG_2803.MOV

​ 
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
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 10:39:08 AM
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
Subject: FW: 744 Harrison Project
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 3:22:51 PM
Attachments: 744 Harrison DCP Letter

ASG Grant MOU 1-18

 
 
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
 
From: Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC) 
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 3:21 PM
To: CTYPLN - COMMISSION SECRETARY
Subject: FW: 744 Harrison Project
 
Hello Commissions Secretary,
 
Staff has printed 13 copies of this letter and will provide the printed copies this Thursday. The MOU
was already included into the Planning Commission’s packets. In the interim, can you please forward
this letter to the Planning Commission?
 
Thank you,
 
Esmeralda Jardines, Planner
Southeast Team, Current Planning Division
San Francisco Planning Department 
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400 San Francisco, CA 94103
Direct: 415.575.9144 | www.sfplanning.org
San Francisco Property Information Map
 
 

 

From: John Elberling [mailto:johne@todco.org] 
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 2:37 PM
To: Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC)
Cc: DPH - ttunny; Joyce Lee; Anna Yee
Subject: Re: 744 Harrison Project
 

Here is our letter.
 
From: john elberling <johne@todco.org>
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Date: Monday, January 8, 2018 at 4:27 PM
To: "Esmeralda.jardines@sfgov.org" <Esmeralda.jardines@sfgov.org>
Subject: 744 Harrison Project
 

Hi – want DCP staff to know we have made an agreement with
the project developer for a mitigation funding grant to TODCO
regarding the project’s shadow impacts on our Alice Street
Community Garden. I’ll follow up with a letter to DCP this
week. Copy of the MOU is attached with details. The amount
was calculated @ $0.50 per net new shadow foot hour for the
total annual amount of hours of shadow the project will cast
on the Gardens.
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
Subject: FW: 744 Harrison Letter of Support
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 3:22:33 PM
Attachments: 744 Harrison_Galing Bata Letter of Support.pdf

 
 
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
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 3:20 PM
To: CTYPLN - COMMISSION SECRETARY
Subject: FW: 744 Harrison Letter of Support
 
Hello Commissions Secretary,
 
Staff has printed 13 copies of this letter and will provide the printed copies this Thursday. In the
interim, can you please forward this letter to the Planning Commission?
 
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
 
 

 
From: ccconsolacion3@gmail.com [mailto:ccconsolacion3@gmail.com] On Behalf Of Charm Consolacion
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 2:52 PM
To: Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC)
Subject: 744 Harrison Letter of Support
 
Hello Ms. Jardines,
 
Please see the attached letter of support for the 744 Harrison Development. Please let me
know if you have any questions.
 
Sincerely,
 
Charm Consolacion
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
Subject: FW: 744 Harrison Street Project
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 3:22:23 PM
Attachments: 744 Harrison_FADF ltr.pdf

 
 
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
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 3:19 PM
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
 
 

 
From: bernadette.borjasy@gmail.com [mailto:bernadette.borjasy@gmail.com] On Behalf Of Bernadette
Sy
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 1:39 PM
To: Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC)
Cc: Taylor Lee
Subject: 744 Harrison Street Project
 
Good afternoon Esmeralda,
Attached please find a letter of support for the 744 Harrison Project from the Filipino-
American Development Foundation.
Bernadette Sy
 
--
Bernadette Borja Sy
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Executive Director
Filipino-American Development
Foundation/Bayanihan Community
Center
1010 Mission Street, Suite B
San Francisco, CA 94103
T 415.348.8042
F 415.974.0349
Email: bernadette@bayanihancc.org
Website: www.bayanihancc.org
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
Subject: FW: Political Activity by City Officers and Employees
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 2:21:03 PM
Attachments: Political Activity 2018.pdf

 
 
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
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 2:14 PM
To: Quesada, Amy (PRT); Valdez, Anthony (ENV); Ballard, Krista (HSA); Badasow, Bridget (HSA) (DSS);
Chan, Donald (REG); Varner, Christina (RNT); Stewart, Crystal (ADM); Vaughn, Carla (PUC); Mauer, Dan
(REC); Hood, Donna (PUC); dwanekennedy@gmail.com; Nelson, Eric (ADM); Ethics Commission, (ETH);
Gannon, Lori (HRC); Cantara, Gary (BOA); Larrick, Herschell (WOM); Jean Caramatti (AIR); Norris,
Jennifer (WAR); Ionin, Jonas (CPC); Austin, Kate (ADM); Kilshaw, Rachael (POL); LaCroix, Leah (BOS);
Scott, Laini (HSS); lhathhorn@asianart.org; Rainey, Louise (HSA); McArthur, Margaret (REC); Morewitz,
Mark (DPH); martinl@sfha.org; Conefrey, Maureen (FIR); Mahajan, Menaka (ECN); Brown, Michael
(CSC); Hewitt, Nadya (REG); Nickens, Norm (RET); OCII, CommissionSecretary (CII); Gerber, Patricia
(CPC); Silva-Re, Pauline (JUV); Polk, Zoe (HRC); Pon, Adrienne (ADM); Fontes, Portia (ECN); Tom, Risa
(POL); Boomer, Roberta (MTA); Blackman, Sue (LIB); SFVACSECRETARY@gmail.com ; Page_Ritchie,
Sharon (ART); Shore, Elena (ADM); Harris, Sonya (DBI); Tristan Wyatt (tristanwyattsfvac@gmail.com)
Subject: FW: Political Activity by City Officers and Employees
 
Good afternoon,
Please make sure your Commissioners and Board Members receive this updated memo from the
City Attorney’s Office on rules governing political activities. 
Thanks!
Francis
 
Francis Tsang
Deputy Chief of Staff
Office of the Mayor
City and County of San Francisco
415.554.6467 | francis.tsang@sfgov.org
 
 

From: Feitelberg, Brittany (CAT) [mailto:Brittany.Feitelberg@sfcityatty.org] 
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 2:08 PM
Subject: Political Activity by City Officers and Employees
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Please find attached the updated Political Activity Memorandum, which describes the rules
governing political activities by City employees and officers. The Memo can also be found on
the City Attorney’s website, under the Legal Opinions tab at:
https://www.sfcityattorney.org/legalopinions/
 
 
Thank you,
 
Brittany Kneebone Feitelberg

-------------------------------------------------------------
OFFICE OF CITY ATTORNEY DENNIS HERRERA
San Francisco City Hall, Room 234
1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place
San Francisco, California 94102-4682
brittany.feitelberg@sfcityatty.org * (Note new email address)
(415) 554-4748 Direct
(415) 554-4700 Reception
(415) 554-4715 Facsimile
 

https://www.sfcityattorney.org/legalopinions/
mailto:brittany.feitelberg@sfcityatty.org


From: Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC)
To: Moore, Kathrin (CPC)
Cc: CTYPLN - COMMISSION SECRETARY
Subject: 590 Leland Avenue 2014.0936DRP
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 6:19:47 PM
Attachments: 2014.0936DRP revised drawings condensed.pdf

590 Leland Changes to Architectural Drawings.pdf

Hello Commissioner Moore,
 
Thank you so much for the call this afternoon! The aforementioned square footages of the proposed
homes along Raymond and Leland Avenue are provided on the first page of the DR Full Analysis
included in the CPC Packets and are as follows:
 
590 Leland Avenue Project Square Footages:
 
579 Raymond Avenue: 3,456 SF;
583 Raymond Avenue: 3,706 SF;
589 Raymond Avenue: 3706 SF;
586 Leland Avenue: 3,506 SF;
596 Leland Avenue: 4,372 SF;
 
I have asked the project team to re-confirm these are still the most current square footages; if not, I
will provide that information upon receipt.
 
I sincerely apologize for the repetitive Planning Commission case packet. I wanted to include the
previous CPC packet for reference and thus, the first 217 pages are materials you all have already
seen last year excluding the updates to Staff’s DR analysis; I understand how that may have led to
some confusion.
 
For ease of reference, the revised architectural plan sets as well as a summary of the changes that
have been made from January 2017 (first DR hearing) to January 2018 are attached to this email. All
of these materials are in the CPC Packet that was published for January 18, 2018. Commissions
Secretary, could you please also forward this to the entire Planning Commission?

Please confirm receipt of this email and do let me know if you have any further inquiries or if I can be
of assistance.
 
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
 
 

 

mailto:Esmeralda.Jardines@sfgov.org
mailto:kathrin.moore@sfgov.org
mailto:CPC.COMMISSIONSECRETARY@sfgov.org
http://www.sfplanning.org/
http://propertymap.sfplanning.org/
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590 Leland Summaries of Changes to Architectural Drawings 
January 9, 2018 
 
Each individual new house architectural drawing set was updated to provide more information 
on the new house and the relative location of each house to the project site and to show the 
proximity of the SF City Property and location of the uphill Visitacion Avenue. 
  
Delineation of Project Site Boundaries and Proximity to Adjacent SF City Property and 
Visitacion Avenue 
An aerial satellite site photograph and Sanborn building block map was added to each set of 
drawings to better locate the proximity of the project site to the neighborhood and the relative 
location to SF City property and Visitacion Avenue at Sheets A0.1. 
 
Detailed Site Plan Provided Showing Existing Church Building 
Sheet A0.2 is provided in each set of drawings.  This drawing shows the existing church building 
to be demolished.  Site contours, existing concrete walkways, bolder property lines, adjacent 
buildings are shown to give a detailed description of the existing site conditions. 
 
Revised Color Site Plan Indicating the Five (5) Proposed Houses and which specific house 
the plan set is in reference 
Sheet A0.3 is an updated color site plan showing five (5) separate houses on the project site and 
which house the specific architectural drawing set is in reference.  Bolder property lines 
delineate the project site boundaries and the relative location from SF City Property and the 
uphill Visitacion Avenue.  Landscaping is shown on this site plan to indicate how the site will be 
planted and screen from the west adjacent SF City Property.  Measured distances are shown on 
the site plan to Visitacion Avenue.  The Glen Eagles International Golf Course is shown. 
 
This site plan also shows how the proposed project reinforces the established mid-block rear yard 
pattern for this neighborhood. 
 
Floor Plans have been revised to comply with SF Planning Code 136 on allowable 
projections and the ten foot (10’) wide garage doors 
Sheets A2.0 and A2.1 show how each individual five (5) single family homes now comply with 
the SF Planning Code bay window requirements with side window on bays, and all projecting 
balcony opening. 
 
Computer Street Renderings delinate the street address of each house and has a design 
concept summary       
Sheet R1 has a computer generated street rendering showing the proposed single family homes in 
a photomontage with the existing adjacent homes.  Each house address is labeled and a short 
summary of the design concept of each façade is provided below each building address.  The 
street renderings show the relative proportions of the new homes to the existing adjacent homes 
and sidewalk/front setback landscaping. 
 
 
 







590 Leland Summaries of Changes, January 9, 2018      
Page 2 of 3 
 
 
Street Elevation Drawing show a combined new building façades for all homes on both 
Leland and Raymond Avenues 
Sheet A3.0 shows the new combined street façade buildings of the project site.  Below is an 
existing photograph of the same elevation to show how the new building facades will integrate 
into the streetscape. 
Rear Building Elevation now shows combined new building facades for all homes on both 
Leland and Raymond Avenues  
Sheet A3.1 now shows a combined rear building elevation facades.  This drawing now shows 
how the building is situated among all the adjacent new homes.  The Leland Avenue rear façade 
show how the uphill slope has the rear yard at the second floor living level.  The Raymond 
Avenue rear façade shows how the building steps down the hill and the mass is broken up to 
minimize the rear façade building bulk. 
 
There is approximately a forty foot (40’) difference between the lowest Leland Avenue sidewalk 
curb to the highest Raymond Avenue sidewalk curb location. 
 
Detailed Color Landscape Plans are not provided to indicate new site landscaping, 
landscaping to screen the new homes and the new horizontal willow wood fence at the west 
property line 
Sheet L2 landscape drawing shows the Leland and Raymond Avenue street facades with the 
proposed street trees, front setback landscaping, and the 589 Raymond house west side yard 
landscaping and horizontal willow wood fence facing Raymond Street. 
 
598 Leland and 589 Raymond Avenue sets of architectural drawings have a Detailed Color 
Landscaping Elevation and a Rendering from Visitacion Avenue showing the view of the 
proposed project site from the SF City Property and the uphill Visitacion Avenue 
Sheet L3 show the west property line of the site with the new horizontal willow wood fence at 
the property line, new site landscaping to screen the proposed west facades of the 598 Leland 
house and 589 Raymond house and the proposed rear yard landscaping.  This image also shows 
the downhill slope from Raymond to Leland Avenue.  
 
Sheet L4 is a landscape rendering photo montage.  This image shows how the 589 Raymond and 
598 Leland houses will be seen from Visitacion Avenue with the new horizontal willow wood 
fence at the property line and the proposed west side yard landscaping to screen the buildings 
from the SF City Property. 
 
Design Concept for the Single Family Homes 
The two (2) new Leland Avenue homes were designed to take advantage of the uphill site and 
having the rear yard at the second level.  The main second floor living level has a living room, 
dining area, informal family room, kitchen and bedroom.  The rear yard is accessible directly 
from this level.  The upper floor has three (3) bedrooms and is setback from the second floor to 
reduce the street façade massing.   







590 Leland Summaries of Changes, January 9, 2018      
Page 3 of 3 
 
 
Both buildings have cement plaster and Hardie plank siding to create materials variation on the 
façade and enhance the massing changes.  Different materials are used on the front planes of the 
building to create visual variety and interests.  Bay windows and projecting balconies were used 
to break-up the street façade massing and create a more single family facade scale.  Dark colored 
aluminum windows are used to frame the façade opening and reduce the solid planes facing the 
street. 
 
The three (3) new Raymond Avenue homes were design take advantage of the southern exposure 
and views over Visitacion Valley and the southern hills.  A family room is located behind the 
garage for informal use and storage. The second floor is the main living area with a living room, 
kitchen, dining area, family area and bedroom(s).  The third floor has bedrooms and bathrooms. 
The 579 Raymond Avenue third floor massing adjacent to the existing east 575 Raymond house 
has been reduces and setback to minimize the visual impact to the adjacent existing home. 
 
The street facades on Raymond Avenue have been designed to modulate the twenty-five foot 
(25’) wide street facades typical for this single family home neighborhood.  The façade has been 
setback at the third level both horizontally and vertically to reduce the massing at the street and 
create more façade variation.  All building entries are recessed with a short stoop entrance to 
create more pedestrian scale at the street.  Cement plaster and Hardiplank siding are used on the 
building façade to delineate the various window openings and planes.  Horizontal bands are 
created at the roof lines to reduce the height profile from the street and break up the massing.  
Bay windows are also used to break up the street façade massing.  Dark colored aluminum 
windows are used to create larger window openings at the main living levels and smaller 
openings at the sleeping levels.  
 
Specific Changes to Individual Houses 
The 596 and 598 Leland Avenue exterior Street facing second floor balconies had the side walls 
removed and replaced with open metal railings.  This was done to have the balconies comply 
with the SF Planning Code Section 136 permitted projections criteria. 
 
The 579, 583 and 589 Raymond Avenue street facing second level bay windows were modified.  
0.5’x 7’-0” Side windows (90 degrees from the street) were added to each bay window to make 
these bays in compliance with SF Planning Code Section 136 permitted projections criteria and 
the area of openings required for bay windows. 
 
The 579, 583 and 589 Raymond Avenue garage doors were narrowed from twelve feet (12’) in 
width to ten feet (10’).  This caused the ground floor garage to be redesigned from side-by-side 
parking to tandem parking.  The garage was extended into the ground floor plan causing an 
approximate net loss of 55 square feet of living area to each of the 579, 583 and 589 Raymond 
Avenue houses.  







From: Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC)
To: mooreurban@aol.com
Cc: CTYPLN - COMMISSION SECRETARY
Subject: 590 Leland Avenue 2014.0936DRP
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 6:13:30 PM
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
seen last year excluding the updates to Staff’s analysis; I understand how that may have led to some
confusion.
 
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
To: John Elberling
Cc: DPH - ttunny; Joyce Lee; Anna Yee; CTYPLN - COMMISSION SECRETARY
Subject: RE: 744 Harrison Project
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 3:22:47 PM

Hello John,
 
Thank you for submitting this. You previously provided the MOU which has already been included in
the Planning Commission’s packets. Is this a revised MOU that will supersede the previous one?
Please confirm. If not, then I will print copies of the letter to submit to the Planning Commission this
Thursday.
 
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
mailto:johne@todco.org
mailto:/o=ExchangeLabs/ou=Exchange Administrative Group (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/cn=Recipients/cn=bbdf594464444cd6be4c5a9e90bb9015-DPH - ttunn
mailto:joyce@todco.org
mailto:ayee@todco.org
mailto:CPC.COMMISSIONSECRETARY@sfgov.org
http://www.sfplanning.org/
http://propertymap.sfplanning.org/
mailto:johne@todco.org
mailto:Esmeralda.jardines@sfgov.org
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
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 3:21:06 PM
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
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 3:19:36 PM
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
Date: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 3:18:45 PM
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
Cc: Son, Chanbory (CPC); Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC)
Subject: FW: Comment relevant to item 15, Jan,18 2108 Agenda
Date: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 9:03:37 AM
Attachments: Commissioners letter 1 2018.pdf

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

-----Original Message-----
From: James Growden [mailto:jimgrowden@gmail.com]
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 6:53 PM
To: Secretary, Commissions (CPC)
Cc: ljshaffer1
Subject: Comment relevant to item 15, Jan,18 2108 Agenda

Mr. Ionin,

Please accept the attached document as comment relevant to item 15, case 2014.0936DRP, in section F on the
Commission Agenda for Jan, 18, 2018, and circulate it to all Commissioners.

Thank you.

Fran Martin

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
mailto:jimgrowden@gmail.com



Planning Commissioners 
Re: 590 Leland, case no. 2014.0936DRP 
For DR hearing continuation, scheduled for Jan. 18, 2018 
 
January 16, 2018 
 
Planning Commissioners: 
 
The 590 Leland DR is on your agenda for this Thursday, January 18, 2018. In advance of the 
meeting, I am sending you this letter to address some of our community’s issues. 
 
VIEWS: 
San Francisco’s General Plan frequently and clearly states that view corridors from public open 
space must be preserved for the common good.  
 
The examples cited in the staff report do not fully state what is written in the General Plan 
concerning views. The following quotes taken from the General Plan better illustrate the 
intention to protect views than those quoted by staff: 
 
SUPPORTIVE ELEMENTS IN THE GENERAL PLAN 
INTRODUCTION 
 Priority Policies: The San Francisco General Plan is designed as a guide to the 
attainment of the following general goals: 
 4) That our parks and open space and their access to sunlight and vistas be 
protected from development. 


ROSE:GUIDING PRINCIPLES FOR OPEN SPACE AND RECREATION       POLICY 1.10 
 Providing clear sightlines, where appropriate. 


URBAN DESIGN ELEMENT: City Pattern                                               OBJECTIVE 1;  …San 
Francisco has an image and character in its city pattern, which depend especially upon 
views, topography, streets, building form and major landscaping. 


URBAN DESIGN ELEMENT:Opportunity for Recreation 
  POLICY 4.8…The more visible the recreation space is in each neighborhood, the 
more it will be appreciated and used. 
 …Outlooks upon a pleasant and varied pattern provide for an extension of 
individual consciousness and personality, and give a comforting sense of living with the 
environment. 
 
URBAN DESIGN ELEMENT/Image and Character 
POLICY 1.1  Recognize and protect major views in the city, with particular attention to 
those of open space and water. 


Overlooks and other viewpoints for appreciation of the city and its environs should be 
protected and supplemented, by limitation of buildings and other obstructions where 
necessary and by establishment of new viewpoints at key locations. 


 







The developer criticized our visual rendition of the impact of the project’s massing on the view 
corridor from McLaren Park and for not having professional photos. Community members in 
neglected, disadvantaged neighborhoods lack the wherewithal to hire lawyers and professional 
photographers. We created an illustration using the best information we had at our disposal. As 
it turns out with the developer’s new plans, the result is basically the same. Views from McLaren 
Park of the Bay, Visitacion Valley and San Bruno Mountain will be totally obstructed by the 590 
Leland Project, particularly by those buildings on Raymond Avenue. From Raymond Avenue 
and inside McLaren Park from Visitacion Valley Middle School (VVMS) to the Community 
Garden, views to the south and east will be lost to the public in the City’s second largest park. 
From within McLaren Park below and adjacent to the project, looking north and east, views will 
be obstructed. Setbacks only help alleviate the massing from the street - they do not change the 
overall loss of views. 
 
The developer’s photos of the nearest view corridor are taken far up the steep hill (1/2 mile more 
or less) from the site on Visitacion Avenue, not where the middle school children, nearby 
residents and seniors walk on a daily basis. 
 
Department staff states “The Department finds that the Project is not located in a view corridor 
protected by the General Plan”.    Why are we not protected? How was that decision originally 
made in the General Plan? Staff further cites the Planning Department’s Street Areas Important 
to Urban Design and Views map and the Quality of Street Views map, which rates street 
qualities as Excellent, Good or Average. The map is highly questionable, as well as unreadable. 
The City’s Excellent and Good streets are concentrated in the north and west. There is a dearth 
of Excellent or Good Streets in the entire Southeast and few in Visitacion Valley – a 
preponderance are rated Average. Is this highly subjective study biased and/or poorly 
executed? Does it reflect its original authors’ attitude about the aesthetic shortcomings of the 
southern sector of the City? Whatever the case, it makes sense to encourage views whenever 
possible. We do suffer from a lack of views, so why not encourage those that do exist? If those 
neighborhoods in the North have beautiful views, why can’t we? 
 
Furthermore to quote the Full Analysis: ”the 590 Leland Avenue Project is not in the immediate 
vicinity of areas identified with “Important Views”. The nearest “Important View” is more than 
5,000 feet away, as shown in the map titled “General Plan Urban Design Element-­‐‑Important 
Views…. The aforementioned maps do not demonstrate a loss of view corridors from all angles 
nor is 590 Leland Avenue identified as an area of importance per the General Plan.”         
 
There it is in black and white  - the Planning Department has determined that the nearest 
“Important View” in Visitacion Valley is nearly a mile away. The result is that it makes it easier 
for developers to build wherever they want in the southeast without consideration of view 
corridors that impact adjacent public open space. It is a catch-22 situation – you have no views, 
therefore you are not allowed to have any. This is yet another instance of aesthetic injustice 
encouraged by the City in Visitacion Valley.  
 
Undeniably, the proposed 590 Leland development destroys views from McLaren Park of San 
Bruno Mountain and the Bay. It is a particularly grievous offense, as it is the only open space 
that has public views in an area of low-income children, families and seniors.  
 
 
 







COMMUNITY PLANNING AND PROCESS: 
The recent McLaren Park Community Visioning Process identified preservation of views as a 
primary goal.  Again the 590 Leland project is contrary to that Vision Plan’s goals. (See photo 
#1: McLaren Park Visioning plan of Community Garden without 590 Leland Development, but 
showing landscaping north of the Community Garden as envisioned in community process) 
 
As to the Rec/Park Department’s not being concerned about the 590 Development, there are 
those in the Department, as well as landscape architects, who support preserving the integrity of 
the strip of land from VVMS to Hahn Avenue for environmental reasons and the greater public 
good. Historically, Rec/Park staff, as well as community members thought that the Raymond 
portion of the site was Rec/Park property. Whenever there was a problem, Rec/Park was called 
to fix it. The public traversed it routinely and thought they were in McLaren Park. 
 
Our concerns about the 590 Leland development focus on the integrity and continuity of the strip 
of land from VVMS to Hahn Avenue, particularly from Leland to Raymond Avenue, on the 
eastern side of Visitacion Avenue. The long overdue facilities planned by Mercy Housing and 
Rec/Park Department for the western edge of Visitacion and Hahn are separate situations that 
will take many years to complete, but will eventually be linked to the pathway and open space 
we are trying to enhance and preserve.  
Several years ago the Planning Department held the Eastern Neighborhoods Master Planning 
process. Originally, Visitacion Valley was included, but was dropped without notice or reason. 
As a consequence, we suffer from piecemeal, un-coordinated planning that has been an 
ongoing problem for our community. Given what has since passed, denying Visitacion Valley a 
master plan might be construed as a purposeful, strategic plan to use our neighborhood for 
whatever the rest of the City does not want in more affluent neighborhoods.  
 
SHADOWS:  
The staff analysis does not take into account Rec/Park’s future landscaping improvements for 
the entire area from VVMS to Hahn Avenue. The open space landscaping will not be composed 
of ruderal vegetation, but native plants along the main pathway south from the middle school. 
The block from Leland Avenue to Raymond Avenue will have landscaped open space that will 
be in significant shadows a good portion of the day, regardless of the 590 Leland buildings’ 
heights.  
Although the proposed building height is less than 40‘ high, in reality the shadow impact on 
public parkland will be as significant as a building more than 40’ high. 
 
The existing church is 37’ tall. However, since it stands significantly lower on the Leland Avenue 
side, it does not block views or create significant shadows. Its spire is tall, but the roof of the 
building is just a little above the higher ground level on Raymond Avenue. The developer’s 
building proposal on Raymond is much higher than the church below and will cast shadows all 
the way to Visitacion Avenue. The native plants there will be at risk. 
 
SITE ACQUISITION:  
We have never mentioned eminent domain. Our main concern is that the land not be built upon, 
particularly on the Raymond side. If the land were to be sold there is possible financing with the 
Vis Valley Developer’s Fee, which by the way, the Visitacion Valley Planning Alliance initiated 
and was put into effect by former Supervisor Sophie Maxwell. Currently, we have the support of 
our current Supervisor, Malia Cohen, in our efforts to save open space at the 590 Leland site. 
 
 







The former longtime church tenants, a church congregation and non-profit, ROCK, did not want 
the site to be sold by its owners. Also, there has never been construction on the upper level at 
Raymond Avenue, hence the remaining lovely views. 
 
ACCESSIBILITY: 
Historically, there has been a steady diminution of McLaren Park, which used to extend to 
Bayshore Boulevard. In the recent past, public parkland was sold to developers and housing 
has been built on private property adjacent to McLaren Park. Thus, over the years, a fortress of 
housing, as well as schools and senior housing, has been built directly adjacent to McLaren 
Park denying easy access and visibility to our community, which highlights the importance of 
salvaging a last remnant of open space at 590 Leland. 
 
NATURAL HABITATS AND ENVIRONMENT: 
The Environmental Science Associates (ESA) study is inaccurate in that it states that there is no 
evidence of the locally rare Croton californicus west of the 590 Leland site. As stated in the staff 
report: 
“No contiguous and substantial habitat for any rare or endangered plant or animal 
species is located on or adjacent to the Project site.(Pg 12) .” 
On the contrary - There is a significant grouping of the Croton at the property line at the 
northwestern edge of the site, which is in peril of being destroyed by lack of sunlight created by 
the shadows from the development on Raymond Avenue. The Croton needs a sandy sunlit 
environment to survive. On the northern side of Raymond Avenue there is more evidence of the 
Croton. Another specimen on the site is gone, now covered by a pile of dirt. Naturalists, as well 
as community members have seen these specimens in the past. 
 
What clearly remains is the ecologically significant easternmost sand dune in San Francisco and 
McLaren Park. In the City’s drive to build housing at the expense of open space and 
preservation of rare, biogeographically critical areas, we are losing our natural history, habitat 
and biodiversity. 
 
SIDEWALK AND PATHWAY: 
The plans for the 590 site at the northwestern edge does not give adequate clearance for the 
sidewalk and pathway that are proposed to be built parallel to each other from VVMS south. 
They will be used on a daily basis by children living at Sunnydale and elsewhere in the Valley. 
The developer’s illustrations and distances indicate a narrow space at the northern edge of the 
site and no sidewalk. This pathway constitutes a portion of the main public passageway 
encircling the entirety of McLaren Park to provide Park Connectivity as identified in the recent 
McLaren Park Visioning Plan. The narrowest portion of the entire main path system will be at 
the intersection of Raymond and Visitacion Avenues, if the 590 Leland development goes 
forward. (See photo # 2 :  McLaren Park Visioning Plan: Connectivity - Paths and Trails) 
 
Due to soil instability where the Raymond Avenue turnaround meets the higher Visitacion 
Avenue, the area must be shored up and a portion of the turnaround needs to be altered to 
accommodate both a sidewalk and pathway to allow safe passage from one side of the street to 
the other. As far as the community knows, there have been no plans or discussion between 
Planning and Rec/Park about how this will happen. Perhaps the Planning Department and 
developer are unaware of the situation, since no solution is provided. City departments are not 
communicating despite many requests from us for clarification. If DPW has to alter the 
turnaround at the end of Raymond for safe public passage, what will be the effect on the overall 
design, number of available parking spaces and, most importantly, safety? 







BARRIERS: 
The proposed development physically juts into parkland, visually forming a barrier compromising 
the only eastern pathway and open space along Visitacion Avenue for children walking from 
VVMS south to their homes, including those living in the Sunnydale project. We are concerned 
about safety issues where the open space will be considerably narrowed and a blind spot will be 
created on public parkland.  
 
FINAL COMMENTS: 
The City is not adhering to its own policies in the General Plan’s ROSE. Issues of shadows, 
views, obstruction of public accessibility and parkland continuity and integrity are not taken 
seriously. The focus is on housing to the exclusion of much needed public amenities, such as 
open space. The Planning Department should look at the entire Visitacion Valley neighborhood 
and think holistically about creating a healthy community, particularly in a high needs 
neighborhood that is expecting 5,000 – 10,000 new units of housing in the near future.  
(See Photo # 3: Our Open Space Advocates) 
 
This project adds no value  - it only diminishes our neighborhood. This is truly shameful 
treatment of a community that has embraced high-density housing that other neighborhoods 
reject. It highlights the disdain that the City has for our children and greater community.  
 
What kind of lesson about environmental, social and aesthetic justice is San Francisco teaching 
our children and the rest of our underserved community? 


 
Thank you. 
 
Fran Martin 
 
Visitacion Valley Planning Alliance 
186 Arleta Avenue 
San Francisco, CA 94134 
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From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: 701 Hampshire Proposal - Objection Letter
Date: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 9:10:34 AM
Attachments: SCALE AND PRIVACY IMPACT FOR NEIGHBORING BUILDINGS.docx

ATT00001.htm

 
 
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
 
From: Dobner, Nina [mailto:ndobner@ea.com] 
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 5:48 PM
To: richhillissf@gmail.com; Richards, Dennis (CPC); planning@rodneyfong.com; Johnson, Christine
(CPC); Koppel, Joel (CPC); Melgar, Myrna (CPC); Moore, Kathrin (CPC); Secretary, Commissions (CPC);
Samonsky, Ella (CPC); Samonsky, Ella (CPC); Board of Supervisors, (BOS);
richhi@eaOffice.onmicrosoft.com
Cc: Dobner Nina; Dobner Nina
Subject: 701 Hampshire Proposal - Objection Letter
 
Hi, this letter and attachment are to accompany the DR filed by the tenants union of 701
Hampshire.
 
I am the owner of the property directly next door (2525 19th Street).
 
This proposal takes away natural light from my living area.  The
architect drawings do not take into account the set-back/lightwell
or show the removal of all natural light from my downstairs
living area, or the unit below me.  There is complete loss of
privacy to my bedroom and bathroom, plus loss of light there,
too.   It will also look directly into my 2-year old daughters
bedroom.  Proposal will also complete remove my view (of
downtown and Golden Gate Bridge) and natural light and fresh
air to my upstairs and  downstairs window.) My house was built
in 1897 and I have owned and lived in it for 17 years.”
 
You can see multiple photos of my skylights and windows and
the setback here:
https://www.smugmug.com/gallery/n-GP297N

mailto:commissions.secretary@sfgov.org
mailto:Chanbory.Son@sfgov.org
mailto:jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
http://www.sfplanning.org/
https://www.smugmug.com/gallery/n-GP297N

SCALE AND PRIVACY IMPACT FOR NEIGHBORING BUILDINGS

Current view of 2525 19th Street and 701 Hampshire St:

[image: Macintosh HD:Users:fieber:Downloads:Plans 06.jpg]

The proposed top floor expansion is massive and next door neighbors have concerns of how it will affects their own home at 2525 19th Street next door. 2525 19th  street includes top floor attic rooms which already suffer diminution due to the slope the Victorian’s roof. The installation of sunlight domes and windows create natural light and an expanded sense of space in these rooms. (figures 4 and 5)

[image: Macintosh HD:Users:fieber:Downloads:IMG_7433.jpg][image: Macintosh HD:Users:fieber:Downloads:IMG_7432.jpg]







If 701 Hampshire increases in height these rooms will shade out their skylights creating a dark and dreary space and loss of privacy. (figure 6 below shows shadow pattern caused by proposed plans)

[image: Macintosh HD:Users:fieber:Downloads:shade.png]

SUMMARY

The proposed plans with expansion oppose the Objectives and Policies of the General Plan in several ways so the plans should be rejected:

HOUSING ELEMENT OBJECTIVE 2: Retain existing housing units, and promote safety and maintenance standards, without jeopardizing affordability.

Policy 2.1 Discourage the demolition of sound existing housing, unless the demolition results in a net increase in affordable housing.

HOUSING ELEMENT OBJECTIVE 3: Protect the affordability of the existing housing stock, especially rental units.

2. Explain how this project would cause unreasonable impacts...to your property and/or the properties of others.

This project impacts the neighboring property at 2525 19th Street in ways which have already been described above. If approved, it would also signal to other investors who purchase buildings with existing tenants that they can remove tenants through renovations and be rewarded with large profits with very little pushback by the Planning Department who is tasked with preserving affordable housing.
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The architect plans here are not accurate.  They do not show the
light/shadow impact to my downstairs liveable area or the into
under my house (separate tenant), because they do not show the
set-back/lightwell.  Over the past 2 years, I have met with the
architect and owners several times and they have made no
meaningful changes.
 
In addition, they have tried to do an OMI, and  claim to live in the
building, but the current tenants told me that they do not.
 
I am not against the project, if these changes could be made:
- No additional story/height
- no eviction of current tenants
- All existing tenants either moved or rehoused during renovation
and moved back in afterwards (if they want to)
- no loss of my liveable light
- no loss of parking space in the neighbourhood
- quiet hours during the early mornings, evening, and weekends.
 
Multiple neighbours do not support this project and want to
attend meetings.  Many have emailed Ella, so you should have all
of our contact details or can contact Calle 24.  We all want to
attend.
 
Thank you. 
 
Nina Dobner
Cell: 415-370-4190
2525 19th St., SF, CA 94110
NinaDobner@gmail.com

mailto:NinaDobner@gmail.com


From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Johnson, Christine (CPC); Richards, Dennis (CPC); Koppel, Joel (CPC); Moore, Kathrin (CPC); Melgar, Myrna

(CPC); Rich Hillis; Rodney Fong
Cc: Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC); Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: Comment relevant to item 15, Jan. 18, 2018 Agenda
Date: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 9:13:06 AM
Attachments: Planning Commissioners1-18-18.docx

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
From: Linda Shaffer [mailto:ljshaffer1@comcast.net]
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2018 5:23 PM
To: Secretary, Commissions (CPC)
Cc: Fran Martin
Subject: Comment relevant to item 15, Jan. 18, 2018 Agenda

Mr. Ionin,

Please accept the attached document  as comment from me relevant to item 15, relevant to case 2014.0936DRP, in
section F on the Commission’s Agenda  for Jan. 18, 2018, and circulate it to all Commissioners.

I regret that I cannot attend the hearing due to a conflict with a previously scheduled medical procedure.

Thank you,

Linda Shaffer

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
mailto:ljshaffer1@comcast.net

Planning Commissioners		



Re: 590 Leland, case no. 2014.0936DRP

        For DR hearing continuation, scheduled for Jan. 18., 2018



Commissioners:		



I write once again to express my opposition to the development project proposed for the parcel of land (now subdivided into 5 parcels) known as 590 Leland, located between Raymond and Leland Aves. next to Visitacion Ave., in Visitacion Valley.



My reasons for opposing the project fall into two categories, each addressed separately below.  I also add rebuttals for two statements made at the initial Discretionary Review hearing, held on Jan. 12, 2017, and then repeated in the supporting material submitted for this continuation.



(1)  Adverse effects on neighborhood --  loss of views from public park land, loss of badly needed open space, environmental justice



	Two land areas adjacent to the site -- one directly across Raymond to the north and one directly across Leland to the south --  as well as a strip of land connecting the two, are all part of McLaren Park.  (For a long time, the parcel referred to as 590 Leland was also thought to be part of McLaren Park – indeed, some Recreation and Parks Department (RPD) personnel who occasionally provided maintenance on the site were very surprised to learn that it was not RPD property!)  Neither RPD’s website nor images provided via Google show that these areas east of Visitacion Ave. are part of the Park, but they are [see map on p. 6 of the McLaren Park Vision Plan, available at http://sfrecpark.org/wp-content/uploads/Item-7-McLaren-Vision-Plan-Attachments-111617.pdf].   The areas are left-over remnants of a much bigger area once meant to be part of McLaren Park, on which housing was built instead.



	Expansive views to the south that currently may be enjoyed from the part of McLaren Park to the north of the site will be essentially blocked by the 3-story houses the developer proposes to construct on Raymond Ave.  A photo on page 28 of the supporting materials for this hearing clearly shows both the view that would be lost and how disingenuous it is for anyone to argue that because the proposed housing is no taller than the church, they would not have any effect on the view.  The site is steeply upsloping as one goes from Leland up to Raymond.  As is obvious, the church closer to Leland is at a much lower elevation that  site of the proposed housing on Raymond.  Imagine 3 more houses, taller than the one visible on the left of the photo, occupying that land along the street.  Of course the view will be blocked!



	The undesirability of such a loss of views is addressed in both the Recreation and Open Space Element (ROSE) and the Urban Design Element of the city’s General Plan.   I refer you to Ms. Fran Martin’s extensive discussions of this issue.  I understand that this particular view is not considered “important” from a city-wide perspective.   It is ALL-important to residents of this neighborhood.  Surely that is what should matter.



	This is a neighborhood with a severe lack of open space.  On a map, it looks like the bulk of McLaren Park would qualify as open space for the neighborhood, but looks can be deceiving.  As has been explained quite thoroughly elsewhere, unlike the case for much of the Portola and Crocker Amazon neighborhoods, there is no real access to the Park from this part of Vis Valley.  Assume a person could get across Visitacion Ave. without being run over, and then clamber up the steep hill into the Park area.  He or she would find him/herself in the Gleneagles Golf Course.  That is not access to useful open space.  The loss of access to the land at 590 Leland, which is an important portion of their accessible open space, is a big deal.



	It is so clear to me that the land at 590 Leland should be preserved as open space for the neighborhood.   Because there is no rule on the books specifying that if privately owned land located next to RPD property comes on the market, RPD should have first right of refusal (WHY ISN’T THERE SUCH A RULE?), land that no one knew was privately owned until it came on the market unexpectedly, was sold before the neighborhood had a chance to act to preserve it.  The developer claims that constructing 5 units of housing is the most valuable use of the land.  I would argue that in this case, preserving the land as open space is an even more valuable use.   Among other things, it is a matter of environmental justice.



(2)  Environmental Issues



	There is, separately, the matter of the nature of the landscape on the site, and the issue of whether or not a full environmental review should be required.  In response to concerns raised by members of the California Native Plant Society, expressed in a letter written by Dr. Michael Vasey, further environmental assessment was ordered.  Apparently, ESA, who performed part of that assessment, could find neither of two rare plants that Dr. Vasey found on or near the site.  This is extremely odd, given that Ms. Fran Martin recently went to look, and easily located a California Croton plant, still exactly where Dr. Vasey saw it as detailed in his letter.  I also question whether anyone from Environmental Planning has addressed the issue of the rare sand dune habitat that Dr. Vasey (to his surprise) found on the site.  It is certainly not mentioned in the Department’s response on page 15.



	The environmental assessment that has been performed is still inadequate. 



*******************************************************************************	
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Rebuttal of statements made during the initial DR hearing on Jan, 12, 2017 and then repeated in materials submitted for the continuation on Jan 18, 2018.



A.  Statement by a representative of the developer:  “The five private parcels that comprise the 15,659 square feet Project site have been home to an 8,416 square feet church building since 1954.  The congregation voluntarily chose to sell the site in 2014, making possible the proposed Project.”  [source: p. 9 of the supporting materials]



	The second sentence above is not true.  A church’s congregation did sell the land, but it was not that of the historic church located on the site.  As a little online research easily shows, the church that owned and sold the land is the Jones Memorial United Methodist Church located at 1975 Post St. in the Fillmore, and they sold the land at auction in 2014 to clear a lien from the SF Water Department, not an action I would describe as voluntary.  

	I am told that when the members of the congregation who had been using the historic church building on the site learned the land and building had been sold and they were being evicted, they were totally shocked.  

	The representative of the developer who made and has now repeated that statement either cannot tell one predominantly African American church or congregation from another, or doesn’t care about the truth.  I don’t know which is worse.



B.  Statements by a representative of the developer made in Jan. 2017 and then by Environmental Planning in these materials:  “SF Rec and Park does not have concerns with the Project.”  [p. 11]  “…. with the proposed units.” [p, 15].



	These are meaningless statements.  It would be just as accurate to say that RPD “does not have concerns” with the Vis Valley Planning Alliance’s (VVPA’s) opposition to the proposal.  (And in fact, given that individual RPD personnel have not only talked with members of the VVPA about their concerns, they have even offered suggestions on how to proceed, it might be more accurate to put things this way.)  

	What is true is that although PROSAC (the city wide Park Recreation and Open Space Advisory Committee), after hearing heartfelt testimony from the many neighbors and members of the VVPA who attended a 2016 meeting in which the item was on the agenda, voted to put 590 Leland on the Department’s Acquisition Roster, and then voted separately to urge the Rec Park Commission to acquire the land as soon as possible**, neither the Department nor the Commission has acted on the recommendations.  Given that RPD has limited funds for acquisition, had just committed to a huge expenditure to acquire the Francisco Reservoir site in D4, and was also focused on trying to acquire desperately needed open space in the non-Treasure Island portion of D6, I would argue this signals more a lack of currently 



[bookmark: _GoBack]										Shaffer 3



available acquisition funds than a tacit agreement to let the development proceed.   **[I know these facts because, as a representative from D10 on that Committee, I introduced both resolutions] 						

			

	Surely if RPD had funds, they would acquire the land.  Why would they not?  All the land surrounding the parcel belongs to RPD.  Of course, they would want to consolidate the Park area, and provide more accessible open space for the neighborhood.





Thank you for listening.











Dr. Linda Shaffer



Former rep from D10 on PROSAC

Former Board President, Arc Ecology, a now dissolved Environmental Justice 	nonprofit based in the Bayview Hunters Point neighborhood

Current Board member, California Native Plant Society, Yerba Buena Chapter
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From: Gordon-Jonckheer, Elizabeth (CPC)
To: Secretary, Commissions (CPC); Ionin, Jonas (CPC); Son, Chanbory (CPC); Silva, Christine (CPC)
Cc: Grob, Carly (CPC); Conner, Kate (CPC)
Subject: Case No. 2015-002825CUA/1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue - Revised Draft Motion with Exhibit D

and other after-packet materials
Date: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 1:57:11 PM
Attachments: Revised Draft Motion 1965 Market Street_2015-002825CUA_redline state density bonus.pdf

Exhibit D - 1965 Market Street Concession-Incentive _Identifiable Cost Reductions.pdf
Revised Draft Motion 1965 Market Street_2015-002825CUA_redline state density bonus.docx
1965marketSt._CBDSupport12012018.pdf
1965 Market - Anti-Discrimination Affidavit.pdf

Dear Commission Secretary’s Office,
 
Per our discussion this morning, attached please find the following documents for email delivery to
the Commissioners this afternoon:
 

·         Revised Draft Motion for Case No. 2015-002825CUA
·         Exhibit D – Concession/Incentive Identifiable Cost Reductions from Project Sponsor
·         Revised Draft Motion for Case No. 2015-002825CUA (Word file – for Commission Secretary

use/revision if needed)
 

As noted in the Memo to the Planning Commission printed for the hearing on January 18, 2018 for
Case No. 2015-002825CUA/1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue, the Case Packet originally
referenced the request for additional height at the site as a waiver under the Individually Requested
State Density Bonus program, rather than a concession/incentive.  The revised Draft Motion corrects
specific language and findings.  All changes are shown in red, those areas deleted are shown in
strike–through, and additions are double-underlined.  Exhibit D should also be included as part of
the revision to the Draft Motion – it provides Project Sponsor documentation that the request for
height results in actual and identifiable cost reductions for the project.  
 
Also attached are other after-packet materials:
 

o   Castro/Upper Market Community Benefit District support letter
o   Anti-Discriminatory Housing Affidavit

 

These items are not part of the revision to the Draft Motion, and if preferable can wait and be
passed forward at the hearing; please advise.
 
Thanks,
Elizabeth
 
Elizabeth Gordon Jonckheer, Senior Planner
Southwest Quadrant Team – Preservation, Current Planning Division
Planning Department, City and County of San Francisco
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400, San Francisco, CA 94103
Direct: 415-575-8728 Fax: 415-558-6409
Email: Elizabeth.Gordon-Jonckheer@sfgov.org
Web:.www.sfplanning.org
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Subject to: (Select only if applicable) 


  Affordable Housing (Sec. 415) 


  Transportation Sustainability Fee (Sec. 411A) 


  Eastern Neighborhoods Impact Fee (Sec. 423) 


 


 First Source Hiring (Admin. Code) 


  Residential Child Care Fee (Sec. 414A) 


 Market and Octavia Community Infrastructure 


Impact Fee 


 


Planning Commission Draft Motion 
HEARING DATE: JANUARY 18, 2018 


 


Case No.: 2015-002825CUA 
Project Address: 1965 MARKET STREET/255-291 DUBOCE AVENUE 


Zoning: NCT-3 (Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit) and  


 RTO (Residential Transit Oriented District) Zoning Districts 


 40-X, 50-X, and 85-X Height and Bulk Districts 


Block/Lot: 3534/058, 059, 061, 062 


Project Sponsor: Keller Grover Properties, LLC, Contact: David Prowler  


 1965 Market Street 


 San Francisco, CA  94103 


 david@prowler.org or (415) 544-0445 


Staff Contact: Elizabeth Gordon Jonckheer – (415) 575-8728  


 elizabeth.gordon-jonckheer@sfgov.org 


Recommendation: Approval with Conditions 


 


ADOPTING FINDINGS RELATING TO A CONDITIONAL USE AUTHORIZATION, PURSUANT 


TO PLANNING CODE SECTIONS 121.1, 121.7 AND 303, FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A LARGE 


LOT IN A NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT, AND FOR THE MERGER OF 


LOTS CREATING A LOT GREATER THAN 5,000 SQUARE FEET IN THE RESIDENTIAL TRANSIT 


ORIENTED DISTRICT ZONING DISTRICT, FOR THE PROPOSED PROJECT CONSISTING OF  


DEMOLITION OF A PORTION OF THE EXISTING 13,500 SQUARE FOOT BUILDING AT 1965 


MARKET STREET (LOT 058), REMOVAL OF THE APPROXIMATELY 9,000 SQUARE FOOT 


SURFACE PARKING LOT (LOTS 059, 061, AND 062) ALONG DUBOCE AVENUE, AND 


CONSTRUCTION OF A 102,744 SQUARE FOOT 75- TO 85-FOOT HIGH MIXED-USE BUILDING 


CONTAINING 96 DWELLING UNITS AND INCLUDING RETENTION OF APPROXIMATELY 3,760 


SQUARE FOOT OF THE EXISTING GROUND-FLOOR RETAIL WITHIN THE MODERATE SCALE 


NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL TRANSIT (NCT-3) AND RESIDENTIAL TRANSIT ORIENTED 


(RTO) ZONING DISTRICTS, AND 40-X, 50-X AND 85-X HEIGHT AND BULK DISTRICTS, AND 


THE MARKET AND OCTAVIA AREA PLAN, AND ADOPTING FINDINGS UNDER THE 


CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT.  







Draft Motion No.  
January 18, 2018 
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CASE NO. 2015-002825CUA 
1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue 


 


PREAMBLE 
On May 11, 2017, David Prowler (hereinafter “Project Sponsor”), on behalf of Keller Grover Properties, 


LLC (Property Owner), filed an application with the Planning Department (hereinafter “Department”) for 


a Conditional Use Authorization for the proposed project at 1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue, 


Lots 058, 059, 061, 062 in Assessor’s Block 3534 (hereinafter “subject property”), pursuant to Planning 


Code Sections 121.1, 121.7 and 303, to demolish a portion of the existing 13,500 square foot building at 


1965 Market Street (Lot 058), remove the approximately 9,000 square foot surface parking lot (Lots 059, 


061, and 062) along Duboce Avenue, construct a new eight-story (approximately 85-foot tall) residential 


building, and add a vertical addition of residential dwelling units above and set back from the existing 


historic Market Street building (approximate height 75-feet/seven stories), with a total of 96 dwelling 


units (approximately 87,560 gross square feet), 48 off-street vehicle parking spaces, 97 Class 1 bicycle 


parking spaces, 12 Class 2 bicycle parking spaces, with the retention of approximately 3,760 square feet of 


retail use at the ground floor level within the Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit (NCT-3) 


and Residential Transit Oriented (RTO) Zoning Districts, and 40-X, 50-X and 85-X Height and Bulk 


Districts, and the Market and  Octavia Area  Plan. 


 


The Project Sponsor seeks to proceed under the Individually Requested State Density Bonus Law, 


Government Code Section 65915 et seq (“the State Law”), as implemented by Planning Code Section 


206.6. Under the State Law, a housing development that includes affordable housing is entitled to 


additional density, concessions and incentives, and waivers from development standards that might 


otherwise preclude the construction of the project. Waiver is a reduction of development standards that 


will have the effect of physically precluding the construction of a project at the densities or with the 


concessions or incentives conferred by the State Law.  Pursuant to Planning Code Section 206.6(c)(4), the 


Commission may not grant a waiver unless it is necessary to achieve the additional density or the 


permitted concessions and incentives.   


 


 In accordance with the Planning Department’s policies regarding projects seeking to proceed under the 


State Law, the Project Sponsor has provided the Department with a 96 unit “Base Project” that would 


include housing affordable to low- income households. Because the Project Sponsor is providing 14 units 


of housing affordable to low income households, the Project is eligible for the State Density Bonus 


Program, and is eligible for one (1) incentive or concession.  The Project seeks a waiver from the 50-foot 


height limit the concession/incentive to allow development above the 50-foot height limit applicable to 


that portion of the lot within the 50-X Height and Bulk District in order to permit three additional 


residential floors reaching a height of 85 feet. The Project seeks the waiver to accommodate the allowable 


this accommodation to allow density in a different portion of the site Project Site, which would prevent 


the project from impacting an existing historic resource. The Project Sponsor has documented that the 


request for height results in actual and identifiable cost reductions for the project (attached Exhibit D).  


No other waivers, incentives or concessions are sought.  Additional density is not requested; the The 


proposed density bonus project has the same number of dwelling units (96) as the Code-compliant base 


project. Additional density is not requested; however the proposed density would not be feasible without 


the concession/incentive.   


 







Draft Motion No.  
January 18, 2018 
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CASE NO. 2015-002825CUA 
1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue 


The environmental effects of the Project were determined by the San Francisco Planning Department to 


have been fully reviewed under the Market and Octavia Area Plan Environmental Impact Report 


(hereinafter "EIR"). The EIR was prepared, circulated for public review and comment, and, at a public 


hearing on April 5, 2007, by Motion No. 17406, certified by the Commission as complying with the 


California Environmental Quality Act (Cal. Pub. Res. Code Section 21000 et seq., hereinafter "CEQA"). 


The certification of the EIR was upheld on appeal to the Board of Supervisors at a public hearing on June 


19, 2007. The Commission has reviewed the Final EIR, which has been available for this Commission's 


review as well as public review. 


 


The EIR is a Program EIR. Pursuant to CEQA Guideline 15168(c)(2), if the lead agency finds that no new 


effects could occur or no new mitigation measures would be required, the agency may approve  the 


project as being within the scope of the project covered by the program EIR, and no additional or new 


environmental review is required. In approving the Market and Octavia Area Plan, the Commission 


adopted CEQA Findings in its Motion No. 17406 and hereby incorporates such Findings by reference. 


 


Additionally, State CEQA Guidelines Section 15183 provides a streamlined environmental review for 


projects that are consistent with the development density established by existing zoning, community plan 


or general plan policies for which an EIR was certified, except as might be necessary to examine whether 


there is project-specific effects which are peculiar to the project or its site. Section 15183 specifies that 


examination of environmental effects shall be limited to those effects that (a) are peculiar to the project or 


parcel on which the project would be located, (b) were not analyzed as significant effects in a prior EIR on 


the zoning action, general plan or community plan with which the project is consistent, (c) are potentially 


significant off-site and cumulative impacts which were not discussed in the underlying EIR, or (d) are 


previously identified in the EIR, but which are determined to have a more severe adverse impact  than 


that discussed in the underlying EIR. Section 15183(c) specifies that if an impact is not peculiar to the 


parcel or to the proposed project, then an EIR need not be prepared for that project solely on the basis of 


that impact. 


 


On November 16, 2017, the Planning Department of the City and County of San Francisco determined 


that the proposed application did not require further environmental review under Section 15183 of the 


CEQA Guidelines and Public Resources Code Section 21083.3. The Project is consistent with the adopted 


zoning controls in the Market and Octavia Area Plan and was encompassed within the analysis contained 


in the Final EIR. Since the Final EIR was finalized, there have been no substantial changes to the Market 


and Octavia Area Plan and no substantial changes in circumstances that would require major revisions to 


the Final EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or an increase in the 


severity of previously identified significant impacts, and there is no new information  of substantial 


importance that would change the conclusions set forth in the Final EIR. The file for this project, 


including the Market and Octavia Area Final EIR and the Community Plan Exemption certificate, is 


available for review at the San Francisco Planning Department, 1650 Mission Street, Suite 400, San 


Francisco, California. 


 


Planning Department staff prepared a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) setting 


forth mitigation measures that were identified in the Market and Octavia Area Plan EIR that are 
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applicable to the project. These mitigation measures are set forth in their entirety in the MMRP attached 


to the draft Motion as Exhibit C. 


 


On January 18, 2018, the San Francisco Planning Commission (hereinafter “Commission”) conducted a 


duly noticed public hearing at a regularly scheduled meeting on Conditional Use Authorization 


Application No. 2015-002825CUA .  


 


The Commission has heard and considered the testimony presented to it at the public hearing and has 


further considered written materials and oral testimony presented on behalf of the applicant, Department 


staff, and other interested parties. 


 


MOVED, that the Commission hereby authorizes the Conditional Use Authorization requested in 


Application No. 2015-002825CUA, subject to the conditions contained in “EXHIBIT A” of this motion, 


based on the following findings: 


 


FINDINGS 


Having reviewed the materials identified in the preamble above, and having heard all testimony and 


arguments, this Commission finds, concludes, and determines as follows: 


 


1. The above recitals are accurate and constitute findings of this Commission. 


 


Site Description and Present Use.  The site (“Project Site”), is located on the southern side of 


Duboce Avenue at the corner of Duboce Avenue and Market Street, between Guerrero Street and 


Clinton Park, Lots 58, 59, 61, and 62 of Assessor's Block 3534. The parcel includes the addresses 


1965 Market Street, and 255, 263, 275-277, and 291-293 Duboce Avenue. The property is within 


both the NCT-3 (Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit) Zoning District and the 40- 


and 85-X Height and Bulk District (1965 Market Street); and, the RTO (Residential Transit 


Oriented) Zoning District and 50-X Height and Bulk District (255, 263, 275-277, and 291-293 


Duboce Avenue). 'The project site totals 16,778 square feet and is currently composed of one 


existing two- and three-story commercial building, with retail (3,760 square feet) and commercial 


office (10,000 square feet) uses, and a surface parking lot to the east of the building along Duboce 


Avenue.  A FedEx location currently operates out of the retail space and the office space currently 


includes law offices, a real estate company, and vacant office space. The parking lot is used by 


office tenants and for FedEx customer parking and loading.  


 


The existing structure at 1965 Market Street is a 35-foot three-story building, designed in 1924 by 


San Francisco-based architect, Walter Charles Falch, and was built in 1924 as a mortuary and 


funerary chapel that included two residential units. A third floor addition was added in 1933.  


The property is a “Category A” property, a known historical resource under California 


Environmental Quality Act. The site has been deemed National register and California register-


eligible under Criteria A/1 for its association with Reconstruction-era commercial development in 


the Inner Mission North neighborhood and Market and Octavia Area Plan area (period of 


significance: 1924-1970), Criteria C/3 for the quality of its distinctive Spanish Colonial/Mission 
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Revival architectural style (period of significance: 1924- 1970); and California register -eligible 


under Criterion 3 for its association with Atlas Savings & Loan, which was the first financial 


institution in the United States established by a partnership of gays and lesbians (period of 


significance 1981-1985).  A majority of the physical features, spaces, and materials of the principal 


façade of 1965 Market Street are character-defining, such as: the siting and relationship of the 


building to the street; the size and location of the automobile garage entry; stucco cladding; roof 


configuration; building plan; open, recessed entry approach; windows and doors including 


transoms, surrounds and glazing; and architectural elements such as Spanish tile parapets and 


roof sections, shaped parapets, bracketed cornices, cast plaster ornament, metal balconettes, 


quoins, pilasters, columns and porch. The east elevation exhibits some alterations and is 


considered to be of secondary character-defining importance.   


 


2. Surrounding Properties and Neighborhood.  The Project Site is within the boundaries of the 


Market and Octavia Area Plan, and the Moderate-Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit 


(NCT-3) and Residential Transit Oriented (RTO) Zoning Districts.  The property borders the 


Western Addition and Castro/Upper Market Street neighborhoods. The Project Site is located 


next to a Pet Food Express, across Dolores Avenue from a Whole Foods Market (grocery), and 


across Market Street from a Safeway shopping center (grocery). Across Market Street to the north 


is an eight story, 115-unit residential building, farther to the west is the U.S. Mint. To the east of 


the project site along the southern side of Duboce Avenue is a mix of two to four story residential 


buildings. To the south of the project site is a mix of two to four story residential development, 


including units along Clinton Park that border to the rear of the project site. On the northern side 


of Duboce Avenue to the east of the project are one to two story commercial buildings and a two 


story residential building. Along Market Street, parcels are zoned for heights up to 85 feet. Along 


Duboce Avenue, parcels are zoned for heights up to 50, 60/65, and 80 feet. Major roadways in the 


project vicinity include Market Street, Duboce Avenue, Dolores Street, Guerrero Street, and 


Buchanan Street. Interstate 80 and U.S. 101 provide regional access to the project vicinity. The 


project site is within a quarter mile of several local transit lines, including Muni Metro lines F, J, 


KT, L, M, and N; as well as Muni bus lines 6, 7, 22, and 37. The 16th Street Mission and Civic 


Center BART stations are located 0.7 and 0.9 mile from the site, respectively.   


 


NCT-3 districts are transit-oriented moderate- to high-density mixed-use neighborhoods of 


varying scale concentrated near transit services. NCT-3 districts support neighborhood-serving 


commercial uses on lower floors and housing above. These districts are well-served by public 


transit and aim to maximize residential and commercial opportunities on or near major transit 


services. The district's form can be either linear along transit-priority corridors, concentric around 


transit stations, or broader areas where transit services criss-cross the neighborhood. Housing 


density is limited not by lot area, but by the regulations on the built envelope of buildings, 


including height, bulk, setbacks, and lot coverage, and standards for residential uses, including 


open space and exposure, and urban design guidelines. Residential parking is not required and 


generally limited. Commercial establishments are discouraged or prohibited from building 


accessory off-street parking in order to preserve the pedestrian-oriented character of the district 


and prevent attracting auto traffic. There are prohibitions on access (i.e., driveways, garage 
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entries) to off-street parking and loading on critical stretches of neighborhood commercial and 


transit streets to preserve and enhance the pedestrian-oriented character and transit function.  


 


The RTO districts are intended to recognize, protect, conserve, and enhance areas characterized 


by a mixture of houses and apartment buildings, covering a range of densities and building 


forms. RTO districts are composed of multi-family, moderate-density areas that are well served, 


within short walking distance of transit and neighborhood commercial areas. Limited small-scale 


neighborhood-oriented retail and services is common and permitted throughout the 


neighborhood on corner parcels to provide goods and services to residents within walking 


distance, but the districts are otherwise residential. The overall residential density is regulated by 


the permitted and required height, bulk, setbacks, and open space of each parcel, along with 


residential design guidelines. Because of the high availability of transit service and the proximity 


of retail and services within walking distance, many households do not own cars; it is common 


that not every dwelling unit has a parking space, and overall off-street residential parking is 


limited. In RTO districts, open space is provided on-site, in the form of rear yards, decks, 


balconies, roof decks, and courtyards, and is augmented by nearby public parks, plazas, and 


enhanced streetscapes. 


 


Other zoning districts in the vicinity of the Project Site include: Upper Market NCT 


(Neighborhood Commercial Transit); NC--3 (Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial); and P 


(Public). 


 


3. Project Description. The proposed project would demolish a portion of the existing 13,500 square 


foot building at 1965 Market Street (Lot 058), remove the approximately 9,000 square foot surface 


parking lot (Lots 059, 061, and 062) along Duboce Avenue, and construct a mixed-use building 


retaining approximately 3,760 square feet of existing ground-floor retail. A new eight-story 85-


foot tall (approximately 95 feet tall with rooftop structures) residential building is proposed on 


the existing surface parking lot.  A vertical addition of four to five floors of residential dwelling 


units is proposed above a portion of the existing 1965 Market Street building to a total height of 


75 feet (approximately 85 feet tall with rooftop structures), set back from the facade by 35 feet 


along Market Street and 15.5 feet along Duboce Avenue. While the proposed design has the 


appearance of two separate, but complementary buildings, new construction would result in an 


interconnected structure. The project would include below grade parking for 48 spaces, and a 


total of 96 dwelling units (52 one-bedroom, 43 two-bedroom, 1 studio), including 14 on-site 


affordable units.  The total square footage for the proposed project is just over 102,744 square feet. 


Pursuant to California Government Code Sections 65915-65918, the Project Sponsor has elected 


to utilize the State Density Bonus Law.  


 


The proposed project would retain 1965 Market Street`s historically significant facade and 


stylistically distinct materials, features, roof line, wall openings, and portions of the existing 


building interior.  As a way to convey the historic appearance and significant historic uses that 


have occupied the double-height space of the former funerary chapel, the project sponsor will 


commission and install a high quality historical interpretive display, to be permanently installed 
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in the building's retail space as a part of the proposed project. The display will incorporate all 


three of the building's areas of historic significance. The retained historic features of the 1965 


Market Street building would contain the primary points of entry for the residential building (i.e., 


the residential entrance and lobby on Duboce Avenue) and the corner-anchoring neighborhood 


retail space along Market Street. The new extended portion of the building, eastward along 


Duboce Avenue would include residential stoops connecting directly with the sidewalk. 


 


4. Public Comment. As of January 11, 2018, the Department has received four emails letters of 


support and three letters opposing the project. Those in favor of the Project, include the Mission 


Dolores Neighborhood Association (MDNA), the Castro Community Benefit District, the 


Merchants of Upper Market and the San Francisco Housing Coalition.  Those in favor are 


supportive due to the housing proposed, especially considering its proximity to jobs and transit.  


Those in opposition of the Project state that the construction will cause environmental harm to 


the area in the form of traffic, chemical pollutants, noise pollution and increased temperature due 


to CO2 emissions.  


 


5. Planning Code Compliance:  The Commission finds that the Project  is consistent with the 


relevant provisions of the Planning Code in the following manner:  


 


A. Permitted Uses in the RTO and NCT-3 Zoning Districts. Planning Code Sections 209.4 and 


752 state that residential uses are principally permitted uses within each Zoning District.  


Retail uses are principally or conditionally permitted in the NCT-3 Zoning District and 


permitted only in limited circumstances on corner lots in the RTO district. 


 


The Project would construct a new residential use within the RTO and NCT-3 Zoning Districts and 


retain the retail use in the NCT-3 Zoning District; therefore, the Project complies with Planning Code 


Sections 209.4 and 752.  It is possible that the current retail tenant, FedEx, would return to the 


retained 3,760 square feet of ground-floor retail space. To represent a conservative analysis, the 


environmental review for the proposal assumed a restaurant could occupy the 3,760 square feet of 


ground-floor retail space. However, the tenant for the retail space has not yet been finalized. 


Depending on the specific retail tenant(s), they will comply as principally permitted retail uses per Sec. 


752 or seek a Conditional Use, as required by the Planning Code.  


 


B. Development of Large Lots in the NCT-3 Zoning District. Planning Code Sections 121.1 


requires Conditional Use Authorization from the Planning Commission for new construction 


or significant enlargement of existing buildings on lots measuring 10,000 square feet or 


larger.  


 


The Project includes new construction and an addition on the combined 16,778 square foot project site; 


therefore, the Project is requesting Conditional Use Authorization from the Planning Commission for 


development on a large lot in the NCT-3 Zoning District. 
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C. Lot Mergers. Planning Code Section 121.7 requires Conditional Use Authorization from the 


Planning Commission for projects, which result in the merger of lots creating a lot greater 


than 5,000 square feet in the RTO Zoning District 


 


The Project Site includes the addresses 1965 Market Street, and 255, 263, 275-277, and 291-293 


Duboce Avenue. The property is within both the NCT-3 (Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial 


Transit) Zoning District (1965 Market Street) and the RTO (Residential Transit Oriented) Zoning 


District (255, 263, 275-277, and 291-293 Duboce Avenue). The Project includes the lot merger of the 


parcel at 1965 Market Street (Lot 058), and the surface parking lot parcel along Duboce Avenue (Lots 


059, 061, and 062), resulting in a lot greater than 5,000 square feet; therefore, the Project is requesting 


Conditional Use Authorization from the Planning Commission to merge the subject lots within the 


RTO Zoning District. 


 


D. Floor Area Ratio.  Planning Code Section 124 establishes a FAR (Floor Area Ratio) of 3.6:1 for 


properties within the NCT-3 Zoning District and a 40-X, 50-X and 85-X Height and Bulk 


Districts.  


 


The Project Site contains a subject lot that is within the NCT-3 District and is 7,778 square feet, thus 


resulting in a maximum allowable floor area of approximately 28,000 sq. ft. for non-residential uses. 


The Project retains 3,760 square feet of existing ground-floor retail space. 


 


E. Rear Yard.  Planning Code Section 134 requires a minimum rear yard equal to 25 percent of 


the total lot depth of the lot to be provided at every residential level. 


 


The Project includes a 22-foot, 6-inch above‐grade rear yard for all portions of the new construction 


equal to 25 percent of the total lot depth of the lot.  Walls of the existing building behind the lobby and 


retail space are within the rear yard and are existing non-complying.   


  


F. Usable Open Space.  Within the RTO District per Planning Code Section 209.4, a minimum 


of 100 square feet of open space per dwelling unit if private, or 133 square feet of open space 


per dwelling unit if common is required. Within the NCT-3 District per Planning Code 


Section 752, a minimum of 80 square feet of open space per dwelling unit if private, or 100 


square feet if common is required for each dwelling unit.  


 


Per Planning Code Section 134(g), private usable open space shall have a minimum 


horizontal dimension of six feet and a minimum area of 36 square feet if located on a deck, 


balcony, porch or roof, and shall have a minimum horizontal dimension of 10 feet and a 


minimum area of 100 square feet if located on open ground, a terrace or the surface of an 


inner or outer court. Common usable open space shall be at least 15 feet in every horizontal 


dimension and shall be a minimum area of 300 square feet. Further, inner courts may be 


credited as common useable open space if the enclosed space is not less than 20 feet in every 


horizontal dimension and 400 square feet in area, and if the height of the walls and 


projections above the court on at least three sides is such that no point on any such wall or 
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projection is higher than one foot for each foot that such point is horizontally distant from the 


opposite side of the clear space in the court. 


 


The project proposes common open space in the form of a rear yard, side yard, and roof deck at the 


eighth floor totaling approximately 5,500 square feet. Additional balconies on levels two, three, four, 


and eight, totaling approximately 2,100 square feet, provide private open space. Private terraces are 


proposed along the southern and eastern side of the building, providing a total of approximately 2,000 


square feet of additional private open space. The Project complies with the open space requirement.   


 


G. Streetscape and Pedestrian Improvements. Planning Code Section 138.1 requires a 


streetscape plan, which includes elements from the Better Streets Plan, for projects that are 


located on a lot larger than one‐half acre and which proposed new construction.  Per 


Ordinance No. 119‐15 (effective August 14, 2015), the Department of Public  Works (DPW) is 


responsible for implementing the required number of street trees along the public rights‐of‐


way, as formerly required in Planning Code Section 138.1. 


 


The Project Site does not meet the size threshold in Planning Code Section 138.1(c)(2) for Better 


Streets Plan streetscape requirements for large projects. The subject lots equal approximately 16,778 


square foot (0.39 acre) of lot area with a total of 220 feet of sidewalk frontage (178 feet along Duboce 


Avenue and 42 feet along Market Street). As such, the Project does not meet the threshold for lot size 


(0.50 acre) or frontage (250 feet) and would not be subject to the Better Streets Plan large project 


streetscape requirements. 


 


The Duboce Avenue sidewalk is about 10 feet wide along the project frontage. Per the Better Streets 


Plan, the minimum and recommended widths for sidewalks on this type of street (Commercial 


Throughway) are 12 feet and 15 feet, respectively. The Market Street sidewalk along the project 


frontage is about 15 feet wide. Per the Better Streets Plan, the minimum and recommended widths for 


sidewalks on this type of street (Ceremonial/Civic) vary. The project would include streetscape 


improvements, including the elimination of curb cuts along Duboce Avenue, which would effectively 


increase the amount of sidewalk space available for pedestrians and minimize potential for conflicts. 


The Duboce Avenue sidewalk along the project frontage would be reconstructed to 10 feet to match the 


existing sidewalk width.  Other amenities that include new street trees and bike racks along Market 


Street.   


  


H. Bird Safety. Planning Code Section 139 outlines the standards for bird-safe buildings, 


including the requirements for location-related and feature-related hazards. 


 


The subject lot is not located in close proximity to an Urban Bird Refuge as defined in Section 139, and 


the Project meets the requirements for feature-related hazards. 


 


I. Dwelling Unit Exposure. Planning Code Section 140 requires that at least one room of all 


dwelling units face onto a public street, rear yard or other open area that meets minimum 


requirements for area and horizontal dimensions. To meet exposure requirements, a public 
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street, public alley at least 20 feet wide, side yard or rear yard must be at least 25 feet in 


width, or an open area (either inner court or a space between separate buildings on the same 


lot) must be no less than 25 feet in every horizontal dimension for the floor at which the 


dwelling unit is located. 


 


The Project organizes the dwelling units to have exposure on Duboce Avenue, Market Street or along 


the rear yard. The dwelling units meet the exposure requirements of the Planning Code. 


 


J. Street Frontage in RTO Districts.  Section 144 of the Planning Code  requires that off-street 


parking entrances be limited to one-third of the ground story width along the front lot line 


and no less than one-third be devoted to windows, entrances to dwelling units, landscaping 


and other architectural features that provide visual relief and interest for the street frontage. 


 


The project complies with the street frontage requirement as it exceeds the visual relief minimum. 


 


K. Street Frontage in Neighborhood Commercial Districts.  Section 145.1 of the Planning Code 


requires that within NC Districts space for active uses shall be provided within the first 25 


feet of building depth on the ground floor and 15 feet on floors above from any facade facing 


a street at least 30 feet in width. In addition, the floors of street-fronting interior spaces 


housing non-residential active uses and lobbies shall be as close as possible to the level of the 


adjacent sidewalk at the principal entrance to these spaces. Frontages with active uses that 


must be fenestrated with transparent windows and doorways for no less than 60 percent of  


the street frontage at the ground level and allow visibility to the inside of  the building. The 


use of dark or mirrored glass shall not count towards the required transparent area. Any 


decorative railings or grillwork, other than wire mesh, which is placed in front of or behind 


ground floor windows, shall be at least 75 percent open to perpendicular view. Rolling or 


sliding security gates shall consist of open grillwork rather than solid material, so as to 


provide visual interest to pedestrians when the gates are closed, and to permit light to pass 


through mostly unobstructed. Gates, when both open and folded or rolled as well as the gate 


mechanism, shall be recessed within, or laid flush with, the building facade.  


 


The Project features active uses on the ground floor with a residential lobby, and retail space along 


Market Street within the retained historic building. As the non-residential uses are located within the 


historic building and façade to be retained, the ground level floor-to-floor height, transparency and 


fenestration are existing. The Project complies with Planning Code Section 145.1.   


 


L. Required Ground Floor Commercial Uses. Section 145.4(d) of the Planning Code requires 


that on Market Street, for the entirety of the NCT-3, Upper Market NCD, and Upper Market 


NCT Districts, an individual ground floor nonresidential use may not occupy more than 75 


contiguous linear feet for the first 25 feet of depth along a street-facing facade.   


 


The project contains an existing retail use occupying approximately 41.4 contiguous linear feet of 


frontage along Market Street.  
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M. Off-Street Vehicle Parking. Planning Code Section 151.1 allows the provision of off‐street 


parking spaces based on the number of residential dwelling units and the gross square 


footage of retail space (or other uses) within each building.  Neither the RTO nor NCT-3 


District require the Project to provide off‐street vehicle parking spaces.  Based on the number 


of residential dwelling units and the gross square footage and type of commercial space 


within each zoning district, the Proposed Project would be allowed to provide at maximum 


54 vehicle parking spaces. 


 


The Project proposes a total of 48 off-street vehicle parking spaces (including 2 ADA accessible spaces) 


for residential use and one car share space. Off‐street vehicle parking spaces would be located within a 


garage one level below grade, including 42 spaces in mechanical stackers, and three additional 


standard spaces not in stackers. The stacker would allow for horizontal and vertical shifting of the 


parking platforms. Each individual parking bay would be accessible from the 24‐foot wide drive aisle. 


The parking spaces would be arranged on two levels and the selected car is moved into the desired 


position by means of an automatic control system.  The upper level parking spaces would move 


vertically, and the lower parking spaces would move horizontally to allow upper level cars to be driven 


off the platforms. The lower level of the system would include one less car than the upper level to enable 


the lower cars to move left and right to create a vacant space. Vehicle owners would operate the system 


with a key. The project complies with Planning Code Section 151.1.   


 


N. Off-Street Freight Loading. Sections 152 of the Planning Code requires off-street loading be 


provided in the NCT-3 and RTO Zoning Districts for retail uses exceeding 10,000 square feet 


in area and residential uses exceeding 100,000 square feet in area.  


 


The project contains a total of 3,760 square feet of existing retail space and 85,200 gross square feet of 


residential space, therefore the project is not required to provide off-street loading. Commercial loading 


would be accommodated on-street in a proposed commercial loading (yellow curb) zone along the 


Duboce Avenue frontage. Pedestrian loading would be accommodated on-street in a proposed 


passenger loading (white curb) zone also along the Duboce Avenue frontage. One off‐street/on‐site 


service vehicle loading space would be provided in the proposed parking garage. Per Code Section 


153(a)(6), the service vehicle space shall have a minimum width of eight feet, a minimum length of 20 


feet, and a minimum vertical clearance of seven feet. Given constraints of the project site, the vertical 


clearance on the driveway ramp would be limited to 8 feet 6 inches. The service vehicle loading space 


would be utilized by residents for move‐in/move‐out activities and by smaller delivery vehicles serving 


the retail or restaurant use. 


 


O. Street Frontage, Parking and Loading Access Restrictions.  Planning Code Section 155(r) 


restricts curb cuts are on certain specified streets and on Transit Preferential, Citywide 


Pedestrian Network, Neighborhood Commercial Streets or official City bicycle routes or 


bicycle lanes, including the entire portion of Market Street from The Embarcadero to Castro 


Street.  In C-3, NCT and RTO Districts, no curb cuts accessing off-street parking or loading 


shall be created or utilized on street frontages identified along any Transit Preferential, 
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Citywide Pedestrian Network or Neighborhood Commercial Streets as designated in the 


Transportation Element of the General Plan or official City bicycle routes or bicycle lanes, 


where an alternative frontage is available. For bicycle lanes, the prohibition on curb cuts 


applies to the side or sides of the street where bicycle lanes are located; for one-way bicycle 


routes or lanes, the prohibition on curb cuts shall apply to the right side of the street only, 


unless the officially adopted alignment is along the left side of the street.     


 


The project proposes no curb cuts on Market Street and proposes to reduce the three existing curb cuts 


(one 31‐foot‐wide entry driveway, one 58‐foot‐wide exit driveway, and one 12‐foot‐wide curb cut) to a 


single 10-wide curb cut along the project site’s Duboce Avenue frontage, along with eliminating the 


two on‐street parking spaces Duboce Avenue. The Duboce Avenue frontage would be modified to 


provide one 40‐foot‐long passenger loading (white curb) zone and one 77‐foot‐6‐inch‐long commercial 


loading (yellow) zone, as well as a new 10‐foot‐wide curb cut to provide access to the proposed garage. 


The on‐street commercial loading zone could accommodate delivery vehicles of all sizes and would 


serve the building’s commercial and residential use. Goods would be transported along the Duboce 


Avenue and Market Street sidewalks between the commercial entrance on Market Street or the 


entrance to the residential lobby on Duboce Avenue and the commercial loading zone on Duboce 


Avenue. The elimination of existing curb cuts, construction of new curb cuts, and conversion of curb 


space to designated loading zone(s), would be subject to the review and approval of SFMTA.   


 


P. Bicycle Parking.  Section 155.2 of the Planning Code requires one Class 1 bicycle parking 


space per dwelling unit and one Class 2 bicycle parking spaces for every 20 dwelling units. 


Additional bicycle parking requirements apply based on classification of non-residential 


uses; at least two Class 2 spaces are required for retail uses.  


 


The Project includes 96 dwelling units; therefore, the Project is required to provide 96 Class 1 bicycle 


parking spaces and five Class 2 bicycle parking spaces for the residential use and one Class 1 bicycle 


parking space and five Class 2 bicycle parking spaces for the non‐residential use. The proposed Project 


would implement Transportation Demand Management (TDM) measures described below and would 


provide six more Class 2 bicycle parking spaces than required by Code as well as a bicycle repair 


station.  


 


The Project complies with Planning Code Section 155.2.  Two Class 1 bicycle storage rooms would 


provide secure parking for at least 97 bicycles (96 residential, 1 retail) in double‐decker racks. A bicycle 


repair station would be provided within one of the bicycle storage rooms. The Class 1 bicycle parking 


would be located within the below grade garage and would be accessible from the garage driveway 


ramp on Duboce Avenue and from two elevators located in the hallway near the residential lobby. Per 


the California Building Code Section 3002.4.3a requirement, at least one of the elevator cabs would 


have minimum interior dimensions of 80 inches in width with a depth of 54 inches and could 


accommodate a bicycle. Twelve (12) Class 2 bicycle parking spaces would be provided in eight racks on 


the sidewalk near the pedestrian entrances on Market Street and Duboce Avenue.  Seven new bike 


racks would be installed on the Duboce Avenue sidewalk and the existing bike rack on Market Street in 


front of the pedestrian entrance to the retail space would remain. Bike racks would be located near 
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building entrances to maximize visibility and convenience. The provision of Class 2 bicycle parking 


spaces within the public right‐of‐way, including their locations, would be subject to review and 


approval by SFMTA and would be subject to the SFMTA Bicycle Rack Placement Guidelines.  


 


Q. Car-Share Parking Spaces.  In newly constructed buildings containing residential uses or 


existing buildings being converted to residential uses, per Section 166 of the Planning Code, 


if parking is provided, car-share parking spaces shall also be provided in specified amounts.   


 


Section 166 of the Planning Code requires one car-share space for 50-200 residential units. The Project 


provides one car share space independent of mechanical stackers. 


 


R. Transportation Demand Management (TDM) Plan. Pursuant to Planning Code Section 169 


and the TDM Program Standards, the Project shall finalize a TDM Plan prior to Planning 


Department approval of the first Building Permit or Site Permit.  As currently proposed, the 


Project must achieve a target of 12 points. 


 


Development Projects with a Development Application filed on or after September 5, 2016, and before 


January 1, 2018, are subject to 75% of the TDM target.  Therefore, the Project need only achieve 75% 


of the point target established in the TDM Program Standards, resulting in a target of 12 points. As 


currently proposed, the Project will exceed the target with 13 points through the following TDM 


measures:  


 


 ACTIVE‐2: Bicycle Parking, Option B (2 points). One Class 1 bicycle parking space for each 


dwelling unit (96 Class 1 spaces) and two Class 2 bicycle parking spaces for every 20 


dwelling units (10 Class 2 spaces). 


 ACTIVE‐5A: Bicycle Repair Station (1 point). On‐site tools and space for bicycle repair. 


 CSHARE‐1: Car Share, Option A (1 point). One on‐site car share parking space, as required 


by the San Francisco Planning Code. The car share parking space would be located within the 


proposed below grade garage. 


 LU‐2: On‐Site Affordable Housing, Option B (2 points). On‐site affordable housing. Fourteen 


units (14.5 percent) would be below market rate. 


 PKG‐1: Unbundle Parking, Location D (4 points). Parking spaces leased or sold separately 


from rental or purchase fees. 


 PKG 4: Parking Supply, Option C (3 points). Off‐street private vehicle parking would be 


provided at 70‐to‐80 percent of the off‐street parking rate for the neighborhood. 


 


S. Residential Density.  Both the RTO and NCT-3 Zoning Districts permit residential dwelling 


units without specific density limitations, allowing physical controls such as height and bulk 


and required setbacks, exposure, and open space to control dwelling unit density. 


 


The Project Site is 16,778 square-feet in area and provides 96 dwelling units for a ratio of one dwelling 


unit for each 175 square feet of lot area. 
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T. Dwelling Unit Mix. Planning Code Section 207.6 requires that no less than 40 percent of the 


total number of proposed dwelling units contain at least two bedrooms, or no less than 30 


percent of the total number of proposed dwelling units contain at least three bedrooms. 


 


Of the 96 units proposed, per Code Section 207.6, 40% = 38 two-bedroom units.  The project proposes 


43 two-bedroom units (45%), as well as 52 one-bedroom units (54%) and one studio unit (1%).  The 


Project meets and exceeds the requirements for dwelling unit mix. 


 


U. Height and Bulk. Planning Code Section 250 and 252 outlines the height and bulk districts 


within the City and County of San Francisco. The Project is located in three height and bulk 


districts: 40-X, 50-X and 85-X, with no bulk limit.   


 


The Project would construct a new eight-story 85-foot tall (approximately 95 feet tall with rooftop 


structures) residential building on the existing surface parking lot along Duboce Avenue.  A vertical 


addition of four to five floors of residential dwelling units is proposed above a portion of the existing 


Market Street building with a total height of 75 feet (approximately 85 feet tall with rooftop 


structures). 


 


Per California Government Code Sections 65915‐65918, the Project Sponsor has elected to utilize the 


State Density Bonus Law, and proposes a waiver, and proposes to seek an incentive/concession that 


would allow an exception from the development standards for height, which are defined in Planning 


Codes 250 and 252. The incentive/concession results in identifiable and actual cost reductions for the 


project (please see discussion under Finding No. 6). The Project seeks a waiver from the 50-foot 


height limit applicable to that portion of the lot within the 50-X Height and Bulk District in order to 


permit three additional floors reaching a height of 85 feet. The Project seeks the concession to add 


density on that portion of the lot within the 50-X Height and Bulk District, subject to the 50-foot height 


limit, in order to permit three additional floors reaching a height of 85 feet, accommodating the 


allowable density in a different portion of the site. The sponsor seeks the waiver to accommodate the 


allowable density in a different portion of the site.  This expansion beyond the height requirement is 


necessary to prevent the project from impacting the historic resource, and is necessary to enable the 


construction of the project at the proposed density, as provided by Government Code Section 


65915(f)(2). 


 


V.  Shadow.  Planning Code Section 295 restricts net new shadow, cast by structures exceeding 


a height of 40-feet, upon property under the jurisdiction of the Recreation and Park 


Commission.  Any project in excess of 40-feet in height and found to cast net new shadow 


must be found by the Planning Commission, with comment from the General Manager of the 


Recreation and Parks Department, in consultation with the Recreation and Park Commission, 


to have no adverse impact upon the property under the jurisdiction of the Recreation and 


Park Commission. 


 


The Planning Department prepared a preliminary shadow fan analysis and determined that the 


proposed project would not cast shadows on any parks or open spaces at any time during the year.   
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W. Transportation Sustainability Fee. Planning Code Section 411A is applicable to new 


development that results in more than twenty dwelling units. 


 


The Project includes approximately 85,200 gross square feet of new residential use.  This square 


footage shall be subject to the Transportation Sustainability Fee, as outlined in Planning Code Section 


411A.  The Project filed an environmental review application on or before July 21, 2015, thus the 


residential use will be subject to 50 percent of the applicable residential TSF. 


 


X. Residential Childcare Impact Fee. Planning Code Section 414A is applicable to any 


residential development citywide that results in the addition of a residential unit.  


 


The Project includes approximately 85,200 gross square feet of residential use.  The proposed Project is 


subject to fees as outlined in Planning Code Section 414A with a Market and Octavia Plan Area 


Credit.   


 


Y. Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program. Planning Code Section 415 sets forth the 


requirements and procedures for the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program. Under 


Planning Code Section 415.3, these requirements would apply to any housing project that 


consists of 10 or more units where an individual project or a phased project is to be 


undertaken and where the total undertaking comprises a project with 10 or more units, even 


if the development is on separate but adjacent lots. The applicable percentage is dependent 


on the number of units in the project, the zoning of the property, and the date that the project 


submitted a complete Environmental Evaluation Application. For any development project 


that submitted a complete Environmental Evaluation application on or prior to January 12, 


2016, affordable units in the amount of 14.5 percent of the number of units shall be 


constructed on-site.   


 


The Project Sponsor seeks to develop under the State Density Bonus Law, and therefore must include 


on‐site affordable units in order to construct the Project at the requested density and with the 


requested waivers of development standards. The Project Sponsor submitted a complete Environmental 


Evaluation on March 6, 2015, and thus is required to provide affordable units in the amount of 14.5 


percent of the number of units constructed on site. Further, the Project Sponsor has submitted an 


‘Affidavit of Compliance with the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program: Planning Code Section 


415,’ to satisfy the requirements of the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program by providing on‐site 


affordable housing. The Project Sponsor is providing 14.5 percent of the base project units (in this case 


same as proposed) as affordable to satisfy the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program obligation. 


 


The Project Sponsor will provide 14.5 percent of the total proposed dwelling units in the Base Project 


(in this case same as proposed) as affordable to low income households (as defined in California Health 


and Safety Code section 50105) to satisfy the Inclusionary obligation. If the Project becomes ineligible 


to meet its Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program obligation through the On‐site Affordable 


Housing Alternative prior to issuance of the first construction document, this conditional use approval 
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shall be deemed null and void. If the Project becomes ineligible to meet its Inclusionary Affordable 


Housing Program obligation through the On‐site Affordable Housing Alternative after construction, 


it must pay the Affordable Housing Fee with interest, if applicable, on the entirety of the Project, 


including those additional units constructed as allowed under State Law. 


 


The Project Sponsor has demonstrated that it is eligible for the On-Site Affordable Housing 


Alternative under Planning Code Section 415.5 and 415.6, and has submitted a ‘Affidavit of 


Compliance with the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program: Planning Code Section 415,’ to 


satisfy the requirements of the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program by providing the affordable 


housing on-site instead of through payment of the Affordable Housing Fee. In order for the Project 


Sponsor to be eligible for the On-Site Affordable Housing Alternative, the Project Sponsor must 


submit an ‘Affidavit of Compliance with the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program: Planning 


Code Section 415,’ to the Planning Department stating that on‐site units are not subject to the Costa 


Hawkins Rental Housing Act, California Civil Code Section 1954.50 because, under Section 


1954.52(b), the Project Sponsor seeks to develop under the State Density Bonus Law  The Project 


Sponsor submitted such Affidavit on January 18, 2018.  The EE application was submitted on March 


6, 2015. Pursuant to Planning Code Sections 415.3, 415.6 and 419, the current on-site requirement is 


14.5%. 14 units of the 96 units (43 two-bedroom units, 52 one-bedroom units and one studio unit) 


provided will be affordable units. If the Project becomes ineligible to meet its Inclusionary Affordable 


Housing Program obligation through the On-site Affordable Housing Alternative, it must pay the 


Affordable Housing Fee with interest, if applicable. 


 


Z. Market and Octavia Plan Area Affordable Housing Fee. Per Section 416 of the Code, the 


project requires payment per net square foot of residential development space not designated 


for below market rate units as part of the Market and Octavia Affordable Housing Fee. 


 


The Project is subject to the Market and Octavia Plan Area Affordable Housing Fee for that portion of 


the project located within the NCT District, as outlined in Planning Code Section 416, based on the 


location of BMR units. These fees must be paid prior to the issuance of the building permit application. 


 


AA. Market and Octavia Community Infrastructure Impact Fee. Per Section 421 of the Code, the 


project requires payment per gross new square foot of residential and commercial 


development for the Market and Octavia Community Improvements Fund. 


 


The Project includes approximately 85,200 gross square feet of new residential use.  The Project is 


subject to the Market and Octavia Community Infrastructure Impact Fee as outlined in Planning 


Code Section 421. These fees must be paid prior to the issuance of the building permit application. 


 


6. State Density Bonus Law: Per California Government Code Section 65915-65918, the Project 


Sponsor has elected to utilize the State Density Bonus Law. The State Law permits a minimum 20 


percent and a maximum 35 percent density bonus if at least 10 percent to 20 percent of the “Base 


Project” units are affordable to lower‐income households (as defined in California Health and 


Safety Code section 50105). The “Base Project” includes the amount of residential development 
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that could occur on the project site as of right without modifications to the physical aspects of the 


Planning Code (ex: open space, dwelling unit exposure, etc.). Under the State Density Bonus 


Law, the Project Sponsor is entitled to a limited number of concessions or incentives, as well as 


waivers for any development standard that would physically preclude construction of the project 


at the proposed density. 


 


The Project is providing 14 low-income (51-80% AMI) units as part of the project, equal to 14.5 percent of 


the Project’s units, thereby entitling the Project to a development standard waiver under the State Density 


Bonus law.  Under the State Density Bonus program, the proposed project seeks a waiver from the 50-foot 


height limit applicable to that portion of the lot within the 50-X Height and Bulk District in order to permit 


three additional floors reaching a height of 85 feet. The sponsor seeks the waiver to accommodate the 


allowable density in a different portion of the site, which would prevent the project from impacting the 


historic resource. No other waivers, incentives or concessions are sought.  Additional density is not 


requested; the proposed density bonus project has the same number of dwelling units (96) as the Code-


compliant Base Project. 


 


Per Planning Code Section 206.6(c)(3), the Planning Commission shall hold a hearing and shall 


approve the Concession or Incentive requested unless it makes written findings, based on 


substantial evidence that:  


 


a) The Concession or Incentive does not result in identifiable and actual cost reductions; or 


 


The Incentive/Concession is required in order to permit the construction of the proposed project.   


 


Application of the 50-foot height limit would preclude construction 36 of the 96 units (4 floors x 9 units 


each on the parking lot portion of the site).  The height concession on Lots 59, 61 and 62 from 50 feet 


to 85 feet are required in order to move 36 of the project units from Lot 58 (1965 Market Street portion 


of the property) to Lots 59, 61, and 62 (Duboce Avenue portion), thereby reducing the scope of 


development on Lot 58 and eliminating the significant environmental impact that would be associated 


with demolishing the historically significant 1965 Market Street building to accommodate those 36 


units.  The demolition of the 1965 Market Street building would require the preparation of an 


Environmental Impact Report (EIR). An EIR would cost approximately $644,000 in additional fees, 


consultant and staffing costs. In addition, the carrying costs for the project would total approximately 


$1.68M, assuming that the preparation of an EIR would add at least 12 months to the project, and that 


construction costs would continue to escalate at 7% annually. The estimate prepared by the Project 


Sponsor does not include the additional costs of mitigation, as specific mitigation measures were not 


identified as part of the Community Plan Exemption prepared for the project. In total, the request for 


an incentive/concession would result in approximately $2.3M in cost reduction.  


 


b) The Concession or Incentive would have a specific adverse impact, as defined in California 


Government Code Section 65589.5(d)(2) upon public health and safety or the physical 


environment or any real property listed on the California Register of Historical Resources 


and for which there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific 
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adverse impact without rendering the Housing Project unaffordable to low- and moderate-


income households; or 


 


The concession/incentive would not have a specific adverse impact upon public health and safety or 


the physical environment or any real property that is listed in the California Register of Historical 


Resources and for which there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific 


adverse impact without rendering the Housing Project unaffordable to low- and moderate-income 


households.   


 


The proposed project would not have a significant impact on the historic resources on the site, and 


would conform to the Secretary of the Interior Standards for Rehabilitation in the design of the 


addition and new construction. The existing structure at 1965 Market Street is a 35-foot three-story 


building, designed in 1924 by San Francisco-based architect, Walter Charles Falch, and was built in 


1924 as a mortuary and funerary chapel that included two residential units. A third floor addition was 


added in 1933.  The property is a “Category A” property, a known historical resource under 


California Environmental Quality Act. The site has been deemed National register and California 


register-eligible under Criteria A/1 for its association with Reconstruction-era commercial 


development in the Inner Mission North neighborhood and Market and Octavia Area Plan area 


(period of significance: 1924-1970), Criteria C/3 for the quality of its distinctive Spanish 


Colonial/Mission Revival architectural style (period of significance: 1924- 1970); and is California 


register-eligible under Criterion 3 for its association with Atlas Savings & Loan, which was the first 


financial institution in the United States established by a partnership of gays and lesbians (period of 


significance 1981-1985). The redistribution of some the project’s height and massing to an equivalent 


portion at the adjacent parking lot parcel as is currently proposed prevents a specific adverse impact 


to the historic property.  The project allows the 1965 Market Street portion to convey its historic 


appearance, and not affect the site's eligibility for either the National or California registers.  


 


The Project is providing 14 low-income (51-80% AMI) units as part of the project, equal to 14.5 


percent of the Project’s units. As currently proposed with the concession for height on Lots 59, 61 and 


62, the low-income units will be incorporated through the project.  Affordability at the density 


provided by the proposed project could not otherwise be accommodated without impacting the historic 


resource on Lot 58 (1965 Market Street). 


 


c) The Concession or Incentive would be contrary to state or federal law. 


 


The Concession or Incentive is not contrary to state or federal law.  


 


7. Planning Code Section 303 establishes criteria for the Planning Commission to consider when 


reviewing applications for Conditional Authorization. On balance, the project complies with said 


criteria in that:  
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a) The proposed new uses and building, at the size and intensity contemplates and at the 


proposed location, will provide a development that is necessary of desirable, and compatible 


with, the neighborhood or the community. 


 


The proposed mixed-use building will retain the existing retail space at its current size and 


configuration and the proposal removes a parking lot and 10,000 square feet of office space for 


replacement with residential units. Ninety-six homes at varying levels of subsidy and a mix of sizes 


will be added.   Of the 96 residential units, 43 will be 2 bedrooms, to address the City’s need for family 


units. 14.5% of all units, including exempt units made possible by use of the State Density Bonus, will 


be on-site BMR units. The Project is necessary and desirable in maintaining and contributing to the 


important aspects of the existing neighborhood, while providing new housing opportunities. Housing 


is a top priority for the City and County of San Francisco. The size and intensity of the proposed 


development is necessary and desirable for this neighborhood and the surrounding community because 


it will provide new opportunities for housing and add new site amenities that will contribute to the 


character of the surrounding neighborhood.   


 


Located at a prominent site on Market Street at Duboce Avenue, the size and massing of the proposal 


relate to the width of Market Street and to nearby buildings, including the 85 foot tall 38 Dolores 


project at Market and Dolores Streets and the similarly sized Linea building at 8 Buchanan Street, 


directly across Market Street. In addition, the massing of the proposed structure, with a deep setback 


above the existing historic façade of 1965 Market Street, is designed to maintain the significant 


features of the existing historic building.   


 


The project site is well served by transit.  In combination, the proposed residential and retail use, at the 


scale and density contemplated, will enhance the existing mixed-use character of the neighborhood. The 


influx of new residents will contribute to the economic vitality of the existing neighborhood by adding 


new patrons for the nearby retail uses. In summary, the Project is an appropriate urban intervention 


and infill development.   


 


b) That such use or feature as proposed will not be detrimental to the health, safety, 


convenience or general welfare of persons residing or working in the vicinity, or injurious to 


property, improvements or potential development on the vicinity, with respect to aspects 


including but not limited to the following: 


 


i. Nature of proposed site, including its size and shape, and the proposed size, shape 


and arrangement of structures; 


 


  The design and arrangement of the building will enhance the neighborhood. The building is 


designed to read as three distinct buildings: an 85 foot tall building to be constructed on the 


site of the current parking lot; the existing historic building; and, set back from the property 


line above that building between 15 feet and 35 feet, a residential tower rising to 75 feet. To 


lessen impact on the historic resource – the 1965 Market Street building, in addition to the 


significant setback, the height has been reduced below the allowed 85 feet at that location 
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and shifted east to the parking lot site. Overall, the Project, which would establish a new 


mixed use building with existing ground floor retail in an existing mixed-use 


neighborhood, will be beneficial to the surrounding neighborhood. 


 


ii. The accessibility and traffic patterns for persons and vehicles, the type and volume 


of   such traffic, and the adequacy of proposed off-street parking and loading; 


 


The Project would not adversely affect public transit in the neighborhood. All parking will 


be below grade and accessed from a single entry at the eastern edge of the site, minimizing 


conflicts with pedestrians and bicyclists. Measures to ensure avoidance of conflicts with 


vehicular traffic on Duboce Avenue have been developed and will be implemented, along 


with a Transportation Demand Management plan. The 96 units will be served by 48 


spaces, below the allowable 54 spaces. Most of the parking will be in lifts.   


 


The site is well served by public transit, with an F line stop directly across the street, the J, 


K, L, M, N, and T Metro stops one block away, and the 6, 7, 14, 14R, 24, 33, 49 lines and 


the 16th Street Mission BART station within 5 blocks.  Provision of bicycle storage areas 


along with the close proximity to mass transit is anticipated to encourage residents, 


employees and visitors to use alternate modes of transportation.   


 


iii. The safeguards afforded to prevent noxious or offensive emissions such as noise, 


glare, dust and odor; 


 


The Project will comply with the City’s requirements to minimize noise, glare, odors, or 


other harmful emissions. Conditions of Approval are included to address potential issues. 


 


iv. Treatment given, as appropriate, to such aspects as landscaping, screening, open 


spaces, parking and loading areas, service areas, lighting and signs; 


 


 Street trees along Market Street and Duboce Avenue will be retained and additional street 


trees planted on Duboce Avenue. The South wall of the existing building will be retained, 


with the rear yard running east from that wall to be set back from the property line 22 feet 6 


inches, alongside the rear yards of housing on Clinton Park. Parking will not be visible 


from the street and there will be a net reduction in curb cuts. Existing non-historic signage 


will be removed. These upgrades will be beneficial to the surrounding neighborhood because 


it will provide new street improvements, lighting and vegetation. 


 


c) That the use as proposed will comply with the applicable provisions of the Planning Code 


and will not adversely affect the General Plan. 


 
The Project complies with all relevant requirements and standards of the Planning Code, except for 


those requirements for which the Project Sponsor seeks a waiver seeks an incentive/concession under 


the State Density Bonus Law (California Government Code Sections 65915‐65918). The Commission 


finds that these waivers are the concession is required in order to construct the Project at the density 
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allowed by State Law. The Project is consistent with objectives and policies of the General Plan as 


detailed below. 


 


d) That the use as proposed would provide development that is in conformity with the purpose 


of the applicable Neighborhood Commercial District. 


 


The Project will be in conformity with the Moderate-Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit (NCT-3) 


District in that it will provide a mixed-use development that includes residential units on the upper 


floors and ground floor retail space consistent with surrounding neighborhood.  


 


8. Planning Code Section 121.1 establishes criteria for the Planning Commission to consider when 


reviewing applications for Developments of Large Lots In Neighborhood Commercial Districts. 


On balance, the project complies with said criteria in that: 


 


i. The mass and facade of the proposed structure are compatible with the existing scale of the 


district. 


 


The proposed building at 1965 Market Street creates a gateway to the Upper Market Street 


neighborhood. The massing and design meet the vision set out for the area in the Market and Octavia 


Area Plan. The design matches the current height and massing in the district, which includes Safeway, 


the San Francisco Mint, Linea, and 38 Dolores. The design enhances the neighborhood, maintains the 


corner at the key intersection of Market Street and Duboce Avenue, and serves as a complementary 


backdrop to highlight the existing historic building on the site.  The building is designed to read as 


three distinct forms. The design incorporates an 8-story building on the current parking lot; the 


existing historic building and towers; and a 75-foot residential tower that is set back between 15 and 


35 feet from the property line and the historic building. Façade treatments and materials selection will 


highlight, personalize, and further distinguish these three parts. On the corner parcel, the height has 


been decreased below the allowed 85 feet to reduce the impact on the 1965 Market Street building. 


Behind the existing towers, the residential building has a simple, subtly curving façade that further 


respects the historic resource. Narrow, tall windows on this façade provide residential views to Market 


Street while referencing the existing historic window typology. On the parking lot site, a modulated 


façade features bays to match the contextual urban rhythm and suit the neighborhood fabric. The 


building’s narrow footprint increases natural daylighting and reduces its impact on its neighbors.  The 


new construction engages with the existing historic resource, and it enhances the quality of the Upper 


Market area. 


 


ii. The facade of the proposed structure is compatible with design features of adjacent facades 


that contribute to the positive visual quality of the district. 


 


 The proposed facade design and architectural treatments with various vertical and horizontal elements 


and a pedestrian scale ground floor is compatible with the design features of the immediate district. The 


design of the addition and new construction is subordinate to and compatible with the historic 


resource, yet differentiated. The existing building is significantly modulated; the new construction 
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references this and reflects the existing composition. Colors and materials are referential to the historic 


resource, and wall to window ratios are consistent with existing patterns. The proposed design also 


maintains an architectural dialog with the Mint in its scale and civic presence, while addressing a 


residential scale and texture. The proposed design incorporates a geometric relationship with the 


resource through horizontality and fenestration proportion depicting floor levels, and materiality at a 


fine-grained scale, specifically utilizing cladding materials distinctly residential in character such as 


cement plaster and masonry.  The new building's character ensures the best design of the times with 


high-quality building materials that relate to the surrounding structures while acknowledging and 


respecting the positive attributes of the older building.  Overall, the Project offers an architectural 


treatment that appears consistent and compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. 


 


9. Planning Code Section 121.7 establishes criteria for the Planning Commission to consider when 


reviewing applications for the merger of lots creating a lot greater than 5,000 square feet in the 


Residential Transit Oriented (RTO) Zoning District. The Planning Commission may approve 


permit mergers exceeding said restrictions only when one (or more) of the following findings can 


affirmatively be made. On balance, the project complies with said criteria in that: 


 


a) The lot merger will enable a specific residential project that provides housing on-site at 


affordability levels significantly exceeding the requirements of Section 415. 


 


 The Project does not exceed the requirements of Section 415.  However, the Project will meet its 


inclusionary affordable housing requirements by designating a certain number of dwelling units as 


part of the on-site affordable housing alternative, identified in Planning Code Section 415.  The Project 


proposes 96 units at varying levels of subsidy and a mix of sizes.  14.5% of all units, including exempt 


units made possible by use of the State Density Bonus, will be on-site BMR units.  


 


b) The lot merger will facilitate development of an underutilized site historically used as a 


single use and the new project is comprised of multiple individual buildings. 


 


Merger of the 9,000 square foot parking lot in the RTO district with the adjacent parcel in the NCT-3 


district enables a development that maximizes housing production while preserving the character-


defining elements of the historic resource/Category A structure. Currently, the lots proposed for 


merger have historically been used as a single use, the parking lot for the office/retail at 1965 Market 


Street. The RTO-zoned parking lot provides accessory parking. The assembled parcel and resultant 


development is consistent with the size of surrounding developments. Although a large lot is created, 


the design of the proposed project will read as three distinct buildings: the existing building, the 


addition to that building, and the element to replace the parking lot. 


 


c) The lot merger serves a unique public interest that cannot be met by building a project on a 


smaller lot. 


 


The Project serves a unique public interest in providing new housing opportunities. Housing is a top 


priority for the City and County of San Francisco. The size and intensity of the proposed development 
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cannot be met on a smaller lot.   The project is not feasible to construct without merging the lots 


making up the development site, because Building Code requirements would result in four separate 


structures with separate exiting and building cores.  The proposed merger concession/incentive also 


allows the project sponsor to accommodate the allowable density in a different portion of the site, which 


would prevent the project from impacting the historic resource under the State Density Bonus 


program. 


 


10. General Plan Compliance.  The Project is, on balance, consistent with the following Objectives 


and Policies of the General Plan: 


 
HOUSING ELEMENT 


 


Objectives and Policies  


 
OBJECTIVE 1 


IDENTIFY AND MAKE AVAILABLE FOR DEVELOPMENT ADEQUATE SITES TO MEET 


THE CITY’S HOUSING NEEDS, ESPECIALLY PERMANENTLY AFFORDABLE HOUSING. 


 


Policy 1.1 


Plan for the full range of housing needs in the City and County of San Francisco, especially 


affordable housing. 


 


Policy 1.8 


Promote mixed use development, and include housing, particularly permanently affordable 


housing, in new commercial, institutional, or other single use development projects. 


 


Policy 1.10 


Support new housing projects, especially affordable housing, where households can easily rely 


on public transportation, walking and bicycling for the majority of daily trips. 


 


The Project is a higher density mixed-use development on an underutilized lot along a primary vehicular 


transit corridor. The Project Site is an ideal infill site that is currently occupied by a commercial retail use 


and ancillary surface parking lot. The proposed Project would add 96 units of housing to the site with a 


dwelling unit mix of studio, one-bedroom, and two-bedroom units. The Project is consistent with the RTO 


and NCT-3 Zoning Districts, which encourage housing development in new buildings at and above the 


ground story and that is affordable to people with a wide range of incomes.  The Project includes 14 on-site 


affordable housing units for ownership and satisfies its inclusionary affordable housing requirement. 


 


OBJECTIVE 4 


FOSTER A HOUSING STOCK THAT MEETS THE NEEDS OF ALL RESIDENTS ACROSS 


LIFECYCLES. 


 


Policy 4.1 
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Develop new housing, and encourage the remodeling of existing housing, for families with 


children. 


 


The 43 proposed two-bedroom units are sized to provide housing for families with children. The proposal 


adds 96 housing units at a site where none now exist and maximizes the supply by employing the State 


Density Bonus program. While the Density Bonus does not create additional units beyond those permitted 


by Code, it does enable the sponsor to best balance the City’s preservation and housing goals. 14.5% of all 


units will be offered at below market rates. By creating a mix of unit sizes, ranging from approximately 482 


square foot studios to a 1,370 square foot 2-bedroom, the project offers housing options to meet different 


needs. 


 


OBJECTIVE 11 


SUPPORT AND RESPECT THE DIVERSE AND DISTINCT CHARACTER OF SAN 


FRANCISCO’S NEIGHBORHOODS. 


 


Policy 11.1 


Promote the construction and rehabilitation of well-designed housing that emphasizes beauty, 


flexibility, and innovative design, and respects existing neighborhood character. 


 


Policy 11.2 


Ensure implementation of accepted design standards in project approvals. 


 


Policy 11.3 


Ensure growth is accommodated without substantially and adversely impacting existing 


residential neighborhood character. 


 


The Project responds to the site’s location within a mixed-character neighborhood. The Project would 


construct a new eight-story residential building along Duboce Avenue and add residential floors above the 


historic resource at 1965 Market Street. The scale of the Project is appropriate from an urban design 


perspective because it recognizes the site as a gateway corner to the Upper Market neighborhood, as well as 


the significance of this location along the Market Street transit corridor. The Project provides an 


appropriate massing and scale for the adjacent contexts. In addition, the proposed design maintains an 


architectural dialog with the Mint in its scale and civic presence, while also addressing a residential scale 


and texture. The proposed design incorporates a geometric relationship with the resource through 


horizontality and fenestration proportion depicting floor levels, and materiality at a fine-grained scale, 


specifically utilizing cladding materials distinctly residential in character such as cement plaster and 


masonry.  


 


OBJECTIVE 12 


BALANCE HOUSING GROWTH WITH ADEQUATE INFRASTRUCTURE THAT SERVES 


THE CITY’S GROWING POPULATION. 
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Policy 12.2 


Consider the proximity of quality of life elements, such as open space, child care, and 


neighborhood services, when developing new housing. 


 


The Project is located in proximity to many neighborhood amenities. The Project is located on at the corner 


of Duboce Avenue and Market Street, which provide a variety of retail establishments, restaurants, small 


grocery stores and cafes.   


 


OBJECTIVE 13 


PRIORITIZE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT IN PLANNING FOR AND CONSTRUCTING 


NEW HOUSING. 


 


Policy 13.1 


Support “smart” regional growth that locates new housing close to jobs and transit. 


 


Policy 13.3 


Promote sustainable land use patterns that integrate housing with transportation in order to 


increase transit, pedestrian, and bicycle mode share. 


 


The Project Site is located within a quarter mile of several local transit lines, including Muni Metro lines 


F, J, KT, L, M, and N; as well as Muni bus lines 6, 7, 22, and 37. The 16th Street Mission and Civic 


Center BART stations are located 0.7 and 0.9 mile from the site, respectively. Residential mixed-use 


development at this site would support a smart growth and sustainable land use pattern in locating new 


housing in the urban core close to jobs and transit. Furthermore, the bicycle network along Market Street is 


highly developed and utilized.  The Project provides a Class 1 bicycle storage facility and bicycle repair 


station in the garage providing parking for at least 97 bicycles. Additional bicycle parking spaces (16 Class 


2 spaces in sidewalk racks) would be provided near pedestrian entrances on Market Street and Duboce 


Avenue.  


 


TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 


Objectives and Policies 


 


OBJECTIVE 28 


PROVIDE SECURE AND CONVENIENT PARKING FACILITIES FOR BICYCLES.  


 


Policy 28.1: 


Provide secure bicycle parking in new governmental, commercial, and residential developments.  


 


Policy 28.3: 


Provide parking facilities which are safe, secure, and convenient.  


 


The Project includes 97 Class 1 and 16 Class 2 bicycle parking spaces in secure, convenient locations. 
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MARKET AND OCTAVIA AREA PLAN  


Objectives and Policies 


  


OBJECTIVE 1.1  


CREATE A LAND USE PLAN THAT EMBRACES THE MARKET AND OCTAVIA 


NEIGHBORHOOD’S POTENTIAL AS A MIXED-USE URBAN NEIGHBORHOOD. 


 


Policy 1.1.2 


Concentrate more intense uses and activities in those areas best served by transit and most 


accessible on foot. 


 


Policy 1.1.3 


Encourage housing and retail infill to support the vitality of the Hayes-Gough, Upper Market, 


and Valencia Neighborhood Commercial Districts. 


 


The Project consists of high-density housing and supporting uses close to the transit.   


 


Policy 1.1.8 


Reinforce continuous retail activities on Market, Church, and Hayes Streets, as well as on Van 


Ness Avenue. 


 


Retail use will continue at the Market Street frontage 


 


OBJECTIVE 1.2  


ENCOURAGE URBAN FORM THAT REINFORCES THE PLAN AREA’S UNIQUE PLACE IN 


THE CITY’S LARGER URBAN FORM AND STRENGTHENS ITS PHYSICAL FABRIC AND 


CHARACTER. 


 


Policy 1.2.2 


Maximize housing opportunities and encourage high-quality commercial spaces on the ground 


floor. 


 


Policy 1.2.4 


Encourage buildings of the same height along each side of major streets. 


 


Housing opportunities are maximized by matching the Project’s 85-foot height with the same heights of 38 


Dolores Street (at Market Street); Linea, directly across Market Street; and Venn, nearby at 1844 Market 


Street. 


 


 


OBJECTIVE 2.2 
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ENCOURAGE CONSTRUCTION OF RESIDENTIAL INFILL THROUGHOUT THE PLAN 


AREA. 


 


Policy 2.2.4 


Encourage new housing above ground-floor commercial uses in new development and 


expansion of existing commercial buildings. 


 


The site currently provides a surface parking lot, formula retail store (Fed Ex Office) and office suites. The 


site currently holds 14,000 square feet of developed space, which will be increased six-fold. Up to 96 


housing units will be added where there are now none. 


 


OBJECTIVE 3.2  


PROMOTE THE PRESERVATION OF NOTABLE HISTORIC LANDMARKS, INDIVIDUAL 


HISTORIC BUILDINGS, AND FEATURES THAT HELP TO PROVIDE CONTINUITY WITH 


THE PAST. 


 


Policy 3.2.5 


Preserve landmark and other buildings of historic value as invaluable neighborhood assets. 


 


Character defining elements of the existing building will be preserved and retained. 


 


Policy 3.2.6 


Encourage rehabilitation and adaptive reuse of historic buildings. 


 


Policy 3.2.17 


To maintain the City’s supply of affordable housing, historic rehabilitation projects may need to 


accommodate other considerations in determining the level of restoration. 


 


The project retains the character defining features of the historic 1965 Market Street building while 


allowing the addition of a significant amount of new housing, including affordable housing. 


 


OBJECTIVE 5.3 


ELIMINATE OR REDUCE THE NEGATIVE IMPACT OF PARKING ON THE PHYSICAL 


CHARACTER AND QUALITY OF THE NEIGHBORHOOD. 


 


Policy 5.2.3 


Minimize the negative impacts of parking on neighborhood quality. 


 


A 25-space parking lot would be removed and replaced with residential units. The proposed project would 


not provide a parking space for each residential unit. While the portion within the RTO Zone would permit 


.5 spaces per unit and the portion within the NCT-3 District would provide .75 spaces per unit, for a total 


of 54 spaces, the proposed project would provide only 48 spaces. 
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11. Planning Code Section 101.1(b) establishes eight priority-planning policies and requires review 


of permits for consistency with said policies.  On balance, the Project complies with said policies 


in that:  


 


A. That existing neighborhood-serving retail uses be preserved and enhanced and future 


opportunities for resident employment in and ownership of such businesses be enhanced.  


 


The site currently houses a retail use, Fed Ex Office. This facility is one of 20 in the City and UPS and 


other vendors offer similar services in the Upper Market neighborhood. The proposed project will 


contain 3,760 gross square of retail space and the sponsor hopes to retain the existing use. The Project 


improves the urban form of the neighborhood by adding new residents, visitors, and employees to the 


neighborhood, which would assist in strengthening nearby retail uses. 


 


B. That existing housing and neighborhood character be conserved and protected in order to 


preserve the cultural and economic diversity of our neighborhoods. 


 


No housing is removed as part of the project.  The Market/Octavia neighborhood and the adjoining 


Castro, Valencia Corridor, Hayes Valley, and Mission Neighborhoods are characterized by a mix of 


uses, typically either low- to mid- rise housing, often with retail below, or larger new mixed use 


projects on major streets. The existing non-residential office/retail/parking use is an anomaly in these 


districts. The scale of the proposed project, with generous setbacks on Market Street and height of 75 


feet – 85 feet complements that of newer structures in the vicinity of the Dolores Street/Market Street 


intersection: the 38 Dolores and Linea buildings at 85 feet, the Safeway complex with the block-long 


Mint behind. All of the new buildings on Market Street built in compliance with the Market and 


Octavia Plan contain housing above retail, as is proposed on this site. The addition to the existing 


historic 1965 Market Street building is designed to respect the character defining features of the 1924 


structure while contributing to meeting San Francisco’s housing goals. The Project offers an 


architectural treatment that is deferential to the resource, yet contextual, and an architectural design 


that is consistent and compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. For these reasons, the Project 


would protect and preserve the cultural and economic diversity of the neighborhood.  


 


C. That the City's supply of affordable housing be preserved and enhanced. 


 


The Project will not displace any affordable housing because there is currently no housing on the site. 


The Project will comply with the City’s Inclusionary Housing Program, therefore increasing the stock 


of affordable housing units in the City.  


 


D. That commuter traffic not impede MUNI transit service or overburden our streets or 


neighborhood parking.  


 


The Project Site is served by public transportation. Future residents would be afforded close proximity 


to bus or rail transit. The Project also provides bicycle parking for residents and their guests.     
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E. That a diverse economic base be maintained by protecting our industrial and service sectors 


from displacement due to commercial office development, and that future opportunities for 


resident employment and ownership in these sectors be enhanced. 


 


The Project will not displace any service or industry establishment.  The Project will not affect 


industrial or service sector uses or related employment opportunities.  Ownership of industrial or 


service sector businesses will not be affected by this project.  


 


F. That the City achieve the greatest possible preparedness to protect against injury and loss of 


life in an earthquake. 


 


The Project will be designed and will be constructed to conform to the structural and seismic safety 


requirements of the Building Code.  This proposal will not adversely affect the property’s ability to 


withstand an earthquake. 


 


G. That landmarks and historic buildings be preserved.  


 


The historic building's character defining features will be retained and rehabilitated to the Secretary of 


the Interior Standards for Rehabilitation. Architectural features from the period of significance (1914-


1930) including siting and relationship of the building to the street; the size and location of the 


automobile garage entry; stucco cladding; roof configuration; building plan; open, recessed entry 


approach; windows and doors including transoms, surrounds and glazing; and architectural elements 


such as Spanish tile parapets and roof sections, shaped parapets, bracketed cornices, cast plaster 


ornament, metal balconettes, quoins, pilasters, columns and porch.  


 


H. That our parks and open space and their access to sunlight and vistas be protected from 


development.  


 


The Planning Department prepared a preliminary shadow fan analysis and determined that the 


proposed project would not cast shadows on any parks or open spaces at any time during the year. 


 


12. First Source Hiring. The Project is subject to the requirements of the First Source Hiring Program 


as they apply to permits for residential development (Section 83.4(m) of the Administrative 


Code), and the Project Sponsor shall comply with the requirements of this Program as to all 


construction work and on‐going employment required for the Project. Prior to the issuance of any 


building permit to construct or a First Addendum to the Site Permit, the Project Sponsor shall 


have a First Source Hiring Construction and Employment Program approved by the First Source 


Hiring Administrator, and evidenced in writing. In the event that both the Director of Planning 


and the First Source Hiring Administrator agree, the approval of the Employment Program may 


be delayed as needed.  


 


The Project Sponsor submitted a First Source Hiring Affidavit and prior to issuance of a building permit 


will execute a First Source Hiring Memorandum of Understanding and a First Source Hiring Agreement 


with the City’s First Source Hiring Administration. 







Draft Motion No.  
January 18, 2018 
 


 


 
 


 


30 


CASE NO. 2015-002825CUA 
1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue 


 


13. The Project is consistent with and would promote the general and specific purposes of the Code 


provided under Section 101.1(b) in that, as designed, the Project would contribute to the character 


and stability of the neighborhood and would constitute a beneficial development.  


 


14. The Commission hereby finds that approval of the Conditional Use Authorization would 


promote the health, safety and welfare of the City. 
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DECISION 


That based upon the Record, the submissions by the Applicant, the staff of the Department and other 


interested parties, the oral testimony presented to this Commission at the public hearings, and all other 


written materials submitted by all parties, the Commission hereby APPROVES Conditional Use 


Authorization Application No. 2015-002825CUA subject to the following conditions attached hereto as 


“EXHIBIT A” in general conformance with plans on file, dated December 21, 2017, and stamped 


“EXHIBIT B”, which is incorporated herein by reference as though fully set forth. 


 


The Planning Commission hereby adopts the MMRP attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated 


herein as part of this Motion by this reference thereto. All required mitigation measures identified in the 


Eastern Neighborhoods Plan EIR and contained in the MMRP are included as conditions of approval. 


 


APPEAL AND EFFECTIVE DATE OF MOTION:  Any aggrieved person may appeal this Conditional 


Use Authorization to the Board of Supervisors within thirty (30) days after the date of this Motion No. 


XXXXX. The effective date of this Motion shall be the date of this Motion if not appealed (After the 30-


day period has expired) OR the date of the decision of the Board of Supervisors if appealed to the 


Board of Supervisors.  For further information, please contact the Board of Supervisors at (415) 554-


5184, City Hall, Room 244, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, San Francisco, CA 94102. 


 


Protest of Fee or Exaction:  You may protest any fee or exaction subject to Government Code Section 


66000 that is imposed as a condition of approval by following the procedures set forth in Government 


Code Section 66020.  The protest must satisfy the requirements of Government Code Section 66020(a) and 


must be filed within 90 days of the date of the first approval or conditional approval of the development 


referencing the challenged fee or exaction.  For purposes of Government Code Section 66020, the date of 


imposition of the fee shall be the date of the earliest discretionary approval by the City of the subject 


development.   


 


If the City has not previously given Notice of an earlier discretionary approval of the project, the 


Planning Commission’s adoption of this Motion, Resolution, Discretionary Review Action or the Zoning 


Administrator’s Variance Decision Letter constitutes the approval or conditional approval of the 


development and the City hereby gives NOTICE that the 90-day protest period under Government Code 


Section 66020 has begun.  If the City has already given Notice that the 90-day approval period has begun 


for the subject development, then this document does not re-commence the 90-day approval period. 


 


I hereby certify that the Planning Commission ADOPTED the foregoing Motion on January 18, 2018. 


 


 


Jonas P. Ionin 


Commission Secretary 


 


AYES:   


 


NAYS:  
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ABSENT: 


 


ADOPTED: January 18, 2018 
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EXHIBIT A 
AUTHORIZATION 


This authorization is for a Conditional Use Authorization at 1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue, 


Lots 058, 059, 061, 062 in Assessor’s Block 3534 to allow the demolition of a portion of the existing 13,500 


square foot building at 1965 Market Street (Lot 058), to remove the approximately 9,000 sf surface parking 


lot (Lots 059, 061, and 062) along Duboce Avenue, and to construct a new eight-story (approximately 85-


foot tall) residential building, and add a vertical addition of residential dwelling units above and set back 


from the existing historic Market Street building (approximate height 75-feet/seven stories), with total of 


96 dwelling units (approximately 87,560 gross square feet), 48 off-street vehicle parking spaces, 97 Class 1 


bicycle parking spaces, 12 Class 2 bicycle parking spaces, with the retention of approximately 3,760 


square feet of retail use at the ground floor level, pursuant to Planning Code Sections 121.1, 121.7 and 303, 


within the Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit (NCT-3) and Residential Transit Oriented 


(RTO) Zoning Districts, and 40-X, 50-X and 85-X Height and Bulk Districts, and the Market and  Octavia 


Area Plan; in general conformance with plans, dated December 21, 2017, and stamped “EXHIBIT B” 


included in the docket for Record No. 2015-002825CUA and subject to conditions of approval reviewed 


and approved by the Commission on January 18, 2018 under Motion No. XXXXX. This authorization and 


the conditions contained herein run with the property and not with a particular Project Sponsor, 


business, or operator. 


 


RECORDATION OF CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 


Prior to the issuance of the building permit or commencement of use for the Project the Zoning 


Administrator shall approve and order the recordation of a Notice in the Official Records of the Recorder 


of the City and County of San Francisco for the subject property.  This Notice shall state that the project is 


subject to the conditions of approval contained herein and reviewed and approved by the Planning 


Commission January 18, 2018 under Motion No. XXXXX. 


 


PRINTING OF CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL ON PLANS 


The conditions of approval under the 'Exhibit A' of this Planning Commission Motion No. XXXXX shall 


be reproduced on the Index Sheet of construction plans submitted with the Site or Building permit 


application for the Project.  The Index Sheet of the construction plans shall reference to the Conditional 


Use authorization and any subsequent amendments or modifications.    


 


SEVERABILITY 


The Project shall comply with all applicable City codes and requirements.  If any clause, sentence, section 


or any part of these conditions of approval is for any reason held to be invalid, such invalidity shall not 


affect or impair other remaining clauses, sentences, or sections of these conditions.  This decision conveys 


no right to construct, or to receive a building permit.  “Project Sponsor” shall include any subsequent 


responsible party. 
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CHANGES AND MODIFICATIONS   


Changes to the approved plans may be approved administratively by the Zoning Administrator.  


Significant changes and modifications of conditions shall require Planning Commission approval of a 


new Conditional Use authorization.  
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Conditions of Approval, Compliance, Monitoring, and Reporting 


PERFORMANCE 


1. Validity. The authorization and right vested by virtue of this action is valid for three (3) years 


from the effective date of the Motion. The Department of Building Inspection shall have issued a 


Building Permit or Site Permit to construct the project and/or commence the approved use within 


this three-year period. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf-planning.org 


 


2. Expiration and Renewal. Should a Building or Site Permit be sought after the three (3) year 


period has lapsed, the project sponsor must seek a renewal of this Authorization by filing an 


application for an amendment to the original Authorization or a new application for 


Authorization. Should the project sponsor decline to so file, and decline to withdraw the permit 


application, the Commission shall conduct a public hearing in order to consider the revocation of 


the Authorization. Should the Commission not revoke the Authorization following the closure of 


the public hearing, the Commission shall determine the extension of time for the continued 


validity of the Authorization. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf-planning.org 


 


3. Diligent Pursuit. Once a site or Building Permit has been issued, construction must commence 


within the timeframe required by the Department of Building Inspection and be continued 


diligently to completion. Failure to do so shall be grounds for the Commission to consider 


revoking the approval if more than three (3) years have passed since this Authorization was 


approved. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf-planning.org 


 


4. Extension. All time limits in the preceding three paragraphs may be extended at the discretion of 


the Zoning Administrator where implementation of the project is delayed by a public agency, an 


appeal or a legal challenge and only by the length of time for which such public agency, appeal or 


challenge has caused delay. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf-planning.org 


 


5. Conformity with Current Law. No application for Building Permit, Site Permit, or other 


entitlement shall be approved unless it complies with all applicable provisions of City Codes in 


effect at the time of such approval. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf-planning.org 
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6. Mitigation Measures.  Mitigation measures described in the MMRP for the Market and Octavia 


Area Plan EIR (Case No. 2003.0347E) attached as Exhibit C are necessary to avoid potential 


significant effects of the proposed project and have been agreed to by the project sponsor. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf-planning.org  


 


DESIGN 


7. Final Materials.  The Project Sponsor shall continue to work with Planning Department on the 


building design.  Final materials, glazing, color, texture, landscaping, and detailing shall be 


subject to Department staff review and approval.  The architectural addenda shall be reviewed 


and approved by the Planning Department prior to issuance.   


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org 


 


8. Garbage, Composting and Recycling Storage.  Space for the collection and storage of garbage, 


composting, and recycling shall be provided within enclosed areas on the property and clearly 


labeled and illustrated on the building permit plans.  Space for the collection and storage of 


recyclable and compostable materials that meets the size, location, accessibility and other 


standards specified by the San Francisco Recycling Program shall be provided at the ground level 


of the buildings.   


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org 


 


9. Rooftop Mechanical Equipment.  Pursuant to Planning Code 141, the Project Sponsor shall 


submit a roof plan to the Planning Department prior to Planning approval of the building permit 


application.  Rooftop mechanical equipment, if any is proposed as part of the Project, is required 


to be screened so as not to be visible from any point at or below the roof level of the subject 


building.   


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org  


 


10. Lighting Plan.  The Project Sponsor shall submit an exterior lighting plan to the Planning 


Department prior to Planning Department approval of the building / site permit application.   


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org  


 


11. Transformer Vault.  The location of individual project PG&E Transformer Vault installations has 


significant effects to San Francisco streetscapes when improperly located.  However, they may 


not have any impact if they are installed in preferred locations.  Therefore, the Planning 


Department recommends the following preference schedule in locating new transformer vaults, 


in order of most to least desirable: 


a. On-site, in a basement area accessed via a garage or other access point without use of 


separate doors on a ground floor façade facing a public right-of-way; 
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b. On-site, in a driveway, underground; 


c. On-site, above ground, screened from view, other than a ground floor façade facing a 


public right-of-way; 


d. Public right-of-way, underground, under sidewalks with a minimum width of 12 feet, 


avoiding effects on streetscape elements, such as street trees; and based on Better Streets 


Plan guidelines; 


e. Public right-of-way, underground; and based on Better Streets Plan guidelines; 


f. Public right-of-way, above ground, screened from view; and based on Better Streets Plan 


guidelines; 


g. On-site, in a ground floor façade (the least desirable location). 


 


Unless otherwise specified by the Planning Department, Department of Public Work’s Bureau of 


Street Use and Mapping (DPW BSM) should use this preference schedule for all new transformer 


vault installation requests.  


For information about compliance, contact Bureau of Street Use and Mapping, Department of Public 


Works at 415-554-5810, http://sfdpw.org  


 


PARKING AND TRAFFIC 


12. Unbundled Parking.  All off‐street parking spaces shall be made available to Project residents 


only as a separate “add‐on” option for purchase or rent and shall not be bundled with any  


Project dwelling unit for the life of the dwelling units.  The required parking spaces may be made 


available to residents within a quarter mile of the project. All affordable dwelling units pursuant 


to Planning Code Section 415 shall have equal access to use of the parking as the market rate 


units, with parking spaces priced commensurate with the affordability of the dwelling unit. Each 


unit within the Project shall have the first right of refusal to rent or purchase a parking space until 


the number of residential parking spaces are no longer available. No conditions may be placed on 


the purchase or rental of dwelling units, nor may homeowner’s rules be established, which 


prevent or preclude the separation of parking spaces from dwelling units. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415‐575‐6863, 


www.sf‐planning.org 


 


13. Bicycle Parking. Pursuant to Planning Code Sections 155.2, the Project shall provide no fewer 


than 96 Class 1 bicycle parking spaces (one for each residential unit), 5 Class 2 bicycle parking 


spaces for the residential use, and one Class 1 bicycle parking space and 5 Class 2 bicycle parking 


spaces for the non‐residential use. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf-planning.org  


 


14. Managing Traffic During Construction.  The Project Sponsor and construction contractor(s) 


shall coordinate with the Traffic Engineering and Transit Divisions of the San Francisco 


Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA), the Police Department, the Fire Department, the 


Planning Department, and other construction contractor(s) for any concurrent nearby Projects to 


manage traffic congestion and pedestrian circulation effects during construction of the Project.   
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For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf-planning.org  


 


PROVISIONS 


15. Anti-Discriminatory Housing. The Project shall adhere to the requirements of the Anti-


Discriminatory Housing policy, pursuant to Administrative Code Section 1.61. 


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org 


 


16. First Source Hiring.  The Project shall adhere to the requirements of the First Source Hiring 


Construction and End-Use Employment Program approved by the First Source Hiring 


Administrator, pursuant to Section 83.4(m) of the Administrative Code.  The Project Sponsor 


shall comply with the requirements of this Program regarding construction work and on-going 


employment required for the Project. 


For information about compliance, contact the First Source Hiring Manager at 415-581-2335, 


www.onestopSF.org 


 


17. Transportation Sustainability Fee.  The Project is subject to the Transportation Sustainability Fee 


(TSF), as applicable, pursuant to Planning Code Section 411A. 


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org. 


 


18. Child Care Fee - Residential.  The Project is subject to the Residential Child Care Fee with 


Market and Octavia Plan area credit, as applicable, pursuant to Planning Code Section 414A. 


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org. 


 


19. Market Octavia Affordable Housing Fee. Pursuant to Planning Code Section 416, the Project 


Sponsor shall comply with the Market Octavia Affordable Housing requirements for that portion 


of the square footage within the NCT-3 Zoning District not designated for below market rate 


units, through payment of the Market Octavia Affordable Housing Fee in full to the Treasurer, 


prior to the issuance by Department of Building Inspection of the first certificate of occupancy for 


the development project. 


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org. 


 


20. Market Octavia Community Improvements Fund. Pursuant to Planning Code Section 421, the 


Project Sponsor shall comply with the Market Octavia Community Improvements Fund 


provisions through payment of an Impact Fee in full to the Treasurer, or the execution of a 


Waiver Agreement, or an In-Kind agreement approved as described per Planning Code Section 


421 prior to the issuance by Department of Building Inspection of the construction document for 


the development project. 
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For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org.  


 


MONITORING  


21. Enforcement.  Violation of any of the Planning Department conditions of approval contained in 


this Motion or of any other provisions of Planning Code applicable to this Project shall be subject 


to the enforcement procedures and administrative penalties set forth under Planning Code 


Section 176 or Section 176.1.  The Planning Department may also refer the violation complaints to 


other city departments and agencies for appropriate enforcement action under their jurisdiction. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf-planning.org  


 


22. Revocation Due to Violation of Conditions. Should implementation of this Project result in 


complaints from interested property owners, residents, or commercial lessees which are not 


resolved by the Project Sponsor and found to be in violation of the Planning Code and/or the 


specific conditions of approval for the Project as set forth in Exhibit A of this Motion, the Zoning 


Administrator shall refer such complaints to the Commission, after which it may hold a public 


hearing on the matter to consider revocation of this authorization. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf‐planning.org 


 


OPERATION 


23. Sidewalk Maintenance. The Project Sponsor shall maintain the main entrance to the building 


and all sidewalks abutting the subject property in a clean and sanitary condition in compliance 


with the Department of Public Works Streets and Sidewalk Maintenance Standards.  For 


information about compliance, contact Bureau of Street Use and Mapping, Department of Public Works, 


415-695-2017,.http://sfdpw.org/  


 


24. Community Liaison.  Prior to issuance of a building permit to construct the project and 


implement the approved use, the Project Sponsor shall appoint a community liaison officer to 


deal with the issues of concern to owners and occupants of nearby properties.  The Project 


Sponsor shall provide the Zoning Administrator with written notice of the name, business 


address, and telephone number of the community liaison.  Should the contact information 


change, the Zoning Administrator shall be made aware of such change.  The community liaison 


shall report to the Zoning Administrator what issues, if any, are of concern to the community and 


what issues have not been resolved by the Project Sponsor.   


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, 


www.sf-planning.org 


 


25. Lighting. All Project lighting shall be directed onto the Project site and immediately 


surrounding sidewalk area only, and designed and managed so as not to be a nuisance to 


adjacent residents. Nighttime lighting shall be the minimum necessary to ensure safety, but 
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shall in no case be directed so as to constitute a nuisance to any surrounding property. 


For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415‐575‐6863, 


www.sf‐planning.org 
 


ENTERTAINMENT COMMISSION – NOISE ATTENUATION CONDITIONS 


26. Chapter 116 Residential Projects.  The Project Sponsor shall comply with the Recommended 


“Noise Attenuation Conditions for Chapter 116 Residential Projects,” which were recommended 


by the Entertainment Commission on January 29, 2016. These conditions state: 


 


a) Community Outreach. Project Sponsor shall include in its community outreach process any 


businesses located within 300 feet of the proposed project that operate between the hours of 


9PM‐5AM. Notice shall be made in person, written or electronic form. 


 


b) Sound Study. Project sponsor shall conduct an acoustical sound study, which  shall include 


sound readings taken when performances are taking place at the proximate Places of 


Entertainment, as well as when patrons arrive and leave these locations at closing time. 


Readings should be taken at locations that most accurately capture sound from the Place of 


Entertainment to best of their ability. Any recommendation(s) in the sound study regarding 


window glaze ratings and soundproofing materials including but not limited to walls, 


doors, roofing, etc. shall be given highest consideration by the project sponsor when 


designing and building the project. 


 


c) Design Considerations. 


 


i.  During design phase, project sponsor shall consider the entrance and egress location and 


paths of travel at the Place(s) of Entertainment in designing the location of (a) any 


entrance/egress for the residential building and (b) any parking garage in the building. 


 


ii.  In designing doors, windows, and other openings for the residential building, project 


sponsor should consider the POE’s operations and noise during all hours of the day and 


night. 


 


d) Construction Impacts. Project sponsor shall communicate with adjacent or nearby Place(s) 


of Entertainment as to the construction schedule, daytime and nighttime, and consider how 


this schedule and any storage of construction materials may impact the POE operations. 


 


e)   Communication. Project Sponsor shall make a cell phone number available to Place(s) of 


Entertainment management during all phases of development through construction. In 


addition, a line of communication should be created to ongoing building management 


throughout the occupation phase and beyond.  
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INCLUSIONARY HOUSING REQUIREMENTS 


27. Affordable Units. The following Inclusionary Affordable Housing Requirements are those in 


effect at the time of Planning Commission action. In the event that the requirements change, the 


Project Sponsor shall comply with the requirements in place at the time of issuance of first 


construction document. This requirement is subject to change under pending legislation to 


modify Planning Code Section 415 which is currently under review by the Board of Supervisors 


(Board File Nos.161351 and 170208). The proposed changes to Section 415, which include but are 


not limited to modifications to the amount of inclusionary housing required onsite or offsite, the 


methodology of fee calculation, and dwelling unit mix requirements, will become effective after 


approval by the Board of Supervisors. 


a) Number of Required Units.  Pursuant to Planning Code Section 415.3, the Project is 


currently required to provide 14.5% of the proposed dwelling units in the Base Project as 


affordable to qualifying households. The Project Sponsor has elected to satisfy the 


Inclusionary Affordable Housing obligation by providing on-site inclusionary units. The 


Project Sponsor will fulfill this requirement by providing the 14 affordable units on-site. As 


required for the project to receive waivers a concession/incentive under the State Density 


Bonus Law, 14 (14.5%) of the units shall be affordable for a term of 55 years to households 


earning less than 80% of area median income (AMI). Upon the expiration of the 55 year term 


shall thereafter be rented at the rates specified in the inclusionary affordable housing 


program. If the number of market-rate units change, the number of required affordable units 


shall be modified accordingly with written approval from Planning Department staff in 


consultation with the Mayor's Office of Housing and Community Development (“MOHCD”).  


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-


5500, www.sf-moh.org. 


 


b) Unit Mix.  The Base Project contains proposes one studio unit, 52 one-bedroom units and 43 


two-bedroom units; therefore, the required affordable unit mix is 1 studio, 8 one-bedroom, 


and 6 two-bedroom units.  If the market-rate unit mix changes, the affordable unit mix will 


be modified accordingly with written approval from Planning Department staff in 


consultation with MOHCD.  


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-


5500, www.sf-moh.org. 


 


c) Unit Location.  The affordable units shall be designated on a reduced set of plans recorded as 


a Notice of Special Restrictions on the property prior to the issuance of the first construction 


permit. 


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-558-6378, 


www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-


5500, www.sf-moh.org. 
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d) Phasing. If any building permit is issued for partial phasing of the Project, the Project 


Sponsor shall have designated not less than fourteen and one-half percent (14.5%) of the each 


phase's total number of dwelling units as on-site affordable units. 


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-


5500, www.sf-moh.org. 


 


e) Duration.  Under Planning Code Section 415.8, all units constructed pursuant to Section 


415.6, must remain affordable to qualifying households for the life of the project. 


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, 


www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-


5500, www.sf-moh.org. 


 


f) Other Conditions.  The Project is subject to the requirements of the Inclusionary Affordable 


Housing Program under Section 415 et seq. of the Planning Code and City and County of San 


Francisco Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program Monitoring and Procedures Manual 


("Procedures Manual").  The Procedures Manual, as amended from time to time, is 


incorporated herein by reference, as published and adopted by the Planning Commission, 


and as required by Planning Code Section 415.  Terms used in these conditions of approval 


and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth in the Procedures Manual.  A 


copy of the Procedures Manual can be obtained at the MOHCD at 1 South Van Ness Avenue 


or on the Planning Department or MOHCD websites, including on the internet at:  


 


http://sf-planning.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=4451.  


 


As provided in the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program, the applicable Procedures 


Manual is the manual in effect at the time the subject units are made available for sale. 


For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-558-6378, 


www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-


5500, www.sf-moh.org. 


 


(i) The affordable unit(s) shall be designated on the building plans prior to the 


issuance of the first construction permit by the Department of Building 


Inspection (“DBI”).  The affordable unit(s) shall (1) reflect the unit size mix in 


number of bedrooms of the market rate units, (2) be constructed, completed, 


ready for occupancy and marketed no later than the market rate units, and (3) be 


evenly distributed throughout the building; and (4) be of comparable overall 


quality, construction and exterior appearance as the market rate units in the 


principal project.  The interior features in affordable units should be generally 


the same as those of the market units in the principal project, but need not be the 


same make, model or type of such item as long they are of good and new quality 
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and are consistent with then-current standards for new housing.  Other specific 


standards for on-site units are outlined in the Procedures Manual. 


 


(ii) If the units in the building are offered for sale, the affordable unit(s) shall be sold 


to first time home buyer households, with a minimum of 14.5% of the units 


affordable to low-income households as defined in the Planning Code and 


Procedures Manual. The initial sales price of such units shall be calculated 


according to the Procedures Manual. Limitations on (i) reselling; (ii) renting; (iii) 


recouping capital improvements; (iv) refinancing; and (v) procedures for 


inheritance apply and are set forth in the Inclusionary Affordable Housing 


Program and the Procedures Manual.   


 


(iii) The Project Sponsor is responsible for following the marketing, reporting, and 


monitoring requirements and procedures as set forth in the Procedures Manual.  


MOHCD shall be responsible for overseeing and monitoring the marketing of 


affordable units.  The Project Sponsor must contact MOHCD at least six months 


prior to the beginning of marketing for any unit in the building. 


 


(iv) Required parking spaces shall be made available to initial buyers or renters of 


affordable units according to the Procedures Manual.  
 


(v) Prior to the issuance of the first construction permit by DBI for the Project, the 


Project Sponsor shall record a Notice of Special Restriction on the property that 


contains these conditions of approval and a reduced set of plans that identify the 


affordable units satisfying the requirements of this approval.  The Project 


Sponsor shall promptly provide a copy of the recorded Notice of Special 


Restriction to the Department and to MOHCD or its successor. 


 


(vi) The Project Sponsor has demonstrated that it is eligible for the On-site Affordable 


Housing Alternative under Planning Code Section 415.6 instead of payment of 


the Affordable Housing Fee, and has submitted the Affidavit of Compliance with 


the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program:  Planning Code Section 415 to the 


Planning Department stating that the on‐site units are not subject to the Costa 


Hawkins Rental Housing Act, California Civil Code Section 1954.50 because, 


under Section 1954.52(b), the Project Sponsor seeks to develop under the State 


Density Bonus Law. 


 


(vii) If the Project Sponsor fails to comply with the Inclusionary Affordable Housing 


Program requirement, the Director of DBI shall deny any and all site or building 


permits or certificates of occupancy for the development project until the 


Planning Department notifies the Director of compliance.  A Project Sponsor’s 


failure to comply with the requirements of Planning Code Section 415 et seq. 
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shall constitute cause for the City to record a lien against the development project 


and to pursue any and all available remedies at law. 
 


(viii) If the Project becomes ineligible at any time for the On-site Affordable Housing 


Alternative, the Project Sponsor or its successor shall pay the Affordable Housing 


Fee prior to issuance of the first construction permit.  If the Project becomes 


ineligible after issuance of its first construction permit, the Project Sponsor shall 


notify the Department and MOHCD and pay interest on the Affordable Housing 


Fee and penalties, if applicable. 








Exhibit D 


Elizabeth Gordon-Jonckheer 
Via email 
 
January 12, 2018 
 
Re: Additional costs to 1965 Market Street project (Case # 2015-002825) were an 
Environmental Impact Report required 
 
Dear Elizabeth: 
 
We have been asked to estimate the potential additional costs that would burden 
1965 Market Street were an EIR, rather than a Community Plan Exemption, 
required.  Such an EIR would be required were the proposal a Code-complying and 
without the 35’ setback and with an 85’ height above the historic building.  
 
Additional Planning Department fees: $446,013 
EIR consultant cost:    $98,000 (per Lamphier-Gregory) 
Legal fees:     $50,000 (per Steve Vettel, FBM) 
Architecture fees for alternatives:  $25,000 
Project Management:   $25,000 
 
Direct Costs:     $644,013 
 
Assuming twelve additional months delay of construction, construction cost of 
approximately $24,000,000 and escalation at 7%/year:   
 
Additional cost of construction:  $1,680,000 
 
Estimated additional costs:   $2,324,013 
 
The additional cost of mitigations is unknown. 
 
I hope this is helpful. 
 
All the best, 
 
David Prowler 
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Planning Commission Draft Motion

hearing date: January 18, 2018



Case No.:	2015-002825CUA

Project Address:	1965 MARKET STREET/255-291 DUBOCE AVENUE

Zoning:	NCT-3 (Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit) and 

	RTO (Residential Transit Oriented District) Zoning Districts

	40-X, 50-X, and 85-X Height and Bulk Districts

Block/Lot:	3534/058, 059, 061, 062

Project Sponsor:	Keller Grover Properties, LLC, Contact: David Prowler 

	1965 Market Street

	San Francisco, CA  94103

	david@prowler.org or (415) 544-0445

Staff Contact:	Elizabeth Gordon Jonckheer – (415) 575-8728 

	elizabeth.gordon-jonckheer@sfgov.org

Recommendation:	Approval with Conditions



ADOPTING FINDINGS RELATING TO A CONDITIONAL USE AUTHORIZATION, PURSUANT TO PLANNING CODE SECTIONS 121.1, 121.7 AND 303, FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A LARGE LOT IN A NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT, AND FOR THE MERGER OF LOTS CREATING A LOT GREATER THAN 5,000 SQUARE FEET IN THE RESIDENTIAL TRANSIT ORIENTED DISTRICT ZONING DISTRICT, FOR THE PROPOSED PROJECT CONSISTING OF  DEMOLITION OF A PORTION OF THE EXISTING 13,500 SQUARE FOOT BUILDING AT 1965 MARKET STREET (LOT 058), REMOVAL OF THE APPROXIMATELY 9,000 SQUARE FOOT SURFACE PARKING LOT (LOTS 059, 061, AND 062) ALONG DUBOCE AVENUE, AND CONSTRUCTION OF A 102,744 SQUARE FOOT 75- TO 85-FOOT HIGH MIXED-USE BUILDING CONTAINING 96 DWELLING UNITS AND INCLUDING RETENTION OF APPROXIMATELY 3,760 SQUARE FOOT OF THE EXISTING GROUND-FLOOR RETAIL WITHIN THE MODERATE SCALE NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL TRANSIT (NCT-3) AND RESIDENTIAL TRANSIT ORIENTED (RTO) ZONING DISTRICTS, AND 40-X, 50-X AND 85-X HEIGHT AND BULK DISTRICTS, AND THE MARKET AND OCTAVIA AREA PLAN, AND ADOPTING FINDINGS UNDER THE CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT. 



Preamble

On May 11, 2017, David Prowler (hereinafter “Project Sponsor”), on behalf of Keller Grover Properties, LLC (Property Owner), filed an application with the Planning Department (hereinafter “Department”) for a Conditional Use Authorization for the proposed project at 1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue, Lots 058, 059, 061, 062 in Assessor’s Block 3534 (hereinafter “subject property”), pursuant to Planning Code Sections 121.1, 121.7 and 303, to demolish a portion of the existing 13,500 square foot building at 1965 Market Street (Lot 058), remove the approximately 9,000 square foot surface parking lot (Lots 059, 061, and 062) along Duboce Avenue, construct a new eight-story (approximately 85-foot tall) residential building, and add a vertical addition of residential dwelling units above and set back from the existing historic Market Street building (approximate height 75-feet/seven stories), with a total of 96 dwelling units (approximately 87,560 gross square feet), 48 off-street vehicle parking spaces, 97 Class 1 bicycle parking spaces, 12 Class 2 bicycle parking spaces, with the retention of approximately 3,760 square feet of retail use at the ground floor level within the Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit (NCT-3) and Residential Transit Oriented (RTO) Zoning Districts, and 40-X, 50-X and 85-X Height and Bulk Districts, and the Market and  Octavia Area  Plan.



The Project Sponsor seeks to proceed under the Individually Requested State Density Bonus Law, Government Code Section 65915 et seq (“the State Law”), as implemented by Planning Code Section 206.6. Under the State Law, a housing development that includes affordable housing is entitled to additional density, concessions and incentives, and waivers from development standards that might otherwise preclude the construction of the project. Waiver is a reduction of development standards that will have the effect of physically precluding the construction of a project at the densities or with the concessions or incentives conferred by the State Law.  Pursuant to Planning Code Section 206.6(c)(4), the Commission may not grant a waiver unless it is necessary to achieve the additional density or the permitted concessions and incentives.  



 In accordance with the Planning Department’s policies regarding projects seeking to proceed under the State Law, the Project Sponsor has provided the Department with a 96 unit “Base Project” that would include housing affordable to low- income households. Because the Project Sponsor is providing 14 units of housing affordable to low income households, the Project is eligible for the State Density Bonus Program, and is eligible for one (1) incentive or concession.  The Project seeks a waiver from the 50-foot height limit the concession/incentive to allow development above the 50-foot height limit applicable to that portion of the lot within the 50-X Height and Bulk District in order to permit three additional residential floors reaching a height of 85 feet. The Project seeks the waiver to accommodate the allowable this accommodation to allow density in a different portion of the site Project Site, which would prevent the project from impacting an existing historic resource. The Project Sponsor has documented that the request for height results in actual and identifiable cost reductions for the project (attached Exhibit D).  No other waivers, incentives or concessions are sought.  Additional density is not requested; the The proposed density bonus project has the same number of dwelling units (96) as the Code-compliant base project. Additional density is not requested; however the proposed density would not be feasible without the concession/incentive.  



The environmental effects of the Project were determined by the San Francisco Planning Department to have been fully reviewed under the Market and Octavia Area Plan Environmental Impact Report (hereinafter "EIR"). The EIR was prepared, circulated for public review and comment, and, at a public hearing on April 5, 2007, by Motion No. 17406, certified by the Commission as complying with the California Environmental Quality Act (Cal. Pub. Res. Code Section 21000 et seq., hereinafter "CEQA"). The certification of the EIR was upheld on appeal to the Board of Supervisors at a public hearing on June 19, 2007. The Commission has reviewed the Final EIR, which has been available for this Commission's review as well as public review.



The EIR is a Program EIR. Pursuant to CEQA Guideline 15168(c)(2), if the lead agency finds that no new effects could occur or no new mitigation measures would be required, the agency may approve  the project as being within the scope of the project covered by the program EIR, and no additional or new environmental review is required. In approving the Market and Octavia Area Plan, the Commission adopted CEQA Findings in its Motion No. 17406 and hereby incorporates such Findings by reference.



Additionally, State CEQA Guidelines Section 15183 provides a streamlined environmental review for projects that are consistent with the development density established by existing zoning, community plan or general plan policies for which an EIR was certified, except as might be necessary to examine whether there is project-specific effects which are peculiar to the project or its site. Section 15183 specifies that examination of environmental effects shall be limited to those effects that (a) are peculiar to the project or parcel on which the project would be located, (b) were not analyzed as significant effects in a prior EIR on the zoning action, general plan or community plan with which the project is consistent, (c) are potentially significant off-site and cumulative impacts which were not discussed in the underlying EIR, or (d) are previously identified in the EIR, but which are determined to have a more severe adverse impact  than that discussed in the underlying EIR. Section 15183(c) specifies that if an impact is not peculiar to the parcel or to the proposed project, then an EIR need not be prepared for that project solely on the basis of that impact.



On November 16, 2017, the Planning Department of the City and County of San Francisco determined that the proposed application did not require further environmental review under Section 15183 of the CEQA Guidelines and Public Resources Code Section 21083.3. The Project is consistent with the adopted zoning controls in the Market and Octavia Area Plan and was encompassed within the analysis contained in the Final EIR. Since the Final EIR was finalized, there have been no substantial changes to the Market and Octavia Area Plan and no substantial changes in circumstances that would require major revisions to the Final EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or an increase in the severity of previously identified significant impacts, and there is no new information  of substantial importance that would change the conclusions set forth in the Final EIR. The file for this project, including the Market and Octavia Area Final EIR and the Community Plan Exemption certificate, is available for review at the San Francisco Planning Department, 1650 Mission Street, Suite 400, San Francisco, California.



Planning Department staff prepared a Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) setting forth mitigation measures that were identified in the Market and Octavia Area Plan EIR that are applicable to the project. These mitigation measures are set forth in their entirety in the MMRP attached to the draft Motion as Exhibit C.



On January 18, 2018, the San Francisco Planning Commission (hereinafter “Commission”) conducted a duly noticed public hearing at a regularly scheduled meeting on Conditional Use Authorization Application No. 2015-002825CUA . 



The Commission has heard and considered the testimony presented to it at the public hearing and has further considered written materials and oral testimony presented on behalf of the applicant, Department staff, and other interested parties.



MOVED, that the Commission hereby authorizes the Conditional Use Authorization requested in Application No. 2015-002825CUA, subject to the conditions contained in “EXHIBIT A” of this motion, based on the following findings:



Findings

Having reviewed the materials identified in the preamble above, and having heard all testimony and arguments, this Commission finds, concludes, and determines as follows:



1. The above recitals are accurate and constitute findings of this Commission.



Site Description and Present Use.  The site (“Project Site”), is located on the southern side of Duboce Avenue at the corner of Duboce Avenue and Market Street, between Guerrero Street and Clinton Park, Lots 58, 59, 61, and 62 of Assessor's Block 3534. The parcel includes the addresses 1965 Market Street, and 255, 263, 275-277, and 291-293 Duboce Avenue. The property is within both the NCT-3 (Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit) Zoning District and the 40- and 85-X Height and Bulk District (1965 Market Street); and, the RTO (Residential Transit Oriented) Zoning District and 50-X Height and Bulk District (255, 263, 275-277, and 291-293 Duboce Avenue). 'The project site totals 16,778 square feet and is currently composed of one existing two- and three-story commercial building, with retail (3,760 square feet) and commercial office (10,000 square feet) uses, and a surface parking lot to the east of the building along Duboce Avenue.  A FedEx location currently operates out of the retail space and the office space currently includes law offices, a real estate company, and vacant office space. The parking lot is used by office tenants and for FedEx customer parking and loading. 



The existing structure at 1965 Market Street is a 35-foot three-story building, designed in 1924 by San Francisco-based architect, Walter Charles Falch, and was built in 1924 as a mortuary and funerary chapel that included two residential units. A third floor addition was added in 1933.  The property is a “Category A” property, a known historical resource under California Environmental Quality Act. The site has been deemed National register and California register-eligible under Criteria A/1 for its association with Reconstruction-era commercial development in the Inner Mission North neighborhood and Market and Octavia Area Plan area (period of significance: 1924-1970), Criteria C/3 for the quality of its distinctive Spanish Colonial/Mission Revival architectural style (period of significance: 1924- 1970); and California register -eligible under Criterion 3 for its association with Atlas Savings & Loan, which was the first financial institution in the United States established by a partnership of gays and lesbians (period of significance 1981-1985).  A majority of the physical features, spaces, and materials of the principal façade of 1965 Market Street are character-defining, such as: the siting and relationship of the building to the street; the size and location of the automobile garage entry; stucco cladding; roof configuration; building plan; open, recessed entry approach; windows and doors including transoms, surrounds and glazing; and architectural elements such as Spanish tile parapets and roof sections, shaped parapets, bracketed cornices, cast plaster ornament, metal balconettes, quoins, pilasters, columns and porch. The east elevation exhibits some alterations and is considered to be of secondary character-defining importance.  



2. Surrounding Properties and Neighborhood.  The Project Site is within the boundaries of the Market and Octavia Area Plan, and the Moderate-Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit (NCT-3) and Residential Transit Oriented (RTO) Zoning Districts.  The property borders the Western Addition and Castro/Upper Market Street neighborhoods. The Project Site is located next to a Pet Food Express, across Dolores Avenue from a Whole Foods Market (grocery), and across Market Street from a Safeway shopping center (grocery). Across Market Street to the north is an eight story, 115-unit residential building, farther to the west is the U.S. Mint. To the east of the project site along the southern side of Duboce Avenue is a mix of two to four story residential buildings. To the south of the project site is a mix of two to four story residential development, including units along Clinton Park that border to the rear of the project site. On the northern side of Duboce Avenue to the east of the project are one to two story commercial buildings and a two story residential building. Along Market Street, parcels are zoned for heights up to 85 feet. Along Duboce Avenue, parcels are zoned for heights up to 50, 60/65, and 80 feet. Major roadways in the project vicinity include Market Street, Duboce Avenue, Dolores Street, Guerrero Street, and Buchanan Street. Interstate 80 and U.S. 101 provide regional access to the project vicinity. The project site is within a quarter mile of several local transit lines, including Muni Metro lines F, J, KT, L, M, and N; as well as Muni bus lines 6, 7, 22, and 37. The 16th Street Mission and Civic Center BART stations are located 0.7 and 0.9 mile from the site, respectively.  



NCT-3 districts are transit-oriented moderate- to high-density mixed-use neighborhoods of varying scale concentrated near transit services. NCT-3 districts support neighborhood-serving commercial uses on lower floors and housing above. These districts are well-served by public transit and aim to maximize residential and commercial opportunities on or near major transit services. The district's form can be either linear along transit-priority corridors, concentric around transit stations, or broader areas where transit services criss-cross the neighborhood. Housing density is limited not by lot area, but by the regulations on the built envelope of buildings, including height, bulk, setbacks, and lot coverage, and standards for residential uses, including open space and exposure, and urban design guidelines. Residential parking is not required and generally limited. Commercial establishments are discouraged or prohibited from building accessory off-street parking in order to preserve the pedestrian-oriented character of the district and prevent attracting auto traffic. There are prohibitions on access (i.e., driveways, garage entries) to off-street parking and loading on critical stretches of neighborhood commercial and transit streets to preserve and enhance the pedestrian-oriented character and transit function. 



The RTO districts are intended to recognize, protect, conserve, and enhance areas characterized by a mixture of houses and apartment buildings, covering a range of densities and building forms. RTO districts are composed of multi-family, moderate-density areas that are well served, within short walking distance of transit and neighborhood commercial areas. Limited small-scale neighborhood-oriented retail and services is common and permitted throughout the neighborhood on corner parcels to provide goods and services to residents within walking distance, but the districts are otherwise residential. The overall residential density is regulated by the permitted and required height, bulk, setbacks, and open space of each parcel, along with residential design guidelines. Because of the high availability of transit service and the proximity of retail and services within walking distance, many households do not own cars; it is common that not every dwelling unit has a parking space, and overall off-street residential parking is limited. In RTO districts, open space is provided on-site, in the form of rear yards, decks, balconies, roof decks, and courtyards, and is augmented by nearby public parks, plazas, and enhanced streetscapes.



Other zoning districts in the vicinity of the Project Site include: Upper Market NCT (Neighborhood Commercial Transit); NC--3 (Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial); and P (Public).



3. Project Description. The proposed project would demolish a portion of the existing 13,500 square foot building at 1965 Market Street (Lot 058), remove the approximately 9,000 square foot surface parking lot (Lots 059, 061, and 062) along Duboce Avenue, and construct a mixed-use building retaining approximately 3,760 square feet of existing ground-floor retail. A new eight-story 85-foot tall (approximately 95 feet tall with rooftop structures) residential building is proposed on the existing surface parking lot.  A vertical addition of four to five floors of residential dwelling units is proposed above a portion of the existing 1965 Market Street building to a total height of 75 feet (approximately 85 feet tall with rooftop structures), set back from the facade by 35 feet along Market Street and 15.5 feet along Duboce Avenue. While the proposed design has the appearance of two separate, but complementary buildings, new construction would result in an interconnected structure. The project would include below grade parking for 48 spaces, and a total of 96 dwelling units (52 one-bedroom, 43 two-bedroom, 1 studio), including 14 on-site affordable units.  The total square footage for the proposed project is just over 102,744 square feet. Pursuant to California Government Code Sections 65915-65918, the Project Sponsor has elected to utilize the State Density Bonus Law. 



The proposed project would retain 1965 Market Street`s historically significant facade and stylistically distinct materials, features, roof line, wall openings, and portions of the existing building interior.  As a way to convey the historic appearance and significant historic uses that have occupied the double-height space of the former funerary chapel, the project sponsor will commission and install a high quality historical interpretive display, to be permanently installed in the building's retail space as a part of the proposed project. The display will incorporate all three of the building's areas of historic significance. The retained historic features of the 1965 Market Street building would contain the primary points of entry for the residential building (i.e., the residential entrance and lobby on Duboce Avenue) and the corner-anchoring neighborhood retail space along Market Street. The new extended portion of the building, eastward along Duboce Avenue would include residential stoops connecting directly with the sidewalk.



4. Public Comment. As of January 11, 2018, the Department has received four emails letters of support and three letters opposing the project. Those in favor of the Project, include the Mission Dolores Neighborhood Association (MDNA), the Castro Community Benefit District, the Merchants of Upper Market and the San Francisco Housing Coalition.  Those in favor are supportive due to the housing proposed, especially considering its proximity to jobs and transit.  Those in opposition of the Project state that the construction will cause environmental harm to the area in the form of traffic, chemical pollutants, noise pollution and increased temperature due to CO2 emissions. 



5. Planning Code Compliance:  The Commission finds that the Project  is consistent with the relevant provisions of the Planning Code in the following manner: 



A. Permitted Uses in the RTO and NCT-3 Zoning Districts. Planning Code Sections 209.4 and 752 state that residential uses are principally permitted uses within each Zoning District.  Retail uses are principally or conditionally permitted in the NCT-3 Zoning District and permitted only in limited circumstances on corner lots in the RTO district.



The Project would construct a new residential use within the RTO and NCT-3 Zoning Districts and retain the retail use in the NCT-3 Zoning District; therefore, the Project complies with Planning Code Sections 209.4 and 752.  It is possible that the current retail tenant, FedEx, would return to the retained 3,760 square feet of ground-floor retail space. To represent a conservative analysis, the environmental review for the proposal assumed a restaurant could occupy the 3,760 square feet of ground-floor retail space. However, the tenant for the retail space has not yet been finalized. Depending on the specific retail tenant(s), they will comply as principally permitted retail uses per Sec. 752 or seek a Conditional Use, as required by the Planning Code. 



B. Development of Large Lots in the NCT-3 Zoning District. Planning Code Sections 121.1 requires Conditional Use Authorization from the Planning Commission for new construction or significant enlargement of existing buildings on lots measuring 10,000 square feet or larger. 



The Project includes new construction and an addition on the combined 16,778 square foot project site; therefore, the Project is requesting Conditional Use Authorization from the Planning Commission for development on a large lot in the NCT-3 Zoning District.



C. Lot Mergers. Planning Code Section 121.7 requires Conditional Use Authorization from the Planning Commission for projects, which result in the merger of lots creating a lot greater than 5,000 square feet in the RTO Zoning District



The Project Site includes the addresses 1965 Market Street, and 255, 263, 275-277, and 291-293 Duboce Avenue. The property is within both the NCT-3 (Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit) Zoning District (1965 Market Street) and the RTO (Residential Transit Oriented) Zoning District (255, 263, 275-277, and 291-293 Duboce Avenue). The Project includes the lot merger of the parcel at 1965 Market Street (Lot 058), and the surface parking lot parcel along Duboce Avenue (Lots 059, 061, and 062), resulting in a lot greater than 5,000 square feet; therefore, the Project is requesting Conditional Use Authorization from the Planning Commission to merge the subject lots within the RTO Zoning District.



D. Floor Area Ratio.  Planning Code Section 124 establishes a FAR (Floor Area Ratio) of 3.6:1 for properties within the NCT-3 Zoning District and a 40-X, 50-X and 85-X Height and Bulk Districts. 



The Project Site contains a subject lot that is within the NCT-3 District and is 7,778 square feet, thus resulting in a maximum allowable floor area of approximately 28,000 sq. ft. for non-residential uses. The Project retains 3,760 square feet of existing ground-floor retail space.



E. Rear Yard.  Planning Code Section 134 requires a minimum rear yard equal to 25 percent of the total lot depth of the lot to be provided at every residential level.



The Project includes a 22-foot, 6-inch above‐grade rear yard for all portions of the new construction equal to 25 percent of the total lot depth of the lot.  Walls of the existing building behind the lobby and retail space are within the rear yard and are existing non-complying.  

 

F. Usable Open Space.  Within the RTO District per Planning Code Section 209.4, a minimum of 100 square feet of open space per dwelling unit if private, or 133 square feet of open space per dwelling unit if common is required. Within the NCT-3 District per Planning Code Section 752, a minimum of 80 square feet of open space per dwelling unit if private, or 100 square feet if common is required for each dwelling unit. 



Per Planning Code Section 134(g), private usable open space shall have a minimum horizontal dimension of six feet and a minimum area of 36 square feet if located on a deck, balcony, porch or roof, and shall have a minimum horizontal dimension of 10 feet and a minimum area of 100 square feet if located on open ground, a terrace or the surface of an inner or outer court. Common usable open space shall be at least 15 feet in every horizontal dimension and shall be a minimum area of 300 square feet. Further, inner courts may be credited as common useable open space if the enclosed space is not less than 20 feet in every horizontal dimension and 400 square feet in area, and if the height of the walls and projections above the court on at least three sides is such that no point on any such wall or projection is higher than one foot for each foot that such point is horizontally distant from the opposite side of the clear space in the court.



The project proposes common open space in the form of a rear yard, side yard, and roof deck at the eighth floor totaling approximately 5,500 square feet. Additional balconies on levels two, three, four, and eight, totaling approximately 2,100 square feet, provide private open space. Private terraces are proposed along the southern and eastern side of the building, providing a total of approximately 2,000 square feet of additional private open space. The Project complies with the open space requirement.  



G. Streetscape and Pedestrian Improvements. Planning Code Section 138.1 requires a streetscape plan, which includes elements from the Better Streets Plan, for projects that are located on a lot larger than one‐half acre and which proposed new construction.  Per Ordinance No. 119‐15 (effective August 14, 2015), the Department of Public  Works (DPW) is responsible for implementing the required number of street trees along the public rights‐of‐way, as formerly required in Planning Code Section 138.1.



The Project Site does not meet the size threshold in Planning Code Section 138.1(c)(2) for Better Streets Plan streetscape requirements for large projects. The subject lots equal approximately 16,778 square foot (0.39 acre) of lot area with a total of 220 feet of sidewalk frontage (178 feet along Duboce Avenue and 42 feet along Market Street). As such, the Project does not meet the threshold for lot size (0.50 acre) or frontage (250 feet) and would not be subject to the Better Streets Plan large project streetscape requirements.



The Duboce Avenue sidewalk is about 10 feet wide along the project frontage. Per the Better Streets Plan, the minimum and recommended widths for sidewalks on this type of street (Commercial Throughway) are 12 feet and 15 feet, respectively. The Market Street sidewalk along the project frontage is about 15 feet wide. Per the Better Streets Plan, the minimum and recommended widths for sidewalks on this type of street (Ceremonial/Civic) vary. The project would include streetscape improvements, including the elimination of curb cuts along Duboce Avenue, which would effectively increase the amount of sidewalk space available for pedestrians and minimize potential for conflicts. The Duboce Avenue sidewalk along the project frontage would be reconstructed to 10 feet to match the existing sidewalk width.  Other amenities that include new street trees and bike racks along Market Street.  

 

H. Bird Safety. Planning Code Section 139 outlines the standards for bird-safe buildings, including the requirements for location-related and feature-related hazards.



The subject lot is not located in close proximity to an Urban Bird Refuge as defined in Section 139, and the Project meets the requirements for feature-related hazards.



I. Dwelling Unit Exposure. Planning Code Section 140 requires that at least one room of all dwelling units face onto a public street, rear yard or other open area that meets minimum requirements for area and horizontal dimensions. To meet exposure requirements, a public street, public alley at least 20 feet wide, side yard or rear yard must be at least 25 feet in width, or an open area (either inner court or a space between separate buildings on the same lot) must be no less than 25 feet in every horizontal dimension for the floor at which the dwelling unit is located.



The Project organizes the dwelling units to have exposure on Duboce Avenue, Market Street or along the rear yard. The dwelling units meet the exposure requirements of the Planning Code.



J. Street Frontage in RTO Districts.  Section 144 of the Planning Code  requires that off-street parking entrances be limited to one-third of the ground story width along the front lot line and no less than one-third be devoted to windows, entrances to dwelling units, landscaping and other architectural features that provide visual relief and interest for the street frontage.



The project complies with the street frontage requirement as it exceeds the visual relief minimum.



K. Street Frontage in Neighborhood Commercial Districts.  Section 145.1 of the Planning Code requires that within NC Districts space for active uses shall be provided within the first 25 feet of building depth on the ground floor and 15 feet on floors above from any facade facing a street at least 30 feet in width. In addition, the floors of street-fronting interior spaces housing non-residential active uses and lobbies shall be as close as possible to the level of the adjacent sidewalk at the principal entrance to these spaces. Frontages with active uses that must be fenestrated with transparent windows and doorways for no less than 60 percent of  the street frontage at the ground level and allow visibility to the inside of  the building. The use of dark or mirrored glass shall not count towards the required transparent area. Any decorative railings or grillwork, other than wire mesh, which is placed in front of or behind ground floor windows, shall be at least 75 percent open to perpendicular view. Rolling or sliding security gates shall consist of open grillwork rather than solid material, so as to provide visual interest to pedestrians when the gates are closed, and to permit light to pass through mostly unobstructed. Gates, when both open and folded or rolled as well as the gate mechanism, shall be recessed within, or laid flush with, the building facade. 



The Project features active uses on the ground floor with a residential lobby, and retail space along Market Street within the retained historic building. As the non-residential uses are located within the historic building and façade to be retained, the ground level floor-to-floor height, transparency and fenestration are existing. The Project complies with Planning Code Section 145.1.  



L. Required Ground Floor Commercial Uses. Section 145.4(d) of the Planning Code requires that on Market Street, for the entirety of the NCT-3, Upper Market NCD, and Upper Market NCT Districts, an individual ground floor nonresidential use may not occupy more than 75 contiguous linear feet for the first 25 feet of depth along a street-facing facade.  



The project contains an existing retail use occupying approximately 41.4 contiguous linear feet of frontage along Market Street. 



M. Off-Street Vehicle Parking. Planning Code Section 151.1 allows the provision of off‐street parking spaces based on the number of residential dwelling units and the gross square footage of retail space (or other uses) within each building.  Neither the RTO nor NCT-3 District require the Project to provide off‐street vehicle parking spaces.  Based on the number of residential dwelling units and the gross square footage and type of commercial space within each zoning district, the Proposed Project would be allowed to provide at maximum 54 vehicle parking spaces.



The Project proposes a total of 48 off-street vehicle parking spaces (including 2 ADA accessible spaces) for residential use and one car share space. Off‐street vehicle parking spaces would be located within a garage one level below grade, including 42 spaces in mechanical stackers, and three additional standard spaces not in stackers. The stacker would allow for horizontal and vertical shifting of the parking platforms. Each individual parking bay would be accessible from the 24‐foot wide drive aisle. The parking spaces would be arranged on two levels and the selected car is moved into the desired position by means of an automatic control system.  The upper level parking spaces would move vertically, and the lower parking spaces would move horizontally to allow upper level cars to be driven off the platforms. The lower level of the system would include one less car than the upper level to enable the lower cars to move left and right to create a vacant space. Vehicle owners would operate the system with a key. The project complies with Planning Code Section 151.1.  



N. Off-Street Freight Loading. Sections 152 of the Planning Code requires off-street loading be provided in the NCT-3 and RTO Zoning Districts for retail uses exceeding 10,000 square feet in area and residential uses exceeding 100,000 square feet in area. 



The project contains a total of 3,760 square feet of existing retail space and 85,200 gross square feet of residential space, therefore the project is not required to provide off-street loading. Commercial loading would be accommodated on-street in a proposed commercial loading (yellow curb) zone along the Duboce Avenue frontage. Pedestrian loading would be accommodated on-street in a proposed passenger loading (white curb) zone also along the Duboce Avenue frontage. One off‐street/on‐site service vehicle loading space would be provided in the proposed parking garage. Per Code Section 153(a)(6), the service vehicle space shall have a minimum width of eight feet, a minimum length of 20 feet, and a minimum vertical clearance of seven feet. Given constraints of the project site, the vertical clearance on the driveway ramp would be limited to 8 feet 6 inches. The service vehicle loading space would be utilized by residents for move‐in/move‐out activities and by smaller delivery vehicles serving the retail or restaurant use.



O. Street Frontage, Parking and Loading Access Restrictions.  Planning Code Section 155(r) restricts curb cuts are on certain specified streets and on Transit Preferential, Citywide Pedestrian Network, Neighborhood Commercial Streets or official City bicycle routes or bicycle lanes, including the entire portion of Market Street from The Embarcadero to Castro Street.  In C-3, NCT and RTO Districts, no curb cuts accessing off-street parking or loading shall be created or utilized on street frontages identified along any Transit Preferential, Citywide Pedestrian Network or Neighborhood Commercial Streets as designated in the Transportation Element of the General Plan or official City bicycle routes or bicycle lanes, where an alternative frontage is available. For bicycle lanes, the prohibition on curb cuts applies to the side or sides of the street where bicycle lanes are located; for one-way bicycle routes or lanes, the prohibition on curb cuts shall apply to the right side of the street only, unless the officially adopted alignment is along the left side of the street.    



The project proposes no curb cuts on Market Street and proposes to reduce the three existing curb cuts (one 31‐foot‐wide entry driveway, one 58‐foot‐wide exit driveway, and one 12‐foot‐wide curb cut) to a single 10-wide curb cut along the project site’s Duboce Avenue frontage, along with eliminating the two on‐street parking spaces Duboce Avenue. The Duboce Avenue frontage would be modified to provide one 40‐foot‐long passenger loading (white curb) zone and one 77‐foot‐6‐inch‐long commercial loading (yellow) zone, as well as a new 10‐foot‐wide curb cut to provide access to the proposed garage. The on‐street commercial loading zone could accommodate delivery vehicles of all sizes and would serve the building’s commercial and residential use. Goods would be transported along the Duboce Avenue and Market Street sidewalks between the commercial entrance on Market Street or the entrance to the residential lobby on Duboce Avenue and the commercial loading zone on Duboce Avenue. The elimination of existing curb cuts, construction of new curb cuts, and conversion of curb space to designated loading zone(s), would be subject to the review and approval of SFMTA.  



P. Bicycle Parking.  Section 155.2 of the Planning Code requires one Class 1 bicycle parking space per dwelling unit and one Class 2 bicycle parking spaces for every 20 dwelling units. Additional bicycle parking requirements apply based on classification of non-residential uses; at least two Class 2 spaces are required for retail uses. 



The Project includes 96 dwelling units; therefore, the Project is required to provide 96 Class 1 bicycle parking spaces and five Class 2 bicycle parking spaces for the residential use and one Class 1 bicycle parking space and five Class 2 bicycle parking spaces for the non‐residential use. The proposed Project would implement Transportation Demand Management (TDM) measures described below and would provide six more Class 2 bicycle parking spaces than required by Code as well as a bicycle repair station. 



The Project complies with Planning Code Section 155.2.  Two Class 1 bicycle storage rooms would provide secure parking for at least 97 bicycles (96 residential, 1 retail) in double‐decker racks. A bicycle repair station would be provided within one of the bicycle storage rooms. The Class 1 bicycle parking would be located within the below grade garage and would be accessible from the garage driveway ramp on Duboce Avenue and from two elevators located in the hallway near the residential lobby. Per the California Building Code Section 3002.4.3a requirement, at least one of the elevator cabs would have minimum interior dimensions of 80 inches in width with a depth of 54 inches and could accommodate a bicycle. Twelve (12) Class 2 bicycle parking spaces would be provided in eight racks on the sidewalk near the pedestrian entrances on Market Street and Duboce Avenue.  Seven new bike racks would be installed on the Duboce Avenue sidewalk and the existing bike rack on Market Street in front of the pedestrian entrance to the retail space would remain. Bike racks would be located near building entrances to maximize visibility and convenience. The provision of Class 2 bicycle parking spaces within the public right‐of‐way, including their locations, would be subject to review and approval by SFMTA and would be subject to the SFMTA Bicycle Rack Placement Guidelines. 



Q. Car-Share Parking Spaces.  In newly constructed buildings containing residential uses or existing buildings being converted to residential uses, per Section 166 of the Planning Code, if parking is provided, car-share parking spaces shall also be provided in specified amounts.  



Section 166 of the Planning Code requires one car-share space for 50-200 residential units. The Project provides one car share space independent of mechanical stackers.



R. Transportation Demand Management (TDM) Plan. Pursuant to Planning Code Section 169 and the TDM Program Standards, the Project shall finalize a TDM Plan prior to Planning Department approval of the first Building Permit or Site Permit.  As currently proposed, the Project must achieve a target of 12 points.



Development Projects with a Development Application filed on or after September 5, 2016, and before January 1, 2018, are subject to 75% of the TDM target.  Therefore, the Project need only achieve 75% of the point target established in the TDM Program Standards, resulting in a target of 12 points. As currently proposed, the Project will exceed the target with 13 points through the following TDM measures: 



· ACTIVE‐2: Bicycle Parking, Option B (2 points). One Class 1 bicycle parking space for each dwelling unit (96 Class 1 spaces) and two Class 2 bicycle parking spaces for every 20 dwelling units (10 Class 2 spaces).

· ACTIVE‐5A: Bicycle Repair Station (1 point). On‐site tools and space for bicycle repair.

· CSHARE‐1: Car Share, Option A (1 point). One on‐site car share parking space, as required by the San Francisco Planning Code. The car share parking space would be located within the proposed below grade garage.

· LU‐2: On‐Site Affordable Housing, Option B (2 points). On‐site affordable housing. Fourteen units (14.5 percent) would be below market rate.

· PKG‐1: Unbundle Parking, Location D (4 points). Parking spaces leased or sold separately from rental or purchase fees.

· PKG 4: Parking Supply, Option C (3 points). Off‐street private vehicle parking would be provided at 70‐to‐80 percent of the off‐street parking rate for the neighborhood.



S. Residential Density.  Both the RTO and NCT-3 Zoning Districts permit residential dwelling units without specific density limitations, allowing physical controls such as height and bulk and required setbacks, exposure, and open space to control dwelling unit density.



The Project Site is 16,778 square-feet in area and provides 96 dwelling units for a ratio of one dwelling unit for each 175 square feet of lot area.



T. Dwelling Unit Mix. Planning Code Section 207.6 requires that no less than 40 percent of the total number of proposed dwelling units contain at least two bedrooms, or no less than 30 percent of the total number of proposed dwelling units contain at least three bedrooms.



Of the 96 units proposed, per Code Section 207.6, 40% = 38 two-bedroom units.  The project proposes 43 two-bedroom units (45%), as well as 52 one-bedroom units (54%) and one studio unit (1%).  The Project meets and exceeds the requirements for dwelling unit mix.



U. Height and Bulk. Planning Code Section 250 and 252 outlines the height and bulk districts within the City and County of San Francisco. The Project is located in three height and bulk districts: 40-X, 50-X and 85-X, with no bulk limit.  



The Project would construct a new eight-story 85-foot tall (approximately 95 feet tall with rooftop structures) residential building on the existing surface parking lot along Duboce Avenue.  A vertical addition of four to five floors of residential dwelling units is proposed above a portion of the existing Market Street building with a total height of 75 feet (approximately 85 feet tall with rooftop structures).



Per California Government Code Sections 65915‐65918, the Project Sponsor has elected to utilize the

State Density Bonus Law, and proposes a waiver, and proposes to seek an incentive/concession that would allow an exception from the development standards for height, which are defined in Planning Codes 250 and 252. The incentive/concession results in identifiable and actual cost reductions for the project (please see discussion under Finding No. 6). The Project seeks a waiver from the 50-foot height limit applicable to that portion of the lot within the 50-X Height and Bulk District in order to permit three additional floors reaching a height of 85 feet. The Project seeks the concession to add density on that portion of the lot within the 50-X Height and Bulk District, subject to the 50-foot height limit, in order to permit three additional floors reaching a height of 85 feet, accommodating the allowable density in a different portion of the site. The sponsor seeks the waiver to accommodate the allowable density in a different portion of the site.  This expansion beyond the height requirement is necessary to prevent the project from impacting the historic resource, and is necessary to enable the construction of the project at the proposed density, as provided by Government Code Section 65915(f)(2).



V.  Shadow.  Planning Code Section 295 restricts net new shadow, cast by structures exceeding a height of 40-feet, upon property under the jurisdiction of the Recreation and Park Commission.  Any project in excess of 40-feet in height and found to cast net new shadow must be found by the Planning Commission, with comment from the General Manager of the Recreation and Parks Department, in consultation with the Recreation and Park Commission, to have no adverse impact upon the property under the jurisdiction of the Recreation and Park Commission.



The Planning Department prepared a preliminary shadow fan analysis and determined that the proposed project would not cast shadows on any parks or open spaces at any time during the year.  



W. Transportation Sustainability Fee. Planning Code Section 411A is applicable to new development that results in more than twenty dwelling units.



The Project includes approximately 85,200 gross square feet of new residential use.  This square footage shall be subject to the Transportation Sustainability Fee, as outlined in Planning Code Section 411A.  The Project filed an environmental review application on or before July 21, 2015, thus the residential use will be subject to 50 percent of the applicable residential TSF.



X. Residential Childcare Impact Fee. Planning Code Section 414A is applicable to any residential development citywide that results in the addition of a residential unit. 



The Project includes approximately 85,200 gross square feet of residential use.  The proposed Project is subject to fees as outlined in Planning Code Section 414A with a Market and Octavia Plan Area Credit.  



Y. Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program. Planning Code Section 415 sets forth the requirements and procedures for the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program. Under Planning Code Section 415.3, these requirements would apply to any housing project that consists of 10 or more units where an individual project or a phased project is to be undertaken and where the total undertaking comprises a project with 10 or more units, even if the development is on separate but adjacent lots. The applicable percentage is dependent on the number of units in the project, the zoning of the property, and the date that the project submitted a complete Environmental Evaluation Application. For any development project that submitted a complete Environmental Evaluation application on or prior to January 12, 2016, affordable units in the amount of 14.5 percent of the number of units shall be constructed on-site.  



The Project Sponsor seeks to develop under the State Density Bonus Law, and therefore must include on‐site affordable units in order to construct the Project at the requested density and with the requested waivers of development standards. The Project Sponsor submitted a complete Environmental Evaluation on March 6, 2015, and thus is required to provide affordable units in the amount of 14.5 percent of the number of units constructed on site. Further, the Project Sponsor has submitted an ‘Affidavit of Compliance with the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program: Planning Code Section 415,’ to satisfy the requirements of the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program by providing on‐site affordable housing. The Project Sponsor is providing 14.5 percent of the base project units (in this case same as proposed) as affordable to satisfy the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program obligation.



The Project Sponsor will provide 14.5 percent of the total proposed dwelling units in the Base Project (in this case same as proposed) as affordable to low income households (as defined in California Health and Safety Code section 50105) to satisfy the Inclusionary obligation. If the Project becomes ineligible to meet its Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program obligation through the On‐site Affordable Housing Alternative prior to issuance of the first construction document, this conditional use approval shall be deemed null and void. If the Project becomes ineligible to meet its Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program obligation through the On‐site Affordable Housing Alternative after construction, it must pay the Affordable Housing Fee with interest, if applicable, on the entirety of the Project, including those additional units constructed as allowed under State Law.



The Project Sponsor has demonstrated that it is eligible for the On-Site Affordable Housing Alternative under Planning Code Section 415.5 and 415.6, and has submitted a ‘Affidavit of Compliance with the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program: Planning Code Section 415,’ to satisfy the requirements of the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program by providing the affordable housing on-site instead of through payment of the Affordable Housing Fee. In order for the Project Sponsor to be eligible for the On-Site Affordable Housing Alternative, the Project Sponsor must submit an ‘Affidavit of Compliance with the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program: Planning Code Section 415,’ to the Planning Department stating that on‐site units are not subject to the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act, California Civil Code Section 1954.50 because, under Section 1954.52(b), the Project Sponsor seeks to develop under the State Density Bonus Law  The Project Sponsor submitted such Affidavit on January 18, 2018.  The EE application was submitted on March 6, 2015. Pursuant to Planning Code Sections 415.3, 415.6 and 419, the current on-site requirement is 14.5%. 14 units of the 96 units (43 two-bedroom units, 52 one-bedroom units and one studio unit) provided will be affordable units. If the Project becomes ineligible to meet its Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program obligation through the On-site Affordable Housing Alternative, it must pay the Affordable Housing Fee with interest, if applicable.



Z. Market and Octavia Plan Area Affordable Housing Fee. Per Section 416 of the Code, the project requires payment per net square foot of residential development space not designated for below market rate units as part of the Market and Octavia Affordable Housing Fee.



The Project is subject to the Market and Octavia Plan Area Affordable Housing Fee for that portion of the project located within the NCT District, as outlined in Planning Code Section 416, based on the location of BMR units. These fees must be paid prior to the issuance of the building permit application.



AA. Market and Octavia Community Infrastructure Impact Fee. Per Section 421 of the Code, the project requires payment per gross new square foot of residential and commercial development for the Market and Octavia Community Improvements Fund.



The Project includes approximately 85,200 gross square feet of new residential use.  The Project is subject to the Market and Octavia Community Infrastructure Impact Fee as outlined in Planning Code Section 421. These fees must be paid prior to the issuance of the building permit application.



6. State Density Bonus Law: Per California Government Code Section 65915-65918, the Project Sponsor has elected to utilize the State Density Bonus Law. The State Law permits a minimum 20 percent and a maximum 35 percent density bonus if at least 10 percent to 20 percent of the “Base Project” units are affordable to lower‐income households (as defined in California Health and Safety Code section 50105). The “Base Project” includes the amount of residential development that could occur on the project site as of right without modifications to the physical aspects of the Planning Code (ex: open space, dwelling unit exposure, etc.). Under the State Density Bonus Law, the Project Sponsor is entitled to a limited number of concessions or incentives, as well as waivers for any development standard that would physically preclude construction of the project at the proposed density.



The Project is providing 14 low-income (51-80% AMI) units as part of the project, equal to 14.5 percent of the Project’s units, thereby entitling the Project to a development standard waiver under the State Density Bonus law.  Under the State Density Bonus program, the proposed project seeks a waiver from the 50-foot height limit applicable to that portion of the lot within the 50-X Height and Bulk District in order to permit three additional floors reaching a height of 85 feet. The sponsor seeks the waiver to accommodate the allowable density in a different portion of the site, which would prevent the project from impacting the historic resource. No other waivers, incentives or concessions are sought.  Additional density is not requested; the proposed density bonus project has the same number of dwelling units (96) as the Code-compliant Base Project.



Per Planning Code Section 206.6(c)(3), the Planning Commission shall hold a hearing and shall approve the Concession or Incentive requested unless it makes written findings, based on substantial evidence that: 



a) The Concession or Incentive does not result in identifiable and actual cost reductions; or



The Incentive/Concession is required in order to permit the construction of the proposed project.  



Application of the 50-foot height limit would preclude construction 36 of the 96 units (4 floors x 9 units each on the parking lot portion of the site).  The height concession on Lots 59, 61 and 62 from 50 feet to 85 feet are required in order to move 36 of the project units from Lot 58 (1965 Market Street portion of the property) to Lots 59, 61, and 62 (Duboce Avenue portion), thereby reducing the scope of development on Lot 58 and eliminating the significant environmental impact that would be associated with demolishing the historically significant 1965 Market Street building to accommodate those 36 units.  The demolition of the 1965 Market Street building would require the preparation of an Environmental Impact Report (EIR). An EIR would cost approximately $644,000 in additional fees, consultant and staffing costs. In addition, the carrying costs for the project would total approximately $1.68M, assuming that the preparation of an EIR would add at least 12 months to the project, and that construction costs would continue to escalate at 7% annually. The estimate prepared by the Project Sponsor does not include the additional costs of mitigation, as specific mitigation measures were not identified as part of the Community Plan Exemption prepared for the project. In total, the request for an incentive/concession would result in approximately $2.3M in cost reduction. 



b) The Concession or Incentive would have a specific adverse impact, as defined in California Government Code Section 65589.5(d)(2) upon public health and safety or the physical environment or any real property listed on the California Register of Historical Resources and for which there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific adverse impact without rendering the Housing Project unaffordable to low- and moderate-income households; or



The concession/incentive would not have a specific adverse impact upon public health and safety or the physical environment or any real property that is listed in the California Register of Historical Resources and for which there is no feasible method to satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific adverse impact without rendering the Housing Project unaffordable to low- and moderate-income households.  



The proposed project would not have a significant impact on the historic resources on the site, and would conform to the Secretary of the Interior Standards for Rehabilitation in the design of the addition and new construction. The existing structure at 1965 Market Street is a 35-foot three-story building, designed in 1924 by San Francisco-based architect, Walter Charles Falch, and was built in 1924 as a mortuary and funerary chapel that included two residential units. A third floor addition was added in 1933.  The property is a “Category A” property, a known historical resource under California Environmental Quality Act. The site has been deemed National register and California register-eligible under Criteria A/1 for its association with Reconstruction-era commercial development in the Inner Mission North neighborhood and Market and Octavia Area Plan area (period of significance: 1924-1970), Criteria C/3 for the quality of its distinctive Spanish Colonial/Mission Revival architectural style (period of significance: 1924- 1970); and is California register-eligible under Criterion 3 for its association with Atlas Savings & Loan, which was the first financial institution in the United States established by a partnership of gays and lesbians (period of significance 1981-1985). The redistribution of some the project’s height and massing to an equivalent portion at the adjacent parking lot parcel as is currently proposed prevents a specific adverse impact to the historic property.  The project allows the 1965 Market Street portion to convey its historic appearance, and not affect the site's eligibility for either the National or California registers. 



The Project is providing 14 low-income (51-80% AMI) units as part of the project, equal to 14.5 percent of the Project’s units. As currently proposed with the concession for height on Lots 59, 61 and 62, the low-income units will be incorporated through the project.  Affordability at the density provided by the proposed project could not otherwise be accommodated without impacting the historic resource on Lot 58 (1965 Market Street).



c) The Concession or Incentive would be contrary to state or federal law.



[bookmark: _GoBack]The Concession or Incentive is not contrary to state or federal law. 



7. Planning Code Section 303 establishes criteria for the Planning Commission to consider when reviewing applications for Conditional Authorization. On balance, the project complies with said criteria in that: 



a) The proposed new uses and building, at the size and intensity contemplates and at the proposed location, will provide a development that is necessary of desirable, and compatible with, the neighborhood or the community.



The proposed mixed-use building will retain the existing retail space at its current size and configuration and the proposal removes a parking lot and 10,000 square feet of office space for replacement with residential units. Ninety-six homes at varying levels of subsidy and a mix of sizes will be added.   Of the 96 residential units, 43 will be 2 bedrooms, to address the City’s need for family units. 14.5% of all units, including exempt units made possible by use of the State Density Bonus, will be on-site BMR units. The Project is necessary and desirable in maintaining and contributing to the important aspects of the existing neighborhood, while providing new housing opportunities. Housing is a top priority for the City and County of San Francisco. The size and intensity of the proposed development is necessary and desirable for this neighborhood and the surrounding community because it will provide new opportunities for housing and add new site amenities that will contribute to the character of the surrounding neighborhood.  



Located at a prominent site on Market Street at Duboce Avenue, the size and massing of the proposal relate to the width of Market Street and to nearby buildings, including the 85 foot tall 38 Dolores project at Market and Dolores Streets and the similarly sized Linea building at 8 Buchanan Street, directly across Market Street. In addition, the massing of the proposed structure, with a deep setback above the existing historic façade of 1965 Market Street, is designed to maintain the significant features of the existing historic building.  



The project site is well served by transit.  In combination, the proposed residential and retail use, at the scale and density contemplated, will enhance the existing mixed-use character of the neighborhood. The influx of new residents will contribute to the economic vitality of the existing neighborhood by adding new patrons for the nearby retail uses. In summary, the Project is an appropriate urban intervention and infill development.  



b) That such use or feature as proposed will not be detrimental to the health, safety, convenience or general welfare of persons residing or working in the vicinity, or injurious to property, improvements or potential development on the vicinity, with respect to aspects including but not limited to the following:



i. Nature of proposed site, including its size and shape, and the proposed size, shape and arrangement of structures;



	 The design and arrangement of the building will enhance the neighborhood. The building is designed to read as three distinct buildings: an 85 foot tall building to be constructed on the site of the current parking lot; the existing historic building; and, set back from the property line above that building between 15 feet and 35 feet, a residential tower rising to 75 feet. To lessen impact on the historic resource – the 1965 Market Street building, in addition to the significant setback, the height has been reduced below the allowed 85 feet at that location and shifted east to the parking lot site. Overall, the Project, which would establish a new mixed use building with existing ground floor retail in an existing mixed-use neighborhood, will be beneficial to the surrounding neighborhood.



ii. The accessibility and traffic patterns for persons and vehicles, the type and volume of   such traffic, and the adequacy of proposed off-street parking and loading;



The Project would not adversely affect public transit in the neighborhood. All parking will be below grade and accessed from a single entry at the eastern edge of the site, minimizing conflicts with pedestrians and bicyclists. Measures to ensure avoidance of conflicts with vehicular traffic on Duboce Avenue have been developed and will be implemented, along with a Transportation Demand Management plan. The 96 units will be served by 48 spaces, below the allowable 54 spaces. Most of the parking will be in lifts.  



The site is well served by public transit, with an F line stop directly across the street, the J, K, L, M, N, and T Metro stops one block away, and the 6, 7, 14, 14R, 24, 33, 49 lines and the 16th Street Mission BART station within 5 blocks.  Provision of bicycle storage areas along with the close proximity to mass transit is anticipated to encourage residents, employees and visitors to use alternate modes of transportation.  



iii. The safeguards afforded to prevent noxious or offensive emissions such as noise, glare, dust and odor;



The Project will comply with the City’s requirements to minimize noise, glare, odors, or other harmful emissions. Conditions of Approval are included to address potential issues.



iv. Treatment given, as appropriate, to such aspects as landscaping, screening, open spaces, parking and loading areas, service areas, lighting and signs;



 Street trees along Market Street and Duboce Avenue will be retained and additional street trees planted on Duboce Avenue. The South wall of the existing building will be retained, with the rear yard running east from that wall to be set back from the property line 22 feet 6 inches, alongside the rear yards of housing on Clinton Park. Parking will not be visible from the street and there will be a net reduction in curb cuts. Existing non-historic signage will be removed. These upgrades will be beneficial to the surrounding neighborhood because it will provide new street improvements, lighting and vegetation.



c) That the use as proposed will comply with the applicable provisions of the Planning Code and will not adversely affect the General Plan.



The Project complies with all relevant requirements and standards of the Planning Code, except for those requirements for which the Project Sponsor seeks a waiver seeks an incentive/concession under the State Density Bonus Law (California Government Code Sections 65915‐65918). The Commission finds that these waivers are the concession is required in order to construct the Project at the density allowed by State Law. The Project is consistent with objectives and policies of the General Plan as detailed below.



d) That the use as proposed would provide development that is in conformity with the purpose of the applicable Neighborhood Commercial District.



The Project will be in conformity with the Moderate-Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit (NCT-3) District in that it will provide a mixed-use development that includes residential units on the upper floors and ground floor retail space consistent with surrounding neighborhood. 



8. Planning Code Section 121.1 establishes criteria for the Planning Commission to consider when reviewing applications for Developments of Large Lots In Neighborhood Commercial Districts. On balance, the project complies with said criteria in that:



i. The mass and facade of the proposed structure are compatible with the existing scale of the district.



The proposed building at 1965 Market Street creates a gateway to the Upper Market Street neighborhood. The massing and design meet the vision set out for the area in the Market and Octavia Area Plan. The design matches the current height and massing in the district, which includes Safeway, the San Francisco Mint, Linea, and 38 Dolores. The design enhances the neighborhood, maintains the corner at the key intersection of Market Street and Duboce Avenue, and serves as a complementary backdrop to highlight the existing historic building on the site.  The building is designed to read as three distinct forms. The design incorporates an 8-story building on the current parking lot; the existing historic building and towers; and a 75-foot residential tower that is set back between 15 and 35 feet from the property line and the historic building. Façade treatments and materials selection will highlight, personalize, and further distinguish these three parts. On the corner parcel, the height has been decreased below the allowed 85 feet to reduce the impact on the 1965 Market Street building. Behind the existing towers, the residential building has a simple, subtly curving façade that further respects the historic resource. Narrow, tall windows on this façade provide residential views to Market Street while referencing the existing historic window typology. On the parking lot site, a modulated façade features bays to match the contextual urban rhythm and suit the neighborhood fabric. The building’s narrow footprint increases natural daylighting and reduces its impact on its neighbors.  The new construction engages with the existing historic resource, and it enhances the quality of the Upper Market area.



ii. The facade of the proposed structure is compatible with design features of adjacent facades that contribute to the positive visual quality of the district.



 The proposed facade design and architectural treatments with various vertical and horizontal elements and a pedestrian scale ground floor is compatible with the design features of the immediate district. The design of the addition and new construction is subordinate to and compatible with the historic resource, yet differentiated. The existing building is significantly modulated; the new construction references this and reflects the existing composition. Colors and materials are referential to the historic resource, and wall to window ratios are consistent with existing patterns. The proposed design also maintains an architectural dialog with the Mint in its scale and civic presence, while addressing a residential scale and texture. The proposed design incorporates a geometric relationship with the resource through horizontality and fenestration proportion depicting floor levels, and materiality at a fine-grained scale, specifically utilizing cladding materials distinctly residential in character such as cement plaster and masonry.  The new building's character ensures the best design of the times with high-quality building materials that relate to the surrounding structures while acknowledging and respecting the positive attributes of the older building.  Overall, the Project offers an architectural treatment that appears consistent and compatible with the surrounding neighborhood.



9. Planning Code Section 121.7 establishes criteria for the Planning Commission to consider when reviewing applications for the merger of lots creating a lot greater than 5,000 square feet in the Residential Transit Oriented (RTO) Zoning District. The Planning Commission may approve permit mergers exceeding said restrictions only when one (or more) of the following findings can affirmatively be made. On balance, the project complies with said criteria in that:



a) The lot merger will enable a specific residential project that provides housing on-site at affordability levels significantly exceeding the requirements of Section 415.



 The Project does not exceed the requirements of Section 415.  However, the Project will meet its inclusionary affordable housing requirements by designating a certain number of dwelling units as part of the on-site affordable housing alternative, identified in Planning Code Section 415.  The Project proposes 96 units at varying levels of subsidy and a mix of sizes.  14.5% of all units, including exempt units made possible by use of the State Density Bonus, will be on-site BMR units. 



b) The lot merger will facilitate development of an underutilized site historically used as a single use and the new project is comprised of multiple individual buildings.



Merger of the 9,000 square foot parking lot in the RTO district with the adjacent parcel in the NCT-3 district enables a development that maximizes housing production while preserving the character-defining elements of the historic resource/Category A structure. Currently, the lots proposed for merger have historically been used as a single use, the parking lot for the office/retail at 1965 Market Street. The RTO-zoned parking lot provides accessory parking. The assembled parcel and resultant development is consistent with the size of surrounding developments. Although a large lot is created, the design of the proposed project will read as three distinct buildings: the existing building, the addition to that building, and the element to replace the parking lot.



c) The lot merger serves a unique public interest that cannot be met by building a project on a smaller lot.



The Project serves a unique public interest in providing new housing opportunities. Housing is a top priority for the City and County of San Francisco. The size and intensity of the proposed development cannot be met on a smaller lot.   The project is not feasible to construct without merging the lots making up the development site, because Building Code requirements would result in four separate structures with separate exiting and building cores.  The proposed merger concession/incentive also allows the project sponsor to accommodate the allowable density in a different portion of the site, which would prevent the project from impacting the historic resource under the State Density Bonus program.



10. General Plan Compliance.  The Project is, on balance, consistent with the following Objectives and Policies of the General Plan:



Housing ELEMENT



Objectives and Policies 



OBJECTIVE 1

IDENTIFY AND MAKE AVAILABLE FOR DEVELOPMENT ADEQUATE SITES TO MEET THE CITY’S HOUSING NEEDS, ESPECIALLY PERMANENTLY AFFORDABLE HOUSING.


Policy 1.1

Plan for the full range of housing needs in the City and County of San Francisco, especially affordable housing.



Policy 1.8

Promote mixed use development, and include housing, particularly permanently affordable housing, in new commercial, institutional, or other single use development projects.



Policy 1.10

Support new housing projects, especially affordable housing, where households can easily rely on public transportation, walking and bicycling for the majority of daily trips.



The Project is a higher density mixed-use development on an underutilized lot along a primary vehicular transit corridor. The Project Site is an ideal infill site that is currently occupied by a commercial retail use and ancillary surface parking lot. The proposed Project would add 96 units of housing to the site with a dwelling unit mix of studio, one-bedroom, and two-bedroom units. The Project is consistent with the RTO and NCT-3 Zoning Districts, which encourage housing development in new buildings at and above the ground story and that is affordable to people with a wide range of incomes.  The Project includes 14 on-site affordable housing units for ownership and satisfies its inclusionary affordable housing requirement.



OBJECTIVE 4

FOSTER A HOUSING STOCK THAT MEETS THE NEEDS OF ALL RESIDENTS ACROSS

LIFECYCLES.



Policy 4.1

Develop new housing, and encourage the remodeling of existing housing, for families with children.



The 43 proposed two-bedroom units are sized to provide housing for families with children. The proposal adds 96 housing units at a site where none now exist and maximizes the supply by employing the State Density Bonus program. While the Density Bonus does not create additional units beyond those permitted by Code, it does enable the sponsor to best balance the City’s preservation and housing goals. 14.5% of all units will be offered at below market rates. By creating a mix of unit sizes, ranging from approximately 482 square foot studios to a 1,370 square foot 2-bedroom, the project offers housing options to meet different needs.



OBJECTIVE 11

SUPPORT AND RESPECT THE DIVERSE AND DISTINCT CHARACTER OF SAN FRANCISCO’S NEIGHBORHOODS.


Policy 11.1

Promote the construction and rehabilitation of well-designed housing that emphasizes beauty, flexibility, and innovative design, and respects existing neighborhood character.



Policy 11.2

Ensure implementation of accepted design standards in project approvals.



Policy 11.3

Ensure growth is accommodated without substantially and adversely impacting existing residential neighborhood character.



The Project responds to the site’s location within a mixed-character neighborhood. The Project would construct a new eight-story residential building along Duboce Avenue and add residential floors above the historic resource at 1965 Market Street. The scale of the Project is appropriate from an urban design perspective because it recognizes the site as a gateway corner to the Upper Market neighborhood, as well as the significance of this location along the Market Street transit corridor. The Project provides an appropriate massing and scale for the adjacent contexts. In addition, the proposed design maintains an architectural dialog with the Mint in its scale and civic presence, while also addressing a residential scale and texture. The proposed design incorporates a geometric relationship with the resource through horizontality and fenestration proportion depicting floor levels, and materiality at a fine-grained scale, specifically utilizing cladding materials distinctly residential in character such as cement plaster and masonry. 



OBJECTIVE 12

BALANCE HOUSING GROWTH WITH ADEQUATE INFRASTRUCTURE THAT SERVES THE CITY’S GROWING POPULATION.



Policy 12.2

Consider the proximity of quality of life elements, such as open space, child care, and neighborhood services, when developing new housing.



The Project is located in proximity to many neighborhood amenities. The Project is located on at the corner of Duboce Avenue and Market Street, which provide a variety of retail establishments, restaurants, small grocery stores and cafes.  



OBJECTIVE 13

PRIORITIZE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT IN PLANNING FOR AND CONSTRUCTING NEW HOUSING.



Policy 13.1

Support “smart” regional growth that locates new housing close to jobs and transit.



Policy 13.3

Promote sustainable land use patterns that integrate housing with transportation in order to increase transit, pedestrian, and bicycle mode share.



The Project Site is located within a quarter mile of several local transit lines, including Muni Metro lines F, J, KT, L, M, and N; as well as Muni bus lines 6, 7, 22, and 37. The 16th Street Mission and Civic Center BART stations are located 0.7 and 0.9 mile from the site, respectively. Residential mixed-use development at this site would support a smart growth and sustainable land use pattern in locating new housing in the urban core close to jobs and transit. Furthermore, the bicycle network along Market Street is highly developed and utilized.  The Project provides a Class 1 bicycle storage facility and bicycle repair station in the garage providing parking for at least 97 bicycles. Additional bicycle parking spaces (16 Class 2 spaces in sidewalk racks) would be provided near pedestrian entrances on Market Street and Duboce Avenue. 



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



[bookmark: MIS_LUS_1][bookmark: MIS_LUS_2][bookmark: CW_LUS_2][bookmark: ESO_BUF_1][bookmark: CW_HSG_3][bookmark: CW_BUF_1][bookmark: CW_BUF_2]MARKET AND OCTAVIA AREA PLAN 

Objectives and Policies

 

OBJECTIVE 1.1 

CREATE A LAND USE PLAN THAT EMBRACES THE MARKET AND OCTAVIA NEIGHBORHOOD’S POTENTIAL AS A MIXED-USE URBAN NEIGHBORHOOD.



Policy 1.1.2

Concentrate more intense uses and activities in those areas best served by transit and most accessible on foot.



Policy 1.1.3

Encourage housing and retail infill to support the vitality of the Hayes-Gough, Upper Market, and Valencia Neighborhood Commercial Districts.



The Project consists of high-density housing and supporting uses close to the transit.  



Policy 1.1.8

Reinforce continuous retail activities on Market, Church, and Hayes Streets, as well as on Van Ness Avenue.



Retail use will continue at the Market Street frontage



OBJECTIVE 1.2 

ENCOURAGE URBAN FORM THAT REINFORCES THE PLAN AREA’S UNIQUE PLACE IN THE CITY’S LARGER URBAN FORM AND STRENGTHENS ITS PHYSICAL FABRIC AND CHARACTER.



Policy 1.2.2

Maximize housing opportunities and encourage high-quality commercial spaces on the ground floor.



Policy 1.2.4

Encourage buildings of the same height along each side of major streets.



Housing opportunities are maximized by matching the Project’s 85-foot height with the same heights of 38 Dolores Street (at Market Street); Linea, directly across Market Street; and Venn, nearby at 1844 Market Street.





OBJECTIVE 2.2

ENCOURAGE CONSTRUCTION OF RESIDENTIAL INFILL THROUGHOUT THE PLAN AREA.



Policy 2.2.4

Encourage new housing above ground-floor commercial uses in new development and expansion of existing commercial buildings.



The site currently provides a surface parking lot, formula retail store (Fed Ex Office) and office suites. The site currently holds 14,000 square feet of developed space, which will be increased six-fold. Up to 96 housing units will be added where there are now none.



OBJECTIVE 3.2 

PROMOTE THE PRESERVATION OF NOTABLE HISTORIC LANDMARKS, INDIVIDUAL HISTORIC BUILDINGS, AND FEATURES THAT HELP TO PROVIDE CONTINUITY WITH THE PAST.



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

To maintain the City’s supply of affordable housing, historic rehabilitation projects may need to accommodate other considerations in determining the level of restoration.



The project retains the character defining features of the historic 1965 Market Street building while allowing the addition of a significant amount of new housing, including affordable housing.



OBJECTIVE 5.3

ELIMINATE OR REDUCE THE NEGATIVE IMPACT OF PARKING ON THE PHYSICAL CHARACTER AND QUALITY OF THE NEIGHBORHOOD.


Policy 5.2.3

Minimize the negative impacts of parking on neighborhood quality.



A 25-space parking lot would be removed and replaced with residential units. The proposed project would not provide a parking space for each residential unit. While the portion within the RTO Zone would permit .5 spaces per unit and the portion within the NCT-3 District would provide .75 spaces per unit, for a total of 54 spaces, the proposed project would provide only 48 spaces.

 

11. [bookmark: MIS_LUS_8][bookmark: SHP_HSG_3]Planning Code Section 101.1(b) establishes eight priority-planning policies and requires review of permits for consistency with said policies.  On balance, the Project complies with said policies in that: 



A. That existing neighborhood-serving retail uses be preserved and enhanced and future opportunities for resident employment in and ownership of such businesses be enhanced. 



The site currently houses a retail use, Fed Ex Office. This facility is one of 20 in the City and UPS and other vendors offer similar services in the Upper Market neighborhood. The proposed project will contain 3,760 gross square of retail space and the sponsor hopes to retain the existing use. The Project improves the urban form of the neighborhood by adding new residents, visitors, and employees to the neighborhood, which would assist in strengthening nearby retail uses.



B. That existing housing and neighborhood character be conserved and protected in order to preserve the cultural and economic diversity of our neighborhoods.



No housing is removed as part of the project.  The Market/Octavia neighborhood and the adjoining Castro, Valencia Corridor, Hayes Valley, and Mission Neighborhoods are characterized by a mix of uses, typically either low- to mid- rise housing, often with retail below, or larger new mixed use projects on major streets. The existing non-residential office/retail/parking use is an anomaly in these districts. The scale of the proposed project, with generous setbacks on Market Street and height of 75 feet – 85 feet complements that of newer structures in the vicinity of the Dolores Street/Market Street intersection: the 38 Dolores and Linea buildings at 85 feet, the Safeway complex with the block-long Mint behind. All of the new buildings on Market Street built in compliance with the Market and Octavia Plan contain housing above retail, as is proposed on this site. The addition to the existing historic 1965 Market Street building is designed to respect the character defining features of the 1924 structure while contributing to meeting San Francisco’s housing goals. The Project offers an architectural treatment that is deferential to the resource, yet contextual, and an architectural design that is consistent and compatible with the surrounding neighborhood. For these reasons, the Project would protect and preserve the cultural and economic diversity of the neighborhood. 



C. That the City's supply of affordable housing be preserved and enhanced.



The Project will not displace any affordable housing because there is currently no housing on the site. The Project will comply with the City’s Inclusionary Housing Program, therefore increasing the stock of affordable housing units in the City. 



D. That commuter traffic not impede MUNI transit service or overburden our streets or neighborhood parking. 



The Project Site is served by public transportation. Future residents would be afforded close proximity to bus or rail transit. The Project also provides bicycle parking for residents and their guests.    



E. That a diverse economic base be maintained by protecting our industrial and service sectors from displacement due to commercial office development, and that future opportunities for resident employment and ownership in these sectors be enhanced.



The Project will not displace any service or industry establishment.  The Project will not affect industrial or service sector uses or related employment opportunities.  Ownership of industrial or service sector businesses will not be affected by this project. 



F. That the City achieve the greatest possible preparedness to protect against injury and loss of life in an earthquake.



The Project will be designed and will be constructed to conform to the structural and seismic safety requirements of the Building Code.  This proposal will not adversely affect the property’s ability to withstand an earthquake.



G. That landmarks and historic buildings be preserved. 



The historic building's character defining features will be retained and rehabilitated to the Secretary of the Interior Standards for Rehabilitation. Architectural features from the period of significance (1914-1930) including siting and relationship of the building to the street; the size and location of the automobile garage entry; stucco cladding; roof configuration; building plan; open, recessed entry approach; windows and doors including transoms, surrounds and glazing; and architectural elements such as Spanish tile parapets and roof sections, shaped parapets, bracketed cornices, cast plaster ornament, metal balconettes, quoins, pilasters, columns and porch. 



H. That our parks and open space and their access to sunlight and vistas be protected from development. 



The Planning Department prepared a preliminary shadow fan analysis and determined that the proposed project would not cast shadows on any parks or open spaces at any time during the year.



12. First Source Hiring. The Project is subject to the requirements of the First Source Hiring Program as they apply to permits for residential development (Section 83.4(m) of the Administrative Code), and the Project Sponsor shall comply with the requirements of this Program as to all construction work and on‐going employment required for the Project. Prior to the issuance of any building permit to construct or a First Addendum to the Site Permit, the Project Sponsor shall have a First Source Hiring Construction and Employment Program approved by the First Source Hiring Administrator, and evidenced in writing. In the event that both the Director of Planning and the First Source Hiring Administrator agree, the approval of the Employment Program may be delayed as needed. 



The Project Sponsor submitted a First Source Hiring Affidavit and prior to issuance of a building permit will execute a First Source Hiring Memorandum of Understanding and a First Source Hiring Agreement with the City’s First Source Hiring Administration.



13. The Project is consistent with and would promote the general and specific purposes of the Code provided under Section 101.1(b) in that, as designed, the Project would contribute to the character and stability of the neighborhood and would constitute a beneficial development. 



14. The Commission hereby finds that approval of the Conditional Use Authorization would promote the health, safety and welfare of the City.




DECISION

That based upon the Record, the submissions by the Applicant, the staff of the Department and other interested parties, the oral testimony presented to this Commission at the public hearings, and all other written materials submitted by all parties, the Commission hereby APPROVES Conditional Use Authorization Application No. 2015-002825CUA subject to the following conditions attached hereto as “EXHIBIT A” in general conformance with plans on file, dated December 21, 2017, and stamped “EXHIBIT B”, which is incorporated herein by reference as though fully set forth.



The Planning Commission hereby adopts the MMRP attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated herein as part of this Motion by this reference thereto. All required mitigation measures identified in the Eastern Neighborhoods Plan EIR and contained in the MMRP are included as conditions of approval.



APPEAL AND EFFECTIVE DATE OF MOTION:  Any aggrieved person may appeal this Conditional Use Authorization to the Board of Supervisors within thirty (30) days after the date of this Motion No. XXXXX. The effective date of this Motion shall be the date of this Motion if not appealed (After the 30-day period has expired) OR the date of the decision of the Board of Supervisors if appealed to the Board of Supervisors.  For further information, please contact the Board of Supervisors at (415) 554-5184, City Hall, Room 244, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, San Francisco, CA 94102.



Protest of Fee or Exaction:  You may protest any fee or exaction subject to Government Code Section 66000 that is imposed as a condition of approval by following the procedures set forth in Government Code Section 66020.  The protest must satisfy the requirements of Government Code Section 66020(a) and must be filed within 90 days of the date of the first approval or conditional approval of the development referencing the challenged fee or exaction.  For purposes of Government Code Section 66020, the date of imposition of the fee shall be the date of the earliest discretionary approval by the City of the subject development.  



If the City has not previously given Notice of an earlier discretionary approval of the project, the Planning Commission’s adoption of this Motion, Resolution, Discretionary Review Action or the Zoning Administrator’s Variance Decision Letter constitutes the approval or conditional approval of the development and the City hereby gives NOTICE that the 90-day protest period under Government Code Section 66020 has begun.  If the City has already given Notice that the 90-day approval period has begun for the subject development, then this document does not re-commence the 90-day approval period.



I hereby certify that the Planning Commission ADOPTED the foregoing Motion on January 18, 2018.





Jonas P. Ionin

Commission Secretary



AYES:	 



NAYS:	



ABSENT:



ADOPTED:	January 18, 2018


EXHIBIT A

AUTHORIZATION

This authorization is for a Conditional Use Authorization at 1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue, Lots 058, 059, 061, 062 in Assessor’s Block 3534 to allow the demolition of a portion of the existing 13,500 square foot building at 1965 Market Street (Lot 058), to remove the approximately 9,000 sf surface parking lot (Lots 059, 061, and 062) along Duboce Avenue, and to construct a new eight-story (approximately 85-foot tall) residential building, and add a vertical addition of residential dwelling units above and set back from the existing historic Market Street building (approximate height 75-feet/seven stories), with total of 96 dwelling units (approximately 87,560 gross square feet), 48 off-street vehicle parking spaces, 97 Class 1 bicycle parking spaces, 12 Class 2 bicycle parking spaces, with the retention of approximately 3,760 square feet of retail use at the ground floor level, pursuant to Planning Code Sections 121.1, 121.7 and 303, within the Moderate Scale Neighborhood Commercial Transit (NCT-3) and Residential Transit Oriented (RTO) Zoning Districts, and 40-X, 50-X and 85-X Height and Bulk Districts, and the Market and  Octavia Area Plan; in general conformance with plans, dated December 21, 2017, and stamped “EXHIBIT B” included in the docket for Record No. 2015-002825CUA and subject to conditions of approval reviewed and approved by the Commission on January 18, 2018 under Motion No. XXXXX. This authorization and the conditions contained herein run with the property and not with a particular Project Sponsor, business, or operator.



recordation of conditions of approval

Prior to the issuance of the building permit or commencement of use for the Project the Zoning Administrator shall approve and order the recordation of a Notice in the Official Records of the Recorder of the City and County of San Francisco for the subject property.  This Notice shall state that the project is subject to the conditions of approval contained herein and reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission January 18, 2018 under Motion No. XXXXX.



printing of conditions of approval on plans

The conditions of approval under the 'Exhibit A' of this Planning Commission Motion No. XXXXX shall be reproduced on the Index Sheet of construction plans submitted with the Site or Building permit application for the Project.  The Index Sheet of the construction plans shall reference to the Conditional Use authorization and any subsequent amendments or modifications.   



severability

The Project shall comply with all applicable City codes and requirements.  If any clause, sentence, section or any part of these conditions of approval is for any reason held to be invalid, such invalidity shall not affect or impair other remaining clauses, sentences, or sections of these conditions.  This decision conveys no right to construct, or to receive a building permit.  “Project Sponsor” shall include any subsequent responsible party.



Changes and Modifications  

Changes to the approved plans may be approved administratively by the Zoning Administrator.  Significant changes and modifications of conditions shall require Planning Commission approval of a new Conditional Use authorization. 






Conditions of Approval, Compliance, Monitoring, and Reporting

Performance

1. Validity. The authorization and right vested by virtue of this action is valid for three (3) years from the effective date of the Motion. The Department of Building Inspection shall have issued a Building Permit or Site Permit to construct the project and/or commence the approved use within this three-year period.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf-planning.org



2. Expiration and Renewal. Should a Building or Site Permit be sought after the three (3) year period has lapsed, the project sponsor must seek a renewal of this Authorization by filing an application for an amendment to the original Authorization or a new application for Authorization. Should the project sponsor decline to so file, and decline to withdraw the permit application, the Commission shall conduct a public hearing in order to consider the revocation of the Authorization. Should the Commission not revoke the Authorization following the closure of the public hearing, the Commission shall determine the extension of time for the continued validity of the Authorization.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf-planning.org



3. Diligent Pursuit. Once a site or Building Permit has been issued, construction must commence within the timeframe required by the Department of Building Inspection and be continued diligently to completion. Failure to do so shall be grounds for the Commission to consider revoking the approval if more than three (3) years have passed since this Authorization was approved.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf-planning.org



4. Extension. All time limits in the preceding three paragraphs may be extended at the discretion of the Zoning Administrator where implementation of the project is delayed by a public agency, an appeal or a legal challenge and only by the length of time for which such public agency, appeal or challenge has caused delay.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf-planning.org



5. Conformity with Current Law. No application for Building Permit, Site Permit, or other entitlement shall be approved unless it complies with all applicable provisions of City Codes in effect at the time of such approval.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf-planning.org



6. Mitigation Measures.  Mitigation measures described in the MMRP for the Market and Octavia Area Plan EIR (Case No. 2003.0347E) attached as Exhibit C are necessary to avoid potential significant effects of the proposed project and have been agreed to by the project sponsor.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf-planning.org 



Design

7. Final Materials.  The Project Sponsor shall continue to work with Planning Department on the building design.  Final materials, glazing, color, texture, landscaping, and detailing shall be subject to Department staff review and approval.  The architectural addenda shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Department prior to issuance.  

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org



8. Garbage, Composting and Recycling Storage.  Space for the collection and storage of garbage, composting, and recycling shall be provided within enclosed areas on the property and clearly labeled and illustrated on the building permit plans.  Space for the collection and storage of recyclable and compostable materials that meets the size, location, accessibility and other standards specified by the San Francisco Recycling Program shall be provided at the ground level of the buildings.  

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org



9. Rooftop Mechanical Equipment.  Pursuant to Planning Code 141, the Project Sponsor shall submit a roof plan to the Planning Department prior to Planning approval of the building permit application.  Rooftop mechanical equipment, if any is proposed as part of the Project, is required to be screened so as not to be visible from any point at or below the roof level of the subject building.  

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org 



10. Lighting Plan.  The Project Sponsor shall submit an exterior lighting plan to the Planning Department prior to Planning Department approval of the building / site permit application.  

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org 



11. Transformer Vault.  The location of individual project PG&E Transformer Vault installations has significant effects to San Francisco streetscapes when improperly located.  However, they may not have any impact if they are installed in preferred locations.  Therefore, the Planning Department recommends the following preference schedule in locating new transformer vaults, in order of most to least desirable:

a. On-site, in a basement area accessed via a garage or other access point without use of separate doors on a ground floor façade facing a public right-of-way;

b. On-site, in a driveway, underground;

c. On-site, above ground, screened from view, other than a ground floor façade facing a public right-of-way;

d. Public right-of-way, underground, under sidewalks with a minimum width of 12 feet, avoiding effects on streetscape elements, such as street trees; and based on Better Streets Plan guidelines;

e. Public right-of-way, underground; and based on Better Streets Plan guidelines;

f. Public right-of-way, above ground, screened from view; and based on Better Streets Plan guidelines;

g. On-site, in a ground floor façade (the least desirable location).



Unless otherwise specified by the Planning Department, Department of Public Work’s Bureau of Street Use and Mapping (DPW BSM) should use this preference schedule for all new transformer vault installation requests. 

For information about compliance, contact Bureau of Street Use and Mapping, Department of Public Works at 415-554-5810, http://sfdpw.org 



Parking and Traffic

12. Unbundled Parking.  All off‐street parking spaces shall be made available to Project residents only as a separate “add‐on” option for purchase or rent and shall not be bundled with any  Project dwelling unit for the life of the dwelling units.  The required parking spaces may be made available to residents within a quarter mile of the project. All affordable dwelling units pursuant to Planning Code Section 415 shall have equal access to use of the parking as the market rate units, with parking spaces priced commensurate with the affordability of the dwelling unit. Each unit within the Project shall have the first right of refusal to rent or purchase a parking space until the number of residential parking spaces are no longer available. No conditions may be placed on the purchase or rental of dwelling units, nor may homeowner’s rules be established, which prevent or preclude the separation of parking spaces from dwelling units.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415‐575‐6863, www.sf‐planning.org



13. Bicycle Parking. Pursuant to Planning Code Sections 155.2, the Project shall provide no fewer than 96 Class 1 bicycle parking spaces (one for each residential unit), 5 Class 2 bicycle parking spaces for the residential use, and one Class 1 bicycle parking space and 5 Class 2 bicycle parking spaces for the non‐residential use.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf-planning.org 



14. Managing Traffic During Construction.  The Project Sponsor and construction contractor(s) shall coordinate with the Traffic Engineering and Transit Divisions of the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA), the Police Department, the Fire Department, the Planning Department, and other construction contractor(s) for any concurrent nearby Projects to manage traffic congestion and pedestrian circulation effects during construction of the Project.  

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf-planning.org 



provisions

15. Anti-Discriminatory Housing. The Project shall adhere to the requirements of the Anti-Discriminatory Housing policy, pursuant to Administrative Code Section 1.61.

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org



16. First Source Hiring.  The Project shall adhere to the requirements of the First Source Hiring Construction and End-Use Employment Program approved by the First Source Hiring Administrator, pursuant to Section 83.4(m) of the Administrative Code.  The Project Sponsor shall comply with the requirements of this Program regarding construction work and on-going employment required for the Project.

For information about compliance, contact the First Source Hiring Manager at 415-581-2335, www.onestopSF.org



17. Transportation Sustainability Fee.  The Project is subject to the Transportation Sustainability Fee (TSF), as applicable, pursuant to Planning Code Section 411A.

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org.



18. Child Care Fee - Residential.  The Project is subject to the Residential Child Care Fee with Market and Octavia Plan area credit, as applicable, pursuant to Planning Code Section 414A.

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org.



19. Market Octavia Affordable Housing Fee. Pursuant to Planning Code Section 416, the Project Sponsor shall comply with the Market Octavia Affordable Housing requirements for that portion of the square footage within the NCT-3 Zoning District not designated for below market rate units, through payment of the Market Octavia Affordable Housing Fee in full to the Treasurer, prior to the issuance by Department of Building Inspection of the first certificate of occupancy for the development project.

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org.



20. Market Octavia Community Improvements Fund. Pursuant to Planning Code Section 421, the Project Sponsor shall comply with the Market Octavia Community Improvements Fund provisions through payment of an Impact Fee in full to the Treasurer, or the execution of a Waiver Agreement, or an In-Kind agreement approved as described per Planning Code Section 421 prior to the issuance by Department of Building Inspection of the construction document for the development project.

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org. 



Monitoring 

21. Enforcement.  Violation of any of the Planning Department conditions of approval contained in this Motion or of any other provisions of Planning Code applicable to this Project shall be subject to the enforcement procedures and administrative penalties set forth under Planning Code Section 176 or Section 176.1.  The Planning Department may also refer the violation complaints to other city departments and agencies for appropriate enforcement action under their jurisdiction.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf-planning.org 



22. Revocation Due to Violation of Conditions. Should implementation of this Project result in complaints from interested property owners, residents, or commercial lessees which are not resolved by the Project Sponsor and found to be in violation of the Planning Code and/or the specific conditions of approval for the Project as set forth in Exhibit A of this Motion, the Zoning Administrator shall refer such complaints to the Commission, after which it may hold a public hearing on the matter to consider revocation of this authorization.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf‐planning.org



Operation

23. Sidewalk Maintenance. The Project Sponsor shall maintain the main entrance to the building and all sidewalks abutting the subject property in a clean and sanitary condition in compliance with the Department of Public Works Streets and Sidewalk Maintenance Standards.  For information about compliance, contact Bureau of Street Use and Mapping, Department of Public Works, 415-695-2017,.http://sfdpw.org/ 



24. Community Liaison.  Prior to issuance of a building permit to construct the project and implement the approved use, the Project Sponsor shall appoint a community liaison officer to deal with the issues of concern to owners and occupants of nearby properties.  The Project Sponsor shall provide the Zoning Administrator with written notice of the name, business address, and telephone number of the community liaison.  Should the contact information change, the Zoning Administrator shall be made aware of such change.  The community liaison shall report to the Zoning Administrator what issues, if any, are of concern to the community and what issues have not been resolved by the Project Sponsor.  

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415-575-6863, www.sf-planning.org



25. Lighting. All Project lighting shall be directed onto the Project site and immediately surrounding sidewalk area only, and designed and managed so as not to be a nuisance to adjacent residents. Nighttime lighting shall be the minimum necessary to ensure safety, but shall in no case be directed so as to constitute a nuisance to any surrounding property.

For information about compliance, contact Code Enforcement, Planning Department at 415‐575‐6863, www.sf‐planning.org



ENTERTAINMENT COMMISSION – NOISE ATTENUATION CONDITIONS

26. Chapter 116 Residential Projects.  The Project Sponsor shall comply with the Recommended “Noise Attenuation Conditions for Chapter 116 Residential Projects,” which were recommended by the Entertainment Commission on January 29, 2016. These conditions state:



a) Community Outreach. Project Sponsor shall include in its community outreach process any businesses located within 300 feet of the proposed project that operate between the hours of 9PM‐5AM. Notice shall be made in person, written or electronic form.



b) Sound Study. Project sponsor shall conduct an acoustical sound study, which  shall include sound readings taken when performances are taking place at the proximate Places of Entertainment, as well as when patrons arrive and leave these locations at closing time. Readings should be taken at locations that most accurately capture sound from the Place of Entertainment to best of their ability. Any recommendation(s) in the sound study regarding window glaze ratings and soundproofing materials including but not limited to walls, doors, roofing, etc. shall be given highest consideration by the project sponsor when designing and building the project.



c) Design Considerations.



i. 	During design phase, project sponsor shall consider the entrance and egress location and paths of travel at the Place(s) of Entertainment in designing the location of (a) any entrance/egress for the residential building and (b) any parking garage in the building.



ii.  In designing doors, windows, and other openings for the residential building, project sponsor should consider the POE’s operations and noise during all hours of the day and night.



d) Construction Impacts. Project sponsor shall communicate with adjacent or nearby Place(s) of Entertainment as to the construction schedule, daytime and nighttime, and consider how this schedule and any storage of construction materials may impact the POE operations.



e)   Communication. Project Sponsor shall make a cell phone number available to Place(s) of Entertainment management during all phases of development through construction. In addition, a line of communication should be created to ongoing building management throughout the occupation phase and beyond. 



INCLUSIONARY HOUSING REQUIREMENTS

27. Affordable Units. The following Inclusionary Affordable Housing Requirements are those in effect at the time of Planning Commission action. In the event that the requirements change, the Project Sponsor shall comply with the requirements in place at the time of issuance of first construction document. This requirement is subject to change under pending legislation to modify Planning Code Section 415 which is currently under review by the Board of Supervisors (Board File Nos.161351 and 170208). The proposed changes to Section 415, which include but are not limited to modifications to the amount of inclusionary housing required onsite or offsite, the methodology of fee calculation, and dwelling unit mix requirements, will become effective after approval by the Board of Supervisors.

a) Number of Required Units.  Pursuant to Planning Code Section 415.3, the Project is currently required to provide 14.5% of the proposed dwelling units in the Base Project as affordable to qualifying households. The Project Sponsor has elected to satisfy the Inclusionary Affordable Housing obligation by providing on-site inclusionary units. The Project Sponsor will fulfill this requirement by providing the 14 affordable units on-site. As required for the project to receive waivers a concession/incentive under the State Density Bonus Law, 14 (14.5%) of the units shall be affordable for a term of 55 years to households earning less than 80% of area median income (AMI). Upon the expiration of the 55 year term shall thereafter be rented at the rates specified in the inclusionary affordable housing program. If the number of market-rate units change, the number of required affordable units shall be modified accordingly with written approval from Planning Department staff in consultation with the Mayor's Office of Housing and Community Development (“MOHCD”). 

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-5500, www.sf-moh.org.



b) Unit Mix.  The Base Project contains proposes one studio unit, 52 one-bedroom units and 43 two-bedroom units; therefore, the required affordable unit mix is 1 studio, 8 one-bedroom, and 6 two-bedroom units.  If the market-rate unit mix changes, the affordable unit mix will be modified accordingly with written approval from Planning Department staff in consultation with MOHCD. 

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-5500, www.sf-moh.org.



c) Unit Location.  The affordable units shall be designated on a reduced set of plans recorded as a Notice of Special Restrictions on the property prior to the issuance of the first construction permit.

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-558-6378, www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-5500, www.sf-moh.org.



d) Phasing. If any building permit is issued for partial phasing of the Project, the Project Sponsor shall have designated not less than fourteen and one-half percent (14.5%) of the each phase's total number of dwelling units as on-site affordable units.

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-5500, www.sf-moh.org.



e) Duration.  Under Planning Code Section 415.8, all units constructed pursuant to Section 415.6, must remain affordable to qualifying households for the life of the project.

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-575-8728, www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-5500, www.sf-moh.org.



f) Other Conditions.  The Project is subject to the requirements of the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program under Section 415 et seq. of the Planning Code and City and County of San Francisco Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program Monitoring and Procedures Manual ("Procedures Manual").  The Procedures Manual, as amended from time to time, is incorporated herein by reference, as published and adopted by the Planning Commission, and as required by Planning Code Section 415.  Terms used in these conditions of approval and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth in the Procedures Manual.  A copy of the Procedures Manual can be obtained at the MOHCD at 1 South Van Ness Avenue or on the Planning Department or MOHCD websites, including on the internet at: 



http://sf-planning.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=4451. 



As provided in the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program, the applicable Procedures Manual is the manual in effect at the time the subject units are made available for sale.

For information about compliance, contact the Case Planner, Planning Department at 415-558-6378, www.sf-planning.org or the Mayor’s Office of Housing and Community Development at 415-701-5500, www.sf-moh.org.



(i) The affordable unit(s) shall be designated on the building plans prior to the issuance of the first construction permit by the Department of Building Inspection (“DBI”).  The affordable unit(s) shall (1) reflect the unit size mix in number of bedrooms of the market rate units, (2) be constructed, completed, ready for occupancy and marketed no later than the market rate units, and (3) be evenly distributed throughout the building; and (4) be of comparable overall quality, construction and exterior appearance as the market rate units in the principal project.  The interior features in affordable units should be generally the same as those of the market units in the principal project, but need not be the same make, model or type of such item as long they are of good and new quality and are consistent with then-current standards for new housing.  Other specific standards for on-site units are outlined in the Procedures Manual.



(ii) If the units in the building are offered for sale, the affordable unit(s) shall be sold to first time home buyer households, with a minimum of 14.5% of the units affordable to low-income households as defined in the Planning Code and Procedures Manual. The initial sales price of such units shall be calculated according to the Procedures Manual. Limitations on (i) reselling; (ii) renting; (iii) recouping capital improvements; (iv) refinancing; and (v) procedures for inheritance apply and are set forth in the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program and the Procedures Manual.  



(iii) The Project Sponsor is responsible for following the marketing, reporting, and monitoring requirements and procedures as set forth in the Procedures Manual.  MOHCD shall be responsible for overseeing and monitoring the marketing of affordable units.  The Project Sponsor must contact MOHCD at least six months prior to the beginning of marketing for any unit in the building.



(iv) Required parking spaces shall be made available to initial buyers or renters of affordable units according to the Procedures Manual. 



(v) Prior to the issuance of the first construction permit by DBI for the Project, the Project Sponsor shall record a Notice of Special Restriction on the property that contains these conditions of approval and a reduced set of plans that identify the affordable units satisfying the requirements of this approval.  The Project Sponsor shall promptly provide a copy of the recorded Notice of Special Restriction to the Department and to MOHCD or its successor.



(vi) The Project Sponsor has demonstrated that it is eligible for the On-site Affordable Housing Alternative under Planning Code Section 415.6 instead of payment of the Affordable Housing Fee, and has submitted the Affidavit of Compliance with the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program:  Planning Code Section 415 to the Planning Department stating that the on‐site units are not subject to the Costa Hawkins Rental Housing Act, California Civil Code Section 1954.50 because, under Section 1954.52(b), the Project Sponsor seeks to develop under the State Density Bonus Law.



(vii) If the Project Sponsor fails to comply with the Inclusionary Affordable Housing Program requirement, the Director of DBI shall deny any and all site or building permits or certificates of occupancy for the development project until the Planning Department notifies the Director of compliance.  A Project Sponsor’s failure to comply with the requirements of Planning Code Section 415 et seq. shall constitute cause for the City to record a lien against the development project and to pursue any and all available remedies at law.



(viii) If the Project becomes ineligible at any time for the On-site Affordable Housing Alternative, the Project Sponsor or its successor shall pay the Affordable Housing Fee prior to issuance of the first construction permit.  If the Project becomes ineligible after issuance of its first construction permit, the Project Sponsor shall notify the Department and MOHCD and pay interest on the Affordable Housing Fee and penalties, if applicable.

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
Subject: FW: Case No. 2015-002825CUA/1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue - Revised Draft Motion with Exhibit

D and other after-packet materials
Date: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 4:35:32 PM
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
Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 1:57 PM
To: Secretary, Commissions (CPC); Ionin, Jonas (CPC); Son, Chanbory (CPC); Silva, Christine (CPC)
Cc: Grob, Carly (CPC); Conner, Kate (CPC)
Subject: Case No. 2015-002825CUA/1965 Market Street/255-291 Duboce Avenue - Revised Draft Motion
with Exhibit D and other after-packet materials
 
Dear Commission Secretary’s Office,
 
Per our discussion this morning, attached please find the following documents for email delivery to
the Commissioners this afternoon:
 

·       Revised Draft Motion for Case No. 2015-002825CUA
·       Exhibit D – Concession/Incentive Identifiable Cost Reductions from Project Sponsor
·       Revised Draft Motion for Case No. 2015-002825CUA (Word file – for Commission Secretary

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
 


 


 
 


 


4 


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
 


 


 
 


 


7 


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
 
 

mailto:Elizabeth.Gordon-Jonckheer@sfgov.org
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
Subject: FW: Letter of Support 4230 18th St. Case# 2017-008334CUA
Date: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 4:36:04 PM
Attachments: 4230 18thSt._LOS17012018.pdf

 
 
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
Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 11:44 AM
To: Rich Springer; Gannon Tidwell; Sheehy, Jeff (BOS); Ionin, Jonas (CPC); TQuayle@ccs-
architecture.com; Horn, Jeffrey (CPC)
Subject: Letter of Support 4230 18th St. Case# 2017-008334CUA
 
Hello,
Attached please find the letter of support for the Castro Hotel. If you have any questions,
please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Thank you,
Andrea
 
 Andrea Aiello   Executive Director
 Castro/Upper Market CBD
 ph: 415-500-1181
 www.castrocbd.org
 facebook.com/castrocbd
 twitter.com/visitthecastro
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From: Rahaim, John (CPC)
To: CTYPLN - CITY PLANNING EVERYONE
Subject: Sanctuary City Policies
Date: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 6:07:46 PM
Attachments: Sanctuary-City-Reminder-1-19-17.pdf

Memorandum re Limits on U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement Search ....pdf

All, attached are two memos summarizing the city’s Sanctuary City policies and obligations.  Please
do take a few minutes to read and remind yourselves of our obligations in this matter. 
If you have questions, please contact me or another senior manager.
 
John
 
John Rahaim
Planning Director
 
Andrea Green
Executive Assistant
 
john.rahaim@sfgov.org 415-558-6411
andrea.green@sfgov.org 415-558-6268
1650 Mission Street Suite 400
San Francisco CA 94103
 

mailto:john.rahaim@sfgov.org
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From: Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC)
To: CTYPLN - COMMISSION SECRETARY
Subject: FW: 590 Leland Avenue
Date: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 6:45:16 PM
Attachments: 590 Leland Gross Area Calculations 1-16-2018.pdf

Hello Commissions Secretary,

Can you please forward this to the Planning Commission? These are the updated square footages for
each respective home in the 590 Leland Avenue project.
 
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
 
 

 

From: Gary Gee [mailto:GGee@garygee.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 3:22 PM
To: Jardines, Esmeralda (CPC)
Cc: Victor Quan; urbanoez@gmail.com; David Rubinstein
Subject: RE: 590 Leland Avenue
 
Esmeralda:
Attached is a table with all the SF Planning Code definition of gross square footage area calculations
for each house.
 
Gary Gee,  AIA
 

mailto:Esmeralda.Jardines@sfgov.org
mailto:CPC.COMMISSIONSECRETARY@sfgov.org
http://www.sfplanning.org/
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Architecture/Planning/Interiors 


98 Brady Street, #8   San Francisco, CA  94103-1239 


Tel: 415/863-8881       Fax: 415/863-8879        
 
 
 
590 Leland Avenue Project                                                                                 January 16, 2018 
Gross Area Calculations (SF Planning Code Definition) 
 
 


1.  579 Raymond Avenue: 
         
        First Floor:   
        Garage:               580 Square feet 
        Residential:         768 Square feet 
 
        Second Floor: 
        Residential:      1,216 Square feet 
        Deck:                     54 Square feet 
 
        Third Floor: 
        Residential:         742 Square feet 
        Deck:                     84 Square feet 
 
Total Area: 
         Garage:                580 Square feet 
         Residential:      2,726 Square feet 
         Deck:                   138 Square feet 


    
2.  583 and 589 Raymond Avenue: 


 
         First Floor: 
         Garage:                 579 Square feet 
         Residential:          769 Square feet 
 
         Second Floor: 
         Residential:        1,259 Square feet 
         Deck:                      54 Square feet 
 
         Third Floor: 
         Residential:           989 Square feet 
 
Total Area: 
         Garage:                 579 Square feet 
         Residential:        3,017 Square feet 
         Deck:                      54 Square feet 
 
 







3.  586 Leland Avenue: 
 
        First Floor: 
        Garage:                   555 Square feet 
        Residential:            196 Square feet 
 
        Second Floor: 
        Residential:           1,481 Square feet 
 
        Third Floor: 
        Residential:           1,266 Square feet 
 
Total Area: 
        Garage:                   555 Square feet 
        Residential:          2,943 Square feet 
 


4. 596 Leland Avenue: 
 
       First Floor: 
       Garage:                     836 Square feet 
       Residential:              170 Square feet 
 
       Second Floor: 
       Residential:            1,759 Square feet 
 
       Third Floor: 
       Residential:            1,577 Square feet 
       Deck:                         112 Square feet 
 
Total Area: 
        Garage:                     836 Square feet 
        Residential:            3,506 Square feet 
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
Subject: FW: Sanctuary City Policies
Date: Thursday, January 18, 2018 9:17:43 AM
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
Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 6:07 PM
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
Date: Thursday, January 18, 2018 9:18:12 AM
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
Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 6:45 PM
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
Subject: FW: Please reject the "Monster in the Mission"
Date: Thursday, January 18, 2018 9:19:13 AM

 
 
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
 
From: Juliana Morris [mailto:juliana.e.morris@gmail.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 7:24 PM
To: richhillissf@yahoo.com; Richards, Dennis (CPC); planning@rodneyfong.com; Johnson, Christine
(CPC); Koppel, Joel (CPC); Melgar, Myrna (CPC); Moore, Kathrin (CPC); Secretary, Commissions (CPC)
Cc: Ronen, Hillary; Allbee, Nate; Rahaim, John (CPC); Sucre, Richard (CPC); Dwyer, Debra (CPC);
andy@plaza16.org
Subject: Please reject the "Monster in the Mission"
 

San Francisco Planning Commission
1650 Mission Street, Suite 400
San Francisco, CA 94103

RE: Case No. 2013.1543, 1979 Mission Street Mixed-Use Project

Dear President Hillis and Planning Commissioners,

I am writing to express my strong opposition to the project proposed for 1979 Mission
Street by Maximus Real Estate Partners, known widely as the “Monster in the
Mission.” As you know, the Mission District is facing a dire crisis of community and
cultural displacement. To address this crisis, we must prioritize deeply affordable
housing at this site, not a project of mostly luxury-priced housing that will further
accelerate gentrification and the displacement of the existing residents, SRO hotels,
mom and pop businesses, nonprofit organizations, arts and cultural spaces, PDR
spaces etc. 

I am a doctor at a local hospital and every day I see first-hand how displacement and
gentrification is affecting my patients. The stress of facing eviction and of losing key
community spaces is accelerating their chronic conditions such as heart disease,
diabetes, hypertension, and mental illness.

I urge you to recognize the urgent crisis facing the neighborhood, acknowledge the
impact of the current massive and unsustainable imbalance of market-rate vs.

mailto:commissions.secretary@sfgov.org
mailto:Chanbory.Son@sfgov.org
mailto:jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
http://www.sfplanning.org/


affordable development in the neighborhood, and reject this project outright.

Sincerely,

Juliana Morris, MD



From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: 701 Hampshire Street—Notice of Building Permit Application No. 2017.0124.7741
Date: Thursday, January 18, 2018 9:19:33 AM

 
 
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
 
From: Jennifer Fieber [mailto:jennifer@sftu.org] 
Sent: Thursday, December 28, 2017 2:04 PM
To: Eddie Stiel
Cc: Samonsky, Ella (CPC); Rahaim, John (CPC); Secretary, Commissions (CPC); Rodney Fong; Rich Hillis;
Johnson, Christine (CPC); Moore, Kathrin (CPC); Richards, Dennis (CPC); Melgar, Myrna (CPC); Koppel,
Joel (CPC); Cohen, Malia (BOS); Laura Wenus; Inc Mission Local; Laura Waxmann;
timredmondsf@gmail.com; Randy Shaw; Joseph Smooke; Tommi Avicolli Mecca
Subject: Re: 701 Hampshire Street—Notice of Building Permit Application No. 2017.0124.7741
 
Dear Commissioners and Planning Staff—
 
I want to echo the sentiments here and thank Stiel for bringing this building to our attention. I
have spoken to two groups of tenants inside and they are terrified of losing their homes over
this construction work as the owner has a pattern of pressuring them to leave..  The tenants in
unit 201 are monolingual latino seniors who have lived there for 30 years. Cause Justa is
working with them to protect their homes.
 
The owner is also engaged in illegal short term rentals and the owner, a real estate agent, is
sending mail to pose as a primary resident although he does not live there.
 
I will be filing a Discretionary Review on this project, my fourth, and am confident I will
succeed. But we really need a directive from the top to ensure that potential harm caused to
tenants during the planning permitting process is reviewed, as this is not a good use of my
work time. Contacting the rent board for past evictions is not enough. It is not the best of my
time to keep filing DRs when this could easily be avoided by planning staff directives.
 
I hope that you will set up a meeting with tenant groups (CJJC, Housing Rights and Us) soon
to discuss the matter. We have yet to hear from you directly Mr Rahaim although
“Renovictions” have come up over and over at Commission hearings—so I know you are
aware of the problem.
 
Thank you,
 
Jennifer Fieber 
Political Campaign Director
SF Tenants Union

mailto:commissions.secretary@sfgov.org
mailto:Chanbory.Son@sfgov.org
mailto:jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
http://www.sfplanning.org/


 
 

On Dec 28, 2017, at 1:36 PM, Eddie Stiel <eddiestiel@yahoo.com> wrote:
 

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
 

mailto:eddiestiel@yahoo.com


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

 
<samonsky122817.docx><vu022916.docx>
 



From: Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
To: Son, Chanbory (CPC)
Subject: FW: 701 Hampshire Street—Notice of Building Permit Application No. 2017.0124.7741
Date: Thursday, January 18, 2018 9:19:43 AM

 
 
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
 
From: Samonsky, Ella (CPC) 
Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2018 5:58 PM
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
Subject: RE: 701 Hampshire Street—Notice of Building Permit Application No. 2017.0124.7741
 
Hi Eddie,
 
I will look into your question regarding how and whom determines if temporary evictions are
required. My understanding is that whether or not temporary evictions are required depends on the
scope of work (which varies by project, and may include more than the seismic retrofit).
 
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
Subject: FW: 479 28th Street (2016-012872CUA) - Item 4 in CONSIDERATION OF ITEMS PROPOSED FOR CONTINUANCE

section of Agenda for 1/18/2018
Date: Thursday, January 18, 2018 10:12:45 AM
Attachments: Email - Nancy Tran 01.pdf

Email - Nancy Tran 02.pdf
Email-Ana Marie Zabala 01.pdf

 
 
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
 
From: Tushar Patel [mailto:tusharpatel@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Thursday, January 18, 2018 10:05 AM
To: mooreurban@speakeasy.net; Melgar, Myrna (CPC); Business.development@eisb.org;
rodney@waxmuseum.com; Richards, Dennis (CPC); rich@fortmason.org
Cc: Priti Tripathi; DPH - bgladstone; Tran, Nancy (CPC); Ionin, Jonas (CPC)
Subject: 479 28th Street (2016-012872CUA) - Item 4 in CONSIDERATION OF ITEMS PROPOSED FOR
CONTINUANCE section of Agenda for 1/18/2018
 
479 28th Street
San Francisco CA 94131
Jan 18, 2017
 
 
RE: 479 28th Street (2016-012872CUA) - Item 4 in CONSIDERATION OF ITEMS
PROPOSED FOR CONTINUANCE section of Agenda for 1/18/2018
 
 
Dear Commissioners:
 
I am writing to you because we are seeking a continuance to our hearing for our project at 479
28th Street. The continuance was requested by us via email to Nancy Tran on Jan 5 – see
attachment.
 
I want to bring the following to your attention

1.       We requested the continuance by email to Nancy Tran at Planning on Jan 5 (see
attachment Email – Nancy Tran 01.pdf)

2.       Nancy Tran provided confirmation of the 3/1 hearing date (see attachment – Email –
Nancy Tran 01.pdf)

3.       We posted a sign next to the sign announcing the hearing indicating that we have
requested a continuance.  (see attached photo – Photo of Sign.jpg)

mailto:jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
mailto:Chanbory.Son@sfgov.org
mailto:jonas.ionin@sfgov.org
http://www.sfplanning.org/



1/17/2018 Gmail - RE: 479 28th Street Continuance 


 
1 message 


 


Tran, Nancy (CPC) <Nancy.H.Tran@sfgov.org> Fri, Jan 5, 2018 at 2:35 PM 
To: Priti Tripathi <priti@pjtarch.com> 
Cc: Patel Tushar <tusharpatel@yahoo.com>, DPH - bgladstone <bgladstone@hansonbridgett.com> 


The 3/1 hearing date is confirmed. 


  


 


From: Tran, Nancy (CPC)  
Sent: Friday, January 05, 2018 12:01 PM 
To: 'Priti Tripathi' 
Cc: Patel Tushar; DPH - bgladstone; CTYPLN - COMMISSION SECRETARY; Washington, Delvin (CPC) 


Subject: RE: 479 28th Street Continuance 


  


I will let you know once the Commission Secretary confirms the date. 


  


 


From: Priti Tripathi [mailto:priti@pjtarch.com]  
Sent: Friday, January 05, 2018 12:00 PM 
To: Tran, Nancy (CPC) 
Cc: Patel Tushar; DPH - bgladstone; CTYPLN - COMMISSION SECRETARY; Washington, Delvin (CPC) 


Subject: RE: 479 28th Street Continuance 


  


Thank you Nancy. 


  


We will take March 1.  Can you please make sure ours is one of the later items on the agenda? 


  


Cheers, 


  


Priti Tripathi  
415-609-1097 


  


Tushar Patel <pateltm@gmail.com> 


RE: 479 28th Street Continuance   








 
1 message 


 


 Tran, Nancy (CPC) <Nancy.H.Tran@sfgov.org> Mon, Jan 8, 2018 at 4:59 PM 
To: Priti Tripathi <priti@pjtarch.com> 
Cc: Patel Tushar <tusharpatel@yahoo.com> 


See my responses below: 


  


 


From: Priti Tripathi [mailto:priti@pjtarch.com]  
Sent: Monday, January 08, 2018 4:55 PM 
To: Tran, Nancy (CPC) 
Cc: Patel Tushar 
Subject: RE: Sign 


  


Hi Nancy, 


  


I need a clarification below.   


  


Do we need to come to the planning commission on Jan. 18th? No since I’ve already notified the Commission 


Secretary. However, I recommend that you watch the hearing online at http://sfgovtv.org/ in case they ask questions – 


you may come to the hearing later to respond. 


Do we need to be ready to present on the 18th? See above. 


Is our hearing confirmed on March 1 or will it be decided on Jan. 18th? I don’t see an issue for it being continued to 


March 1 per the Commission Secretary but the Commission make its vote to confirm on the 18th. 


  


  


Thank you, 


  


Priti Tripathi  
415-609-1097 


  


 


1/17/2018 Gmail-RE:Sign 


Tushar Patel <pateltm@gmail.com> 


RE: Sign   








1/17/2018 Gmail ­ Re: FW: 479 28th St 


https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=b14b09a05e&jsver=dSZRinUJdWo.en.&view=pt&search=inbox&th=16106355fa819ccd&siml=16106355fa819ccd


 1/1 


 


Re: FW: 479 28th St  
1 message 


 


ANA MARIE ZABALA <am_anderson_94131@yahoo.com> Wed, Jan 17, 2018 at 2:20 PM 


Reply­To: ANA MARIE ZABALA <am_anderson_94131@yahoo.com> 


To: "Nancy (CPC)Tran" <Nancy.H.Tran@sfgov.org> 


Cc: tusharpatel@yahoo.com 


Dear Nancy, I just received an e­mail from Tushar Patel asking us to contact you to advise you that we are agreeable 


to postponing the Hearing for their project from Thurs, 1/18/18 to Thurs, 3/1/18.  We met with Priti & Tushar ,at their 


request, on Sunday 1/14/18.  Apparently the finalized plans are not ready yet nor are the renderings of the relationships 


of  their proposal to the abutting west, east, and south neighbors.  We advised them of our and the neighbors on 28th 


St./ Castro St. concerns that  NOPDR's #1 & 2 issued by Planning Dept. have not been complied with yet and that the 


current proposal is too high and bulky in size in relation to the abutting & adjacent neighbors.  We also stated that their 


proposal is not community compatible & not in compliance with the Residential Design Guidelines.   We let them know 


at the 1/14/18 meeting that we would like to receive Final Complete Plans for their  Proposal at least 20 days prior to 


the proposed 3/1/18  Hearing.   Please let us know if you have any questions. Thank You.  Ana Marie & Cliff Anderson, 


(415) 821­4800. 


­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­­ 


On Fri, 1/5/18, Tran, Nancy (CPC) <Nancy.H.Tran@sfgov.org> wrote:  


 Subject: FW: 479 28th St  


 To: "ANA MARIE ZABALA" <am_anderson_94131@yahoo.com>  


Date: Friday, January 5, 2018, 2:37 PM  


 Ms. Anderson, 


 The Project Sponsor contacted me today  


 and requested a continuance to March 1st. There is no need  


to attend the January 18th Commission hearing for the item. 


  


Tushar Patel <pateltm@gmail.com> 







4.       We have met the neighbor most concerned with our project – Ana Marie Zabala on
1/14/2018.

5.       Ana Marie Zabala has sent an email to Nancy Tran on 1/17/2018 letting her know that
they are ok with continuing the hearing until March 1. (see attachment – Email – Ana Marie
Zabala.pdf)

6.       We have also let our downhill neighbor (who has sent in a letter supporting our project) of
the requested continuance.

7.       We also asked the uphill neighbor (Ana Marie Zabala) to inform the neighborhood groups
she is working with of the requested continuance date.

8.       We have not yet updated our drawings to take into account comments from the latest
NOPDRs. Based on Nancy Tran’s email – “I don’t see an issue for it being continued to
March 1 per the Commission Secretary but the Commission make its vote to confirm on the
18th” (see attached – Email – Nancy Tran 02.pdf) we were under the impression we would
have more time to do this.

Finally, there was an unexpected event earlier this week which required Priti Tripathi (Priti is
my wife and co-owner on this project and is also the architect on this project) to go to a
funeral in Knoxville, TN. She went, in part, based on Nancy’s email about her not needing to
be at the hearing.
 
Based on these, we request you grant a continuance to March 1.
 
Sincerely
Tushar Patel
tusharpatel@yahoo.com
415.298.3586
 
 

mailto:tusharpatel@yahoo.com
tel:(415)%20298-3586

